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TO OUR SHAREOWNERS

It's hard to believe I've been ™ ith Hone ™ ell for ten ‘ ears...it's been fun and it's been
fast. What a difference from™ here™ e™ ere ten ears ago. At the time, - e~ ere beset - ith
numerous legac issues, Free .Cash Flo~ conversion had averaged under 70% in the
previous decade, the three legac companies (Hone ™ ell, AlliedSignal and Pitt- & ) that had
been put together had not been integrated and™ ere arguing rather than pulling together, and
there had been little investment for the future...in products, processes, people, or
geographies. What -~ e did have ™~ ere a relativef good suite of businesses and a strong
"~ orkforce clamoring for direction.

We introduced the concepts of Great Positions in Good Industries, One Hone - ell, and
our Five Initiatives (Grov‘ th, Productivit , Cash, People, and The Enablers). We ‘developed
good, sound strategies and stuck "~ ith them recogni ing consistent e ecution, da -b -da ,
quarter-b’ -quarter .gets ‘ou to amg ing places in a fé- ‘ears. We stressed the
fundamentals...truf focusing on the customer, strong financial discipline, understanding in
detail our competitive position, becoming global, focusing on businesses ™~ here*= e could
make a difference, developing a disciplined acquisition/divestiture process, simplif ing and
mechani ing processes, giving truf  candid appraisals and re~ arding accordingf , having real
and robust succession plans...all those things that .are just assumed in man’ companies but
that deserve a lot more-attention than the actuall get. As™~ e sa about ever thing, The
trick is in the doingy Ever bod talks about this stuff; it’s a question of actualf being able to
do it that differentiates companies.

~.We also often sa that if there are no numbers to support the stor , then there is no
stor . In other™ ords, talking about ho- its better is not the same as sho- ing its better in the
numbers. B that standard - e sho~ quite - ell. Even - ith {- o recessions during that time,
sales are up 72% (6% annualf ). And™ e substantiall improved our global position™ ith sales
outside the U.S. gro- ing from 41% to 54% of total sales.

$36.5B
+72% 54%
+13 pts

41%

$21.3B

2002 2011 2002 2011
Sales™ Sales Outside US



Proforma EPS (e cluding mark to market pension adjustment) and Free Cash Flo~ prior
to pension contributions are both up appro_imatet 100% (8% annualt ). Additionalf , for the

past decade; .proforma Free Cash Flo- conversion e ceeded 135% reflecting superb
earnings qualit .

$3.7B
$4.05 +100%
+101%
1.8B
$2.01* $1.8
2002 2011 2002 2011
Proforma EPS® Free Cash Flow Prior To

Pension Contributions®
*Excludes one-time/unusual charges

‘ Most importantt , as a result of that favorable performance, our shared- ners have been
re~ arded ™ ith stock price gro™ th of 84%, ™~ hich is 58 percentage points better than the S&P
500 gro- th. We also gre~ the dividend 25% faster than the S&P 500.

Stock Price Dividend Growth
HON +84% HON +98%
S&P +78%
S&P +26%
2/19/02 2117112 2002 2011

The * ear 2011 burnished our reputation ™ ith sales up 13% even in a slo~ GDP gro- th
environment, proforma EPS up 35%, and free cash flo~ prior to pension contributions of $3.7
billion™ ith a 115% free cash flo~ conversion rate. Reflecting our-confidence in the future,™ e
increased the dividend 12% after 9 months rather than after a * ear. Additionall , our stock
price "~ ith 2% gro- th slightt outperformed a flat S&P 500.

$36.5B
$32.4B +13%

2010 2011 2010 2011
Sales Proforma EPS®



As ou can probabf tell,” e are.quite proud of ~ hat*- e've been able to accomplish. We
have come a long™ & from those da s of a tarnished reputation. While it hasn’t been eas , it
sure has been a fun and fulfilling ride.

As much fun-and as fulfilling as the last ten ‘ ears have been, the ne t ten™ ill be even
better. The best is‘ et to come. We have so much more to™ ork ™~ ith nd~ than™ e did then.
Better businesses, a terrific performance track record, a great leadership team - ith a deep
and talented bench, ke’ process initiatives in Hone ™~ ell Operating S’ stem (HOS), Velocit
Product Development™ (VPD™), Functional Transformation (FT), and ERP deplo’ ment that
are just no~ getting to critical mass, a truf global focus to our businesses, books that are in
great shape, strong cash generation, and a ver full pipeline of superb ne~ products,
services, and technologies. There is a lot to feel good about for our future.

In 2010 at our Investor Conference, ™~ e felt confident enough even in those uncertain
times, to la out a five  ear sales gro- th and margin plan. Man' considered it ambitious or
aspirational. We vie~ ed it like™ e do all our goals, as in if"~ e sa it," e’ll do i« After the first
t- 0 ears, it's great to be able to sa "~ e are right on track and - e e pect 2012 to be the
same.

in®
(8) Sales Segment Margin

$41.0 - 45.0
$37.8 - 38.9 16.0 - 18.0%

$3s= 14.7% 15-0-15.3% [

32.4 )
$30.0 $ 13.3% 13.9%

T T T T
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

There is no grand ne~ strateg or chasm to leap to make this happen. Rather it's more
of the same... the trick is in the doingw For e ample, ever compan’ kno- s that customer
service is important, that - ou should have robust succession plans, that ne~ products
success requires multi-functional e ecution and strong voice-of-the-customer (VOC). M
guess ~ould be that most Human Resource manuals and ne- product introduction
guidebooks look prett much the same bet- een companies because of it. Ho- ever, there
is a huge difference bet- een compliance - ith™ ords and compliance - ith intent. While*~ e’re
not perfect, ~ e have done a good job of driving our culture to compf * ith intent. There’s a
difference for e ample in doing ten VOC intervie~ s to get a checkmark onthe scorecard and
doing ten VOC intervié- s and adjusting * our ne~ product plans because ‘ ou truf learned
something in the process.

Becoming the Chinese Competitor™ ill be another good e ample for us™ here the trick is
in the doing It's an eas mantra to s@ "~ e must be local. As ‘ ou might e pect, ~ e agree
"~ ith that concept. We've taken it to a different level = here each business self-appraises their
local commitment on several dimensions...design 0~ nership, sourcing, manufacturing,
staffing, general management, local decision authorit , etc...and develops. a plan to get from
“ here the are to - here the need to be. Importantt , in our second ‘ ear of it, several
businesses in their reappraisal set themselves back further than the' ™~ ere in their first look
because the had learned more. As * ou might imagine, in most organi ations * ou take * our
hit in the first look and then sho~ improvement from that point for~ ard regardless of the facts.

Yy

That's the difference bet- een compliance ™~ ith ™ ords and compliance - ith intent.



In the last ten ‘ ears, ~ e've grov‘ n our China sales from $400 million to over $2 billion
and China emplo’ ment from 1,000 to about 12,000. Comp¥ ing ™~ ith the intent of Becoming
the Chinese Competitor - ill further a great gro- th record and create even more competitive
"~ orld positioning for us. Our drive for E4E (East for East)™~ here™~ e develop locall for local
markets and E2W (East to.West) ~ here ~ e create innovative products (for e ample mid
market) in the East for deplo’ ment in Western markets are considerabl strengthened bi our

focus on Becoming the Chinese Competitor.

The ten’ ears have been fun even in" hat™ ere perilous times along the™ & . Our future
" ill be even better because of the ground- ork of the last ten ‘ ears. Big thanks go to our
superb leadership team and mobili ed - orkforce around the *-orld. It realf makes a
difference.

Of course, none of this happens - ithout a business savv Board. Our Board is both
independent and supportive. The understand business, the comple it of global orgagi a-
tions, and the importance of making decisions - ith appropriate speed and judgment. Believe
me, that helps...a lot. We added Judd Gregg, former Senator and Governor of Ne-
Hampshire, -this “ ear. | - orked -ith Judd on the National Commission on Fiscal
Responsibilit and Reform and ™~ e ~‘ere impressed "~ ith his kno- ledge, pragmatism and
insight. He is a great add to our alread terrific Board.

While the last ten * ears have been great, the best is * et to come.

Thanks,

St 207

Davip M. Cote
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Notes to Shareo- ners Letter:

1) 2002 sales e clude Consumer Product Group sales of $1,005 million.
2) Reconciliation of EPS, as reported to EPS Proforma.

20022 20100  2011©
Net Income (Loss), as reported ...........c.coviiiiiiiiiinann. $(0.31) $2.59 $2.61
Pension Accounting Change Impact, netofta ................ (1.95)
Net Income (LosSS), as revised ..., (2.26) 2.59 2.61
E cludes one time/unusual charges
Mark-to-Market Pension Adjustment, net ofta .............. 1.87 0.41 1.44
Asbestos Related Litigation Charges, netofta .............. 1.23
Business Impairment Charges, netofta_ .................... 0.69
Repositioning Charges, netofta. ............... ... ... ... 0.48
EPS Proforma. ... ... $2.01 $3.00 $4.05

(a) EPS uti es ™ eighted average shares outstanding and the effective ta rate for the period.

Mark-to-Market uses a ta. rate of 38.0%.

(b) EPS uti]i es ™ eighted average shares outstanding and the effective ta. rate for the period.

Mark-to-Market uses a ta. rate of 32.3%.

(c) EPS utjji es ™~ eighted average shares outstanding and the effective ta_ rate for the period.

Mark-to-Market uses a ta_ rate of 36.9%.

3) We define free cash flo- as cash provided b operating activities, less cash e. pendi-
tures for propert , plant and equipment. Free cash flo- conversion is defined as free

cash flo- over net income attributable to Hone ™ ell.

($M) - 2002 2011
Cash Provided b’ Operating Activities .......................... $2,380 $2,833
E_ penditures for Propert , Plant and Equipment................. (671) (798)
Free Cash FlO= ........coiiiiit i $1,709 $2,035
US Pension Cash Contributions .............. ..., 130 1,650
Free Cash Flo-, prior to U.S. Pension

Cash Contributions. . . ... oo $1,839 $ 3,685
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Hone™ell .................... $(1,856) $ 2,067
Mark-to-Market Pension Adjustment, netofta .................. 1,536 1,137
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Hone ™ ell

E cluding Mark-to-Market Pension Adjustment ................ $ (320) $ 3,204
Cash Provided b’ Operating Activities .......................... $2,380 $2,833
+ Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Hone™ell .................. (1,856) 2,067
Operating Cash FIG= Conversion % .............ccoeeeeneeen... N/A 137%
Free Cash Flo-, prior to U.S. Pension

Cash Contributions. . .. ...t e $1,839 $ 3,685

+ Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Hone ™ ell

E cluding Mark-to-Market Pension Adjustment ................ (320) 3,204
Free Cash FIo= Conversion %M. .. ... .o, N/A 115%

(1) Reflects Free Cash Flo~ prior to U.S. pension cash contributions and net income e cluding the

impact of mark-to-market pension adjustment.



4) Reconciliation of Segment Profit to Operating Income and Calculation of Segment Profit
and Operating Income Margin.

($B) 2009 2010 2011 2012E
Segment Profit ........... ...l $4.0 $4.5 $5.4 $57-59
Stock Based Compensation (V. ............ (0.1) (0.2) (0.2) ;: (0.2)
Repositioning and Other -2 .. ... .. .. ... (0.5) (0.6) (0.8) ;. (0.4)
Pension E_pense-ongoing " .............. (0.3) (0.2) (0.1) ; (0.1)
Pension E_pense-mark to market " ... ... (0.7) (0.5) (1.8) TBD
OPEB Income/(E_pense) ) ............... 0.0 (0.0) 0.1 ; (0.1)
Operating Income............. ... ..., $2.4 $3.0 $2.6 $4.9-5.1
Segment Profit .......... ... ...l $4.0 $4.5 $5.4 $57-59
+8ales ... 30.0 32.4 36.5 37.8 - 38.9
Segment Profit Margin % ................. 138.3% 13.9% 14.7% 15.0 - 15.3%
Operating Income. ...............ocoiuen. $2.4 $3.0 $2.6 $49-51
+8ales ... 30.0 32.4 36.5 37.8 - 38.9
Operating Income Margin %............... 7.9% 9.3% 7.0% 13.0 - 13.3%

(1) Included in cost of products and services sold and selling, general and administrative e penses.
(2) Includes repositioning, asbestos, environmental e penses and equit income.
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PART I.

Item 1. Business

Hone ™ ell International Inc. (Hone ™ ell) is a diversified technolog and manufacturing compan'.,
serving customers "~ orld~ ide "~ ith aerospace products and services, control, sensing and securit
technologies for buildings, homes and industr , turbochargers, automotive products, specialt
chemicals, electronic and advanced materials, process technolog for refining and petrochemicals,
and energ efficient products and solutions for homes, business and transportation. Hone' ™~ ell - as
incorporated in Dela~ are in 1985.

We.maintain an internet ™~ ebsite at http:/-"="- .hone ™~ ell.com. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quartert Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and an’ amendments to those reports,
are available free of charge on our™ ebsite under the heading Investor Relationgv(see SEC Filings &
Reportey) immediatel after the are filed ™~ ith, or furnished.to, the Securities and E. change
Commission (SEC). In addition;, .in this Form 10-K, the Compan’ incorporates by reference certain
information from parts of its pro_‘ statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, ™= hich™ e
e pect to file™ ith the SEC on or about March 8, 2012, and ™ hich™ ill also be available free of charge
on our - ebsite.

Information relating to corporate governance at Hone - ell, including Hone ™ el’s Code of
Business Conduct, Corporate Governance Guidelines and Charters of the Committees of the Board of
Directors are also available, free of charge, on our™~ ebsite under the heading Investor Relatione(see
Corporate Governance™), or b ™ riting to Hone ™ ell, 101 Columbia Road, Morris To~ nship, Ne~
Jerse 07962, c/o.Vice President and Corporate Secretar . Hone - ell's Code of Business Conduct
applies to all Hone ™ ell directors, officers (including the Chief E_ ecutive Officer, Chief Financial Officer
and Controller) and emplo’ ees.

Major Businesses

We globalf manage our business operations through four businesses that are reported as
operating segments: . Aerospace, Automation and Control Solutions, Performance Materials and
Technologies (formerf Specialt Materials), and Transportation S' stems. Financial information related
to our operating segments is included in Note 23 of Notes to Financial Statements in Iltem 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementar Data’y

The major products/services, customers/uses and ke competitors of each of our operating
segments follo~ s:

Aerospace

Our Aerospace segment is a leading global provider of integrated avionics, engines, s stems and
service solutions for aircraft manufacturers, airlines, business and general aviation, militar , space and
airport operations.

Product/Service Classes Major Products/Services Major Customers/Uses Key Competitors
Turbine propulsion engines TFE731 turbofan Business, regional, and Rolls Ro ce/Allison
TFE1042 turbofan general aviation Turbomeca
ATF3 turbofan Commercial helicopters United Technologies
F125 turbofan Militar  vehicles Williams
F124 turbofan Militar helicopters
ALF502 turbofan Militar  trainer

LF507 turbofan
CFE738 turbofan
HTF 7000 turbofan
T53 turboshaft
T55 turboshaft
CTS800 turboshaft
HTS900 turboshaft
LT101 turboshaft
TPE 331 turboprop
AGT1500 turboshaft
Repair, overhaul and spare
parts




Product/Service Classes

Major Products/Services

Au iliar po- er units
(APU’S)

Airborne au iliar po- er
units

Jet fuel starters

Secondar po-er s stems

Ground po- er units

Repair, overhaul and spare
parts .

Major Customers/Uses

Commercial, regional, -
business and militar
aircraft

Ground pa- er

Key Competitors

United Technologies

Environmental control
s stems

Air management s stems:
Air conditioning
Bleed air
Cabin pressure control
Air purification and

treatment

Gas Processing

Heat E. changers

Repair, overhaul and spare
parts

Commercial, regional and
general aviation aircraft

Militar  aircraft

Ground vehicles

Spacecraft

Au ilec

Barber Colman
Dukes
Eaton-Vickers
General Electric
Goodrich
Liebherr

Pacific Scientific
Parker Hannifin
TAT

United Technologies

Electric po- er s stems

Generators

Pag- er distribution & control

Po~ er conditioning

Repair, overhaul and spare
parts

Commercial, regional,
business and militar
aircraft -

Commercial and militar
helicopters

Militar  vehicles

General Electric
Goodrich

Safran

United Technologies

Engine s stems
accessories

Electronic and
h dromechanical
fuel controls
Engine start s* stems
Electronic engine controls
Sensors
Valves
Elecsric and pneumatic
‘PO~ er generation
s stems
Thrust reverser actuation,
pneumatic. and electric

Commercial, regional and
general aviation aircraft
Militar aircraft

BAE Controls
Goodrich

Parker Hannifin
United Technologies

Avionics s stems

Flight safet s stems:
Enhanced-Ground
Pro_imit Warning
S stems (EGPWS)
Traffic Alert and
Collision Avoidance
S stems (TCAS)
Windshear detection
s stems
Flight data and cockpit
voice recorders
Weather radar
Communication, navigation
and surveillance s stems:
Navigation and guidance
s stems -
Global positioning s* stems
Satellite s’ stems
Integrated avionics s stems
Flight management s stems
Cockpit displa® s stems
Data management and
aircraft performance
monitoring s* stems
Aircraft information s stems
Net~ ork file servers
Wireless net~ ork
transceivers
Weather information net~ ork
Navigation database
information ’
Cabin management s stems
Vibration detection and
monitoring
Mission management
s stems
Tactical data management
s stems
Maintenance and health
monitoring s' stems

Commercial, business and

general aviation aircraft
Govéernment aviation
Militar aircraft

BAE
Boeing/Jeppesen
Garmin

General Electric
Goodrich

Kaiser

L3

Lockheed Martin
Northrop Grumman
Rock- ell Collins
Thales
Trimble/Terra
Universal Avionics
Universal Weather




Product/Service Classes

Major Products/Services

Aircraft lighting

Interior and e_terior aircraft
lighting

Major Customers/Uses

Commercial, regional,
business, helicopter and
militar aviation aircraft
(operators, OEMs, parts
distributors and MRO
service providers)

Key Competitors

Hella/Goodrich
LSI

Luminator
Whelen

Inertial sensor

Inertial sensor s stems for
guidance, stabi|i ation,
‘navigation and control

G roscopes, accelerometers,
inertial measurement units
and thermal s~ itches

Attitude and heading
reference s stems

Militar and commercial
vehicles

Commercial spacecraft and
launch vehicles

Transportation

Po- ered, guided munitions

Munitions

Astronautics Kearfott
BAE

GEC

General Electric
Goodrich

L3 Com

KVH

Northrop Grumman
RockK- ell

Control products

Radar altimeters

Pressure products
Air data products
Thermal s~ itches

Militar aircraft

Po- ered, guided munitions,
UAVs

Commercial applications

BAE

Goodrich

Northrop Grumman
Rock- ell Collins

Magnetic sensors Commercial, regional, Rosemount
. business aircraft
Spaceé -products and Guidance subs' stems Commercial and militar BAE
subs stems Control subs stems spacecraft Ithaco
Processing subs' stems DoD L3
Radiation hardened FAA Northrop Grumman
electronics and NASA Ra theon

integrated circuits
GPS-based range safet
'S stems
G’ roscopes

Management and technical
services

Maintenance/operation and
‘provision of space
s’ stems, services and

facilities

S stems engineering and
integration e

Information technolog
services

Logistics and sustainment

U.S. government space
(NASA)

DoD (logistics and
information services)

FAA

DoE

Local governments

Commercial space ground
segment s stems and
services

Bechtel

Boeing

Computer Sciences

D' ncorp

E elis

Lockheed Martin

Ra& theon

SAIC

The Washington Group
United Space Alliance

Landing s stems

Wheels and brakes
Wheel and brake repair and
overhaul services

Commercial airline, regional,
business and militar
aircraft

USAF, DoD, DoE Boeing,
Airbus, Lockheed Martin

Goodrich
Meggitt
Messier-Bugatti

Automation and Control Solutions

Our Automation and Control Solutions segment is a leading global provider of environmental and
combustion controls, sensing controls, securit and life safet products and services, scanning and
mobilit devices and process automation and building solutions and services for homes, buildings and
industrial facilities.

Product/Service Classes Major Products/Services Major Customers/Uses Key Competitors

Environmental and Heating, ventilating and Original equipment Bosch
combustion controls; air conditioning controls manufacturers (OEMs) Cherr
sensing controls and components for Distributors Danfoss

homes and buildings Contractors Eaton
Indoor air qualit products Retailers Emerson

including, oning, air
cleaners, humidification, -
heat and energ recover

S’ stem integrators Endress & Hauser
Commerglal customers and Freescale Semiconductor
homeo- ners served b GE

ventilators the distributor, ™= holesaler, Holmes
Controls plus -integrated contractor, retail and utilit Invens’ s

electronic s’ stems for channels Johnson Controls

burners, boilers and Package and materials Omron

furnaces handling operations Schneider
Consumer household Appliance manufacturers Siemens

products including Transportation companies United Technologies

humidifiers and Aviation companies Yamatake

thermostats Food and beverage Measurement Specialties
Electrical devices and processors

Y. . .

s~ itches Medical equipment

Water controls Heat treat processors



Product/Service Classes

Major Products/Services

Sensors, measurement,
control and industrial
components

Energ demand/response
management products
and services

Major Customers/Uses

Computer and business
equipment manufacturers

Key Competitors

Securit and life safet
products and services

Sécurit products and
s stems

Fire products and s stems

Access controls and closed
circuit television

Home health monitoring and
nurse call s stems

Gas detection products and
s stems

Emergenc lighting

OEMs

Retailers

Distributors

Commergial customers and
homeo- ners served b
the distributor,
" holesaler, contractor,
retail and utilit channels

Health-care organi ations

Securit monitoring service

Bosch
Draeger
GE

Hubbell Inc

Mine Safet Appliances
Pelco

Phillips

Riken Keiki

Siemens

T co

Distribution providers United Technologies
Personal protection Industrial, fire service, utlllt 3M
equipment distributors and U.S.
Government
Scanning and mobilit Hand held and hands free OEMs Datalogic
image and laser based Retailers Intermec Technologies
bar code scanners Distributors Iridium Vars
Scan engines Commercial customers Motorola Solutions
Mobile and ™ ireless served b the Psion
computers transportation and Sk ™~ ave
Satellite tracking hard- are, logistics, manufacturing, Tsi
airtime services and healthcare and retail
applications channels
Search & Rescue ground Securit , logistics, maritime
stations and s’ stem customers for:
soft- are the tracking of vehicles,
LXE Hand Held and containers, ships, and
Vehicle Mounts personnel in remote
environments
National organi ations that
monitor distress signals
from aircraft; ships and
individuals, t picalf
Militar branches and
Coast Guards
Warehousing and Ports
Process automation Advanced control soft- are Refining and petrochemical ABB
products and solutions ‘and industrial automation companies AspenTech
s stems for control and Chemical manufacturers Emerson
monitoring of continuous, Oil and gas producers Invens’ s
batch and K brid Food and beverage Siemeqs
operations processors Yokoga~ a
Production management Pharmaceutical companies
soft- are Utilities
Communications s stems for  Film and coated producers
Industrial Controt Pulp and paper industr
equipment and s’ stems Continuous =~ eb producers
Consulting, net- orking in the paper, plastics,
engineering and metals, rubber,
installation non- overns and printing
Terminal automation industries
solutions Mining and mineral
Process control industries
instrumentation
Field instrumentation
Anaf tical instrumentation
Recorders and controllers
Critical environment control
solutions and services
Aftermarket maintenance,
repair and upgrade
Gas control, measurement
and anal, ing equipment
Building solutions and HVAC and building control Building managers and Ameresco
services solutions and services o~ ners Chevron
Energ management Contractors, architects and GroupMac
solutions and services, developers Ingersoll Rand
including demand Consulting engineers Invens s

response and automation

Securit and asset
management solutions
and services

Securit directors

Plant managers

Utilities

Large global corporations

Johnson Controls

Local contractors and
utilities

Safegate



Product/Service Classes

Major Products/Services

Enterprise building
integration solutions

Building information services
Airport lighting and s stems,

‘visual docking guidance
s stems

Major Customers/Uses

Public school s stems
Universities

Local governments
Public housing agencies
Airports

Key Competitors

Schneider

Siemens

Trane

Thorn

United Technologies

Performance Materials and Technologies

Our Performance Materials and Technologies segment is a global leader in providing customers

* ith

leading technologies and high-performance materials,

including K drocarbon . processing

technologies, catal sts, adsorbents, equipment and services, fluorine products, specialt films and
additives, advanced fibers and composites, intermediates, specialt chemicals, electronic materials

and chemicals.

Product/Service Classes

Major Products/Services

Resins & chemicals

N lon 6 pol mer
Caprolactam
Ammonium sulfate
Phenol

Acetone

C clohe_anone
MEKO

Major Customers/Uses

N lon for carpet fibers,
Engineered resins and
fle ible packaging

Fertili er ingredients

Resins  Phenolic, Epa * ,

Pol carbonate

Sovents

Chemical intermediates

Paints, Coatins, Laquers

Key Competitors

BASF
DSM
Sinopec
UBE
INEOS
Mitsui
Shell
Polimeri

H drofluoric acid (HF)

Anh drous and aqueous

Fluorocarbons

Me_ichem Fluor

i drofluoric acid Metals processing Solva
Oil refining
Chemical intermediates
Semiconductors
Photovoltaics
Fluorocarbons Refrigerants, aerosol and Refrigeration Arkema
insulation foam blo~ ing Air-conditioning Dupont
agents Pol urethane foam Solva
Genesolv® solvents Precision cleaning Me. ichem Fluor
Q * fume sterilant gases Optical Daikin
Ennovate 3000 blo- ing Appliances Sinochem
agent for refrigeration Hospitals
insulation Medical equipment
Manufacturers
Nuclear services UF¢ conversion services Nuclear fuel Cameco
Electric utilities Comurhe.
Rosatom
Research and fine chemicals QO ime-based fine chemicals Agrichemicals Avecia
Fluoroaromatics Biotech Degussa
High-purit  solvents DSM
E. Merck
Thermo Fisher Scientific
Lop a
Sigma-Aldrich
Performance chemicals HF derivatives Diverse by product t pe Atotech
Imaging chemicals Fluoroaromatics BASF
Chemical processing Catal sts DSM
sealants Q. ime-silanes
Advanced fibers & High modulus pol eth’ lene Bullet resistant vests, DuPont
composites fiber and shield helmets and other DSM
composites armor applications Teijin

Aramid shield composites

Cut-resistant gloves
Rope & cordage

Healthcare and packaging

Cast ' fon film :
Bi-a iall -oriented n' lon film

Food and pharmaceutical

American Bia is

packaging CFP
Fluoropol mer film Daikin
Kolon
B L Unitika
Specialt additives Pol eth lene™ a_es Coatings and inks BASF
Paraffin™~ a_es and blends PVC pipe, siding & profiles Clariant
PVC lubricant s’ stems Plastics Westlake

Processing aids
Luminescent pigments
Adhesives

Reflective coatings
Safet & securit
applications




Product/Service Classes

Major Products/Services

Major Customers/Uses

Key Competitors

Electronic chemicals Ultra high-purit HF Semiconductors KMG
Inorganic acids Photovoltaics BASF
Hi-purit solvents
Semiconductor materials and  Interconnect-dielectrics Semiconductors BASF
services Interconnect-metals Microelectronics Bre- er
Semiconductor packaging Telecommunications Do~
materials - LED Nikko
Advanced pol mers Photovoltaics Pra_ air
Anti-reflective coatings Shinko
Thermo-couples Tosoh
Cataf sts, adsorbents and Cataf sts Petroleum, refining, A ens
specialties Molecular sieves petrochemical, gas BASF
Adsorbents - processing, and WR Grace
Customer catal st manufacturing industries Haldor
. manufacturing Shell/Criterion
Process technolog and Technolog licensing and Petroleum refining, A ens
equipment engineering design of petrochemical and gas BP/Amoco
‘process units and processing E... on-Mobil

s stems
Engineered products

Chevron Lummus Global
Chicago Bridge & Iron

Proprietar equipment Koch Glitsch
Training and development of Linde AG
technical personnel - Natco
Gas processing technolog Sha~ Group
- . Shell/SGS
Rene- able fuels and Technolog licensing of Militar , refining, fuel oil, Neste O
chemicals Process, catal sts, po- er production Lurgi
absorbents, Kior
Refining equipment and S ntroleum
services for producing D' namotive

rene- able-based fuels
and chemicals

Transportation Systems

Our Transportation S stems segment is one of the leading manufacturers of engine boosting
s stems for passenger cars and commercial vehicles, as - ell as a leading provider of braking

products.

Product/Service Classes

Major Products/Services

Charge-air s stems

Turbochargers for gasoline

Major Customers/Uses

Passenger car, truck and

Key Competitors
Borg-Warner

and diesel engines off-high- @ OEMs Holset
Engine manufacturers IHI
Aftermarket distributors and MHI
. dealers
Thermal s stems E. haust gas coolers Passenger car, truck and Behr
Charge-air coolers off-high~ @ OEMs Modine
Aluminum radiators Engine manufacturers Valeo
Aluminum cooling modules Aftermarket distributors and
dealers .
Brake hard parts and other Disc brake pads and shoes Automotive and heav Advics
friction materials Drum brake linings vehicle OEMs, OES, Akebono
Brake blocks brake manufacturers and Continental
Disc and drum brake aftermarket channels Federal-Mogul
components Installers ITT Corp
Brake h' draulic components Rail~ & -and commercial/ JBI
Brake fluid militar aircraft OEMs and  Nisshinbo
Aircraft brake linings brake manufacturers TRW

Rail~ & linings

Aerospace Sales

Our sales to aerospace customers ™~ ere 31, 33, and 36 percent of our total sales in 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectivef . Our sales to commercial aerospace original equipment manufacturers ™~ ere 6,
6 and 7 percent of our total sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivef . In addition, our sales to
commercial aftermarket customers of aerospace products and services ~ ere 11 percent of our total
sales in each .of 2011, 2010 and 2009. Our Aerospace results of operations can be impacted b’
various industr and economic conditions. See ltem 1A. Risk Factors?v
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U.S. Government Sales

Sales to the U.S. Government (principalf b* our Aerospace segment), acting through its various
departments and agencies and through prime contractors, amounted to $4,276, $4,354 and $4,288
million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel , ™ hich included sales to the U.S. Department of Defense,
as a prime.contractor and subcontractor, of $3,374, $3,500 and $3,455 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectivel . Base U.S. defense spending (e cludes Overseas Contingent Operations) ™ as essentialf
flat in 2011 compared to 2010. AIthough”‘ e e pect a slight decline in our defense and space revenue
in 2012 (see ltem 7 Management’s Discussion and Anaf sis of Financial Condition .and.Results of
Operations),~ e do not e pect our overall operating results to be significantf affected b’ an’ proposed
changes in 2012 federal defense spending due principalf to the varied mi of the government
programs ™~ hich impact us (OEM production, engineering development programs, aftermarket spares
and repairs and overhaul programs) as - ell as our diversified commercial businesses. Our contracts
"~ ith the U.S. Government are subject to audits, investigations, and termination b the government.
See Item 1A. Risk Factors?

Backlog .

Our total backlog at December 31, 2011 and 2010™ as $16,160 and $14,616 million, respectivel .
We anticipate that appro. imatef $12,018 million of the 2011 backlog ™ ill be filled in 2012. We believe
that backlog is not necessarif a reliable indicator of our future sales because a substantial portion of
the orders constituting this backlog ma be canceled at the customer’s option.

Competition

We are subject to active competition in substantiall all product and service.areas: Competition is
e pected to continue in all geographic regions. Competitive conditions var ™ idef among the
thousands of products and services provided b’ us, and var b' countr . Our businesses compete on
a variet - of factors, such as price, qualit , reliabilit , deliver , customer service, performance, applied
technolog , product innovation and product recognition. Brand identit , service to customers and
qualit are important competitive factors for our products and services, and there is considerable price
competition. Other competitive factors include. breadth of product line, research and development
efforts and technical and managerial capabilit . While our competitive position varies among our
products and services, - e believe - e are a significant competitor in each of our major product and
service classes. A number of our products and services are sold in competition ™~ ith those of a large
number of other companies, some of ~ hich have substantial financial resources and significant
technological capabilities. In addition, some of our products compete - ith the captive component
divisions of original equipment manufacturers. See Item 1A Risk Factorgfor further discussion.

International Operations

We are engaged in manufacturing, sales, service and research and development globalf . U.S.
e ports and foreign manufactured products are significant to our operations.. U.S. e ports comprised
12, 11 and 12 percent of our. total sales in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel . Foreign manufactured
products and services, maint in Europe and Asia, - ere 43, 42 and 40 percent of our total sales in
2011, 2010 and. 2009, respectivel .

Appro_ imatef 18 percent of total 2011 sales of Aerospace-related products and services ™~ ere
e ports of U.S. manufactured products and.s stems and performance of services such as aircraft
repair and overhaul. E_ports ~ ere principalf made to Europe, Asia, Canada, and Latin America.
Foreign manufactured products and s stems and performance of services comprised appro imatef 15
percent of total 2011 Aerospace sales. The principal manufacturing facilities outside the U.S. are in
Europe, - ith less significant operations in Canada and Asia.

Appra imatel 3 percent of total 2011 sales of Automation and Control Solutions products and
. v .
services ~ere e ports of U.S. manufactured products. Foreign manufactured products and
performance of services accounted for 58 percent of total 2011 Automation and Control Solutions
sales. The principal manufacturing facilities outside the U.S. are in Europe and Asia, “ith less
significant operations in Canada and Australia.









Item 1A. Risk Factors

Cautionary Statement about Forward-Looking Statements

We have described man' of the trends and other factors that drive our business and future results
in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Anaf sis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationgy
including the overvie= of the Compan and each of our segments and the discussion of their
respective economic and other factors and areas of focus for 2012. These sections and other parts of
this report (including this ltem 1A) contain for- ard-looking statementen/~ ithin the meaning of Section
21E of the Securities E. change Act of 1934.

For~ ard-looking statements are those that address activities, events or developments that
management intends, e pects, projects, believes or anticipates - ill or ma occur in the future. The
are based on management’s.assumptions and assessments in light of past e perience and trends,
current economic and industr conditions, e pected future developments and other relevant factors.
The' are not guarantees of- future performance, and .actual results, developments and business
decisions ma differ significantf- from those envisaged b our for~ ard-looking statements. We do not
undertake to update or revise an’ of our for~ ard-looking statements. Our for~ ard-looking statements
are also subject to risks and uncertainties that can affect our performance in both the near-and long-
term. These for~ ard-looking statements should be considered in light of the information included in this
Form 10-K, including, in particular, the factors discussed belo- .

Risk Factors

Our business, operating results, cash flo- s and financial condition are subject.to the risks and
uncertainties set forth beld~, an one of ~ hich could cause our actual results to var materiall from
recent results or from our anticipated future results.

Industry and economic conditions may adversely affect the market and operating conditions
of our customers, which in turn can affect demand for our products and services and our
results of operations.

The operating results of our segments are impacted b’ general global industr and economic
conditions that can cause changes in spending and capital investment patterns, demand for our
products and services and the level of our manufacturing and shipping costs. The operating results’ of
our Aerospace segment,~ hich generated 31 percent of our consolidated revenues in 2011, are directt
tied to ¢ clical industr and economic conditions, including global demand for air travel as reflected in
ne- aircraft production, the deferral or cancellation of orders for ne- aircraft, dela s in launch
schedules for ne~ aircraft platforms, the retirement of aircraft, global ff ing. hours, and business and
general aviation aircraft ut]i ation rates, as™ ell‘as changes in customer bu ing patterns ™ ith respect
to aftermarket parts, supplier consolidation, factor transitions, capacit constraints, and the level and
mi of U.S. Government appropriations for defense and space programs (as further discussed in other
risk factors belo~ ). The challenging operating environment faced b the commercial airline industr
ma be influenced b a™ ide variet of factors including global ff ing hours, aircraft fuel prices, labor
issues, airline consolidation, airline insolvencies, terrorism and safet concerns as ™~ ell as changes in
regulations. Future terrorist actions or pandemic health issues could dramaticalf reduce both the
demand for air travel and our Aerospace aftermarket sales and margins. The operating results of our
Automation and Control Solutions (ACS) segment, ~ hich generated 43 percent of our consolidated
revenues in 2011, are impacted b’ the level of global residential and commercial construction
(including retrofits and upgrades), capital spending and operating e penditures on building and process
automation, industrial plant capacit utj]i ation and e pansion, inventor levels in distribution channels,
and global economic gro- th rates. Performance Materials and Technologies’ operating results, = hich
generated 15. percent of our consolidated revenues in 2011, are impacted b global economic gro- th
rates, capacit utifi -ation for chemical, industrial, refining, petrochemical and semiconductor plants, our
customers’ availabilit of capital for refiner construction and e_ pansion, and ra~ material demand and
suppf volatilit . Transportation S stems’ operating results, " hich generated 11 percent of our
consolidated revenues in 2011, are impacted b’ global production and demand for automobiles and
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trucks equipped = ith turbochargers, and regulator changes regarding automobile and truck emissions
and fuel econont , dela s in launch schedules for neé~ automotive platforms, and consumer demand
and spending for automotive aftermarket . products. Demand of global automotive and truck
manufacturers™ ill continue to be influenced b a* ide variet of factors, including abilit of consumers
to obtain financing, abilit to reduce. operating costs and overall consumer and business confidence.
Each of the segments is impacted b volatilit in ra~ material prices (as further described belo~ ) and
non-material inflation.

Raw material price fluctuations, the ability of key suppliers to meet quality and delivery

requirements, or catastrophic events can increase the cost of our products and services,
impact our ability to meet commitments to customers, and cause us to incur significant
liabilities.

The cost of ra~ materials is a ke element in the cost of our products, particularf in our
Performance Materials and Technologies (cumene, fluorspar, perchloroeth lene, R240, natural gas,
sulfur and eth’ lene), Transportation S stems (nickel, steel and other metals) and Aerospace (nickel,
titanium and other metals) segments. Our inabilit to offset material price inflation through increased
prices to customers, formula or long-term fi ed price contracts ™ ith suppliers, productivit actions or
through commodit hedges could adversel affect our results of operations.

Our manufacturing operations are also hight dependent upon the deliver of materials (including
ra~ materials) b outside suppliers and their assembf of major components, and subs stems used in
our ‘products in a timel manner and in full compliance - ith purchase. order terms and conditions,
qualit standards, and applicable la~ s and regulations. In addition, man’ major components, product
equipment items and ra~ materials are procured or subcontracted on a single-source basis "~ ith a
number of domestic and foreign companies; in some circumstances these suppliers are the sole
source of the component or equipment. Although "~ e maintain a qualification and performance
surveillance process to control risk associated -~ ith such reliance on third parties and ™~ e believe that
sources of suppl for rd~ materials and components are generall adequate, it is difficult to ‘predict
" hat effects shortages or price increases ma have in the future. Our abilit. to manage inventor and
meet deliver. requirements ma be constrained b our suppliers’ inabilit to scale production and
adjust deliver of long-lead time products during times of volatile demand. Our suppliers ma fail to
perform according to specifications as and " hen required and™~ e ma be unable to identif alternate
suppliers or to other- ise mitigate the consequences of their non-performance. The suppf chains for
our businesses could also be disrupted b’ suppliers’ decisions to e it certain businesses, bankruptc
and b e ternal events such as natural disasters, e treme ~ eather events, pandemic health issues,
terrorist actions, labor disputes, governmental actions and legislative or regulator changes (e.g.,
product certification or ste~ ardship requirements, sourcing restrictions, product authenticit , climate
change or greenhouse gas emission standards, etc.). Our inabilit to fill our suppf needs *~ ould
jeopardi e our abilit to fulfill obligations under commercial and government contracts, = hich could, in
turn, result in reduced sales and profits, contract penalties or terminations, and damage to customer
relationships. Transitions to né~ suppliers ma result in significant costs and dela s, including those
related to the required recertification of parts obtained from ne~ suppliers ™~ ith our .customers and/or
regulator agencies. In addition, because our businesses cannot-al~ @ s immediatel adapt.their cost
structure to changing market conditions, our manufacturing capacit for certain products ma at times
e ceed or fall short of our production requirements, = hich could adversel impact our operating costs,
profitabilit and customer and supplier relationships.

Our facilities, distribution s stems and information technolog s stems are subject to catastrophic
loss due to, among other thlngs fire, flood, terrorism or other natural or man-made disasters. If an’ of
these facilities or s stems™ ere to e perience a catastrophic Ioss it could disrupt our operations, result
in personal injur or propert damage, damage relationships "~ ith our customers and result in large
e penses to repair or replace the facilities or s stems, as™ ell as result in other liabilities and adverse
impacts. The same risk can also arise from the failure of critical s stems supplied b Hone ™ ell to
large industrial, refining and petrochemical customers.
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Our future growth is largely dependent upon our ability to develop new technologies that
achieve market acceptance with acceptable margins.

Our businesses operate in global markets that are charactefi ed b rapidf changing technologies
and evolving industr standards. Accordingf , our future gro-th rate depends upon a number of
factors, including our abilit to (i) identif emerging technological trends in our target end-markets, (ii)
develop and maintain competitive products, (iii) enhance our products b adding innovative features
that differentiate our products from those of our competitors and prevent commodii ation of our
products, (iv) develop, manufacture and bring products to market quickf and cost-effectivel , and (v)
develop and retain individuals "~ ith the requisite e pertise.

Our abilit to develop né~ products based on technological innovation can affect our competitive
position and requires the investment of significant resources. These development efforts divert
resources from other potential investments in our businesses, and the ma not lead to the
development of né~ technologies or products on a timel basis or that meet the needs of our
customers as full as competitive offerings. In addition, the markets for our products ma not develop
or gro- as e currentf anticipate. The failure of our technologies or products to gain market
acceptance-due to more attractive offerings b’ our competitors could significantl reduce our revenues
and adversel affect our competitive standing and prospects.

Protecting our intellectual property is critical to our innovation efforts.

We o0-n or are licensed ‘under a large number of U.S. and non-U.S. patents and patent
applications, trademarks and cop’ rights. Our intellectual propert rights ma e pire or be challenged,
invalidated or infringed upon b’ -third parties or”~ e'ma be unable to .maintain, rené~ or enter into ne-
licenses of third part proprietar intellectual propert on commerciall reasonable terms. In some non-
U.S. countries, ld- s affecting intellectual propert are uncertain in their application, - hich can affect
the scope or enforceabilit of our patents and other intellectual propert rights. An' of these events or
factors.could diminish or cause us to lose the competitive advantages associated - ith our intellectual
propert , 'subject us to judgments, penalties and significant litigation costs, and/or temporarif or
permanentl disrupt our sales and marketing of the affected products or services.

Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt business operations, result in the loss of critical and
confidential information, and adversely impact our reputation and results of operations.

Global c bersecurit threats can range from uncoordinated individual attempts to gain
unauthqpi ed access to our information technolog (IT) s stems .to sophisticated and targeted
measures kno-n as advanced persistent threats. While =~ e emplo comprehensive measures to
prevent, detect, address and mitigate these threats (including access. controls, data encr ption,
vulnerabilit assessments, continuous monitoring of our IT net- orks and s’ stems and maintenance of
backup-and protective s stems), ¢ bersecurit incidents, depending on their nature and scope, could
potentialf result in the misappropriation, destruction, corruption or unavailabilit of critical data and
confidential or proprietar information (our 6~ n or that of third parties) and the disruption of business
operations. The potential consequences of a material ¢ bersecurit incident include reputational
damage, litigation™ ith third parties, diminution in the value of our investment in research, development
and engineering, and increased ¢ bersecurit protection and remediation costs, ~ hich in turn could
adversel affect our competitiveness and results of operations.

An increasing percentage of our sales and operations is in non-U.S. jurisdictions and is
subject to the economic, political, regulatory and other risks of international operations.

Our international operations, including U.S. e ports, comprise a gro-ing proportion of our
operating results. Our strateg calls for increasing sales to and operations in overseas markets,
including developing markets such as China, India, the Middle East and other high gro- th regions.

In 2011, appro. imatef 55 percent of our total sales (including products manufactured in the U.S.
and sold outside the U.S. as™ell as products manufactured in international locations)*~ ere outside of
the U.S. including appro. imatel 30 percent in Europe and appro imatef 12 percent in Asia. Risks
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related to international operations include e change control regulations, ~ age and price controls,
emplo’ ment regulations, foreign investment la~ s, import, e port and other trade restrictions (such as
embargoes), changes in regulations regarding .transactions - ith state-0~ ned enterprises, nationa]i a-
tion of private enterprises, government instabilit , and our abilit to hire and maintain qualified staff and
maintain the safet of our emplo ees in these regions. We are also subject to U.S. la~ s prohibiting
companies from doing business in certain countries, or restricting the t pe of business that ma be
conducted in these countries. The cost of compliance - ith increasingf comple and often conflicting
regulations ™~ orld- ide can also impair our fle ibilit in modif .ing product, marketing; pricing or other
strategies for gro-ing our businesses, as "~ ell as our abilit to improve productivit and maintain
acceptable operating margins.

Uncertain global economic conditions arising from circumstances such as sovereign debt issues
and credit rating do~ ngrades in certain European countries or speculation regarding changes to the
composition or viabilit of the Eura, one could result in reduced. customer confidence resulting in
decreased demand for our products and services, disruption in pa ment patterns and higher default
rates, a tightening of credit markets (see risk factor belo~ regarding volatilit of credit -markets for
further discussion), increased risk regarding supplier performance, increased counterpart risk "~ ith
respect to. the financial institutions - ith = hich*~ e do business, and e change rate fluctuations. While
e emplo comprehensive controls regarding global cash management to guard against cash or
investment loss and to ensure our abilit to fund our operations and commitments, a material disruption
to the financial institutions ™~ ith”~ hom " e transact business could e pose Hone -~ ell to financial loss.

Sales and purchases in currencies other.than the US dollar e pose us to fluctuations in foreign
currencies relative to the US dollar and ma adversel - affect our results of operations. Currenc
fluctuations.ma affect product demand and prices - e pa for materials, as a result, our operating
margins ma be negativel impacted. Fluctuations in e change rates ma give rise to translation gains
or losses ™ hen financial statements of our non-U.S. businesses are translated into U.S. dollars. While
"~ e monitor our e change rate e posures and seek to reduce.the risk of volatilit through hedging
activities, such activities bear a financial cost and ma not al- @ s be available to us or successful in
significantl  mitigating such volatilit .

Volatility of credit markets or macro-economic factors could adversely affect our business.

Changes in U.S. and global financial and equit markets, including market disruptions, limited
liquidit , and interest rate volatilit , ma increase the cost of financing as™ ell as the risks of refinancing
‘maturing debt. In addition, our borra- ing costs can be affected b’ short and long-term ratings assigned
b independent rating agencies. A decrease in these ratings could increase our cost of borro- ing.

Dela s in our customers’ abilit to obtain financing, or the unavailabilit of .financing to our
customers, could adversel affect our results of operations and cash flo~ . The inabilit of our suppliers
to obtain financing could result in the need to transition to alternate suppliers, " hich could result in
significant incremental cost and dela , as discussed above. Lastf , disruptions in the U.S. and global
financial markets could impact the financial institutions ™~ ith - hich ™~ e do business.

We may be required to recognize impairment charges for our long-lived assets or available
for sale investments.

At December 31, 2011, the net carr ing value of long-lived assets (propert , plant and equipment,
good- ill and other intangible assets) and available for sale securities totaled appro. imatel $19.1
billion and $0.4 billion, respectivel . In accordance - ith generalf accepted accounting principles, "~ e
periodicall assess these assets to determine if the are impaired. Significant negative industr or
economic trends, disruptions to our business, une. pected significant changes or planned changes in
use of the assets, divestitures and market capita]i ation declines ma  result in impairments to good- ill
and other long-lived assets. An other than temporar decline in the market value of our available for
sale securities ma also result in an impairment charge. Future impairment charges could significantt
affect our results of operations in. the periods recogni ed. Impairment charges ™ ould also reduce our
consolidated sharec- ners’ equit and increase our debt-to-total-capitg]i. ation ratio, " hich could
negativel impact our credit rating and access to the public debt and equit markets.
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A change in the level of U.S. Government defense and space funding or the mix of
programs to which such funding is allocated could adversely impact Aerospace’s defense
and space sales and results of operations.

Sales of our defense and .space-related products and services are largelf dependent upon
government budgets, particulart the U.S. defense budget. Sales as a prime contractor and
subcontractor to the U.S. Department of Defense comprised appro. imatef 29 and 9 percent of
Aerospace and total sales, respectivel , for the " ear ended December 31, 2011. We cannot predict the
e tent to ™~ hich total funding and/or funding for individual programs - ill .be included, increased or
reduced as part of the 2012 and subsequent budgets ultimatelf approved b’ Congress, or be included
in the scope of separate supplemental appropriations. We also cannot predict the impact of potential
changes in priorities due to militar transformation and planning and/or the nature of ™~ ar-related
activit on e isting, follo- -on or replacement programs. A shift in defense or space spending to
programs in ™~ hich =~ e ‘do not participate and/or reductions in funding for or termination of e_isting
programs could adversef impact our results of operations.

As a supplier of military and other equipment to the U.S. Government, we are subject to
unusual risks, such as the right of the U.S. Government to terminate contracts for
convenience and to conduct audits and investigations of our operations and performance.

In addition to normal business risks, companies like Hone ™ ell that suppt militar and other
equipment to the U.S. Government are subject to unusual risks, including dependence on
Congressional appropriations and administrative allotment of funds, changes ‘in governmental
procurement legislation and regulations and other policies that reflect militar and political
developments; significant changes in contract requirements, comple it of designs and the rapidit
"~ ith™ hich the become obsolete, necessit for frequent design improvements, intense competition for
U.S. Government -business necessitating increases in time and investment for design and
development, difficult of forecasting costs and schedules ™~ hen bidding on. developmental and hight
sophisticated technical - ork, and other factors characteristic of the industr , such as contract d- ard
protests and dela s in the timing of contract approvals. Changes are customar over the life of U.S.
Government contracts, particularf development contracts, and generalf result in adjustments to

contract prices and schedules.

Our contracts ™~ ith the U.S. Government are also subject to various government audits. Like mar
other government contractors, = e have received audit reports that recommend do- n- ard. price
adjustments to certain contracts or changes to certain accounting s stems or controls to compl ™ ith
various government regulations. When appropriate and prudent, = e have made adjustments and paid
voluntar refunds in the past and m& do so in the future.

U.S. Government contracts are subject to termination b the government, either for the
convenience of the government or for our failure to perform consistent ™~ ith. the terms of the
applicable contract. In the case of a termination for convenience, -~ e are t picalf entitled to
reimbursement for our.alld- able costs incurred, plus termination costs and a reasonable profit. If a
contract is terminated b the government for our failure to perform™ e could be liable for reprocurement
costs incurred b’ the government in acquiring undelivered goods or services from another source and
for other damages suffered by the government as permitted under the contract.

We are also subject to government investigations of. business practices and compliance * ith
government procurement regulations. If, as a result of an such investigation or. other government
investigations (including violations of certain environmental or e port la-'s), Hone ™ ell or one of its
businesses - ere found to have violated applicable la-, it could be suspended from bidding on or
receiving a- ards of né~ government contracts, suspended from contract performance pending the
completion of legal proceedings and/or have its e port privileges suspended. The U.S. Government
also reserves the right to debar a contractor from receiving ne~ government contracts for fraudulent,
criminal or other egregious misconduct. Debarment generalf does not e. ceed three * ears.
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Our reputation and ability to do business may be impacted by the improper conduct of
employees, agents or business partners.

We cannot ensure that our e tensive compliance controls, policies and procedures ™ ill, in all
instances, protect us from reckless or criminal acts committed b’ our emplo’ ees, agents or business
partners that.~ ould violate the 1a~ s of the jurisdictions in™~ hich the Compan’ .operates, including la~ s
governing pa ments to government officials, competition and data privac . An’ improper actions could
subject us to civil or criminal investigations, monetar and non-monetar penalties and could adverset
impact our abilit to conduct business, results of operations and reputation.

Changes in legislation or government regulations or policies can have a significant impact
on our results of operations.

‘The sales and margins of each of our segments are directf impacted b’ government regulations.
Safet and performance regulations (including mandates of the Federal Aviation Administration and
other similar international regulator bodies requiring the installation of equipment on aircraft), product
certification requirements and government procurement practices can impact Aerospace sales,
research and development e penditures, operating costs and profitabilit . The demand for and cost of
providing Automation and Control Solutions products, services and solutions can be impacted b fire,
securit , safet , health care, environmental and energ efficienc standards -and regulations.
Performance Materials and Technologies’ results .of operations can be affected b’ environmental
(e.g. government regulation' of fluorocarbons), safet and energ efficienc standards and regulations,
"~ hile emissions and energ efficienc standards and regulations can impact the demand for
turbochargers in our.Transportation S° stems segment. Legislation or regulations regarding areas such
as labor and emplo ment, emplo” ee benefit plans, ta , health, safet and environmental matters,
import, e_port and trade, intellectual propert , product certification, and product liabilit ma impact the
results of each of our operating segments and our consolidated results.

Completed acquisitions may not perform as anticipated or be integrated as planned, and
divestitures may not occur as planned.

We regularf revie= our portfolio of businesses and pursue gro- th through acquisitions and seek
to divest non-core businesses. We ma not be able to complete transactions on favorable terms, on a
timel basis or at all. In addition, our results of operations and cash flo- s ma be adversel impacted
b (i) the failure of acquired businesses to meet or e ceed e pected returns, (ii) the discover of
unanticipated issues or liabilities, (iii) the failure to integrate acquired businesses into Hone ™ ell on
schedule and/or to achieve s nergies in the planned amount or*- ithin the e pected timeframe, (iv) the
inabilit to dispose of non-core assets and businesses on satisfactor terms and conditions and ™ ithin
the e pected timeframe, and (v) the degree of protection provided b’ indemnities from sellers of
acquired companies and the obligations under indemnities provided to purchasers of our divested
businesses.

We cannot predict with certainty the outcome of litigation matters, government proceedings
and other contingencies and uncertainties.

We are subject to a number of |a- suits, investigations and disputes (some of = hich involve
substantial amounts claimed) arising out of the conduct of our business, including matters relating to
commercial transactions, government contracts, product liabilit (including .asbestos), prior acquisitions
and divestitures, emplo” ment, emplo’ ee benefits plans, intellectual propert , import and e port matters
and .environmental, health and safet matters. Resolution of these matters can be prolonged and
costf , and the ultimate results or judgments are uncertain due to the inherent uncertaint in litigation
and other proceedings. Moreover, our potential liabilities are subject to'change over time due to ne=
developments, changes in settlement strateg or the impact of evidentiar requirements, and™~ e ma
become subject to or be required to pa damage a- ards or settlements that could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flo- s and financial condition. While ~ e maintain
insurance for certain risks, the amount of our insurance coverage ma not be adequate to cover the
total amount of all insured claims and liabilities. It also is not possible to obtain insurance to protect
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against all our operational risks and liabilities. The incurrence of significant liabilities for*~ hich there is
no or .insufficient insurance coverage could adversef affect our results of operations, cash flo~ s,
liquidit and financial condition.

Our operations and the prior operations of predecessor companies expose us to the risk of
material environmental liabilities.

Mainl because of past operations and operations of predecessor companies, ~ e are subject to
potentialf material liabilities related to the remediation of environmental hg ards and to claims of
personal injuries or propert damages that ma be caused b’ hg ardous substance releases and
e posures. We have incurred remedial response and voluntar clean-up costs for site contamination
and are a part to la- suits and claims associated™ ith environmental and safet matters, including past
production of products containing ha .ardous substances. Additional la- suits, claims and costs
involving environmental matters are likel to continue to arise in the future. We are subject to various
federal, state, local and foreign government requirements regulating the discharge of materials into the
environment or other- ise relating to the protection of the environment. These la~ s and regulations can
impose substantial fines and criminal sanctions for violations, and require installation of costf
equipment or operational changes to limit emissions and/or decrease the likelihood of accidental
ha ardous substance releases. We incur, and e pect to continue to incur capital and operating costs to
compt " ith these I~ s and regulations. In addition, changes in la~ s, regulations and enforcement of
policies, the discover of previoust unkno~ n contamination or ne~. technolog or information related
to individual sites, the establishment of stricter state or federal to_icit standards™ ith respect to certain
contaminants, or the imposition of né~ clean-up requirements or remedial techniques could require us
to incur costs in the future that ™~ ould have a negative effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

Our expenses include significant costs related to employee and retiree health benefits.

With appro. imatel 132,000 emplo’ ees, including appro. imatelf 53,000 in the U.S., our e penses
relating to emplo ee health and retiree health benefits are significant. In recent * ears, -~ e have
e perienced significant increases in certain of these costs, largel as a result of economic factors
be ond our control, in particular, ongoing increases in health care costs™- ell in e cess of the rate of
inflation. Continued increasing health-care costs, legislative or regulator changes, and volatilit in
discount rates, as ™~ ell .as changes in other assumptions used to calculate retiree health benefit
e penses, ma adversef affect our financial position and results of operations.

Risks related to our defined benefit pension plans may adversely impact our results of
operations and cash flow.

Significant changes in actual investment return on pension assets, discount rates, and other
factors could adversel affect our results of operations and pension contributions in future periods. U.S.
generalf  accepted accounting principles require that ~ e calculate income or e pense for the plans
using actuarial valuations. These valuations reflect assumptions about financial markets and interest
rates, - hich ma change based on economic conditions. Funding requirements for our U.S. pension
plans ma become more significant. H3~ ever, the ultimate amounts to be contributed are dependent
upon, among other things, interest rates, undert ing asset returns and the impact of legislative or
regulator changes related to pension funding obligations. For a discussion regarding the significant
assumptions used to estimate pension e pense, including discount rate and the e pected long-term
rate of return on plan assets, and ho- our financial statements can be affected b pension plan
accounting policies, see Critical Accounting Policiegvincluded in Iltem 7. Management’s Discussion
and Anal sis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations?«

Additional tax expense or additional tax exposures could affect our future profitability.

We are subject to income ta_es in both the United States and various non-U.S. jurisdictions, and
our domestic and international ta_ liabilities are dependent upon the distribution of income among
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these different jurisdictions. In 2011, our ta. e pense represented 18.3 percent of our income before
ta , and includes estimates of additional ta. "~ hich ma be incurred for ta. e posures and reflects
various estimates and assumptions, including assessments of future earnings of the Compan’ that
could impact the valuation of our deferred ta assets. Our future results of operations could be
adversel affected b changes.in the effective ta_ rate as a result of a change in the mi of earnings in
countries - ith differing statutor ta rates, changes in the overall profitabilit of the Compan' , changes
in ta_legislation and rates, changes in generall accepted accounting principles, changes in the
valuation of deferred ta assets and liabilities, changes in the amount of earnings permanentt
reinvested offshore, the results of audits and e aminations of previoust filed ta returns and
continuing assessments of our ta. e posures.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not Applicable

Item 2. Properties

We have appro imatef 1,300 locations consisting of plants, research laboratories, sales offices
and other facilities. Our headquarters and administrative comple. is located in Morris To~ nship,” Ne~
Jerse . Our plants are generall located to serve large marketing areas and to provide accessibilit to
ra- materials and labor pools. Our properties are generall maintained in good operating condition.
Utjli ation of these plants ma var " ith. sales to customers and other business conditions; ho- ever,
no major operating facilit is significantt idle. We o~ n or lease "~ arehouses, railroad cars, barges,
automobiles, trucks, airplanes and materials handling and data processing equipment. We also lease
space for administrative and sales staffs. Our properties and equipment are in good operating
condition and.are adequate for our present needs. We do not anticipate difficult in rene- ing e_isting
leases as the' e pire or in finding alternative facilities.

Our principal plants, ~ hich are 0~ ned in fee unless other- ise indicated, are as follo- s:

Aerospace

Anniston, AL (leased) Olathe, KS " - Toronto, Canada
Glendale, AZ (leased) Minneapolis; MN (partialf leased) Olomouc, ¢ ech
Phoeni , AZ PF mouth, MN Republic (leased) " -
Tempe, AZ Rock’ Mount, NC Raunheim, German
Tucson, AZ Albuquerque, NM Penang, Mala' sia
Torrance, CA Urbana, OH Chihuahua, Me._ico
Clear- ater, FL Greer, SC Singapore (leased)

South Bend, IN

Yeovil, UK (leased)

Automation and Control Solutions

San Diego, CA (leased) Pleasant Prairie, WI (leased) Schonaich, German
Northford, CT Shep hen, China (leased) (leased)
Freeport, IL Sy hou, China Pune, India (leased)
St. Charles, IL (leased) Tianjin, China (leased) Chihuahua, Me ico
Golden Valle , MN Brno,  ech Republic (leased) Juarg ', Me_ico
York, PA (leased) Mosbach, German’ (partialt  leased)
Neuss, German Tijuana, Me._ico
(leased)
Emmen, Netherlands
Ne~ house, Scotland
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Performance Materials and Technologies

Mobile, AL Shreveport, LA Colonial Heights, VA
Des Plaines, IL Frankford, PA Hope- ell, VA
Metropolis, IL Pottsville, PA Spokane, WA -

Baton Rouge, LA Orange, TX Segl e, German
Geismar, LA Chesterfield, VA

Transportation Systems

Shanghai, China Atessa, ItaF Me. icali, Me_ico
Glinde, German Kodama, Japan (partialt  leased)
Ansan, Korea (leased) Bucharest, Romania
Pune India

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to a number of la- suits, investigations and claims (some of ™~ hich involve
substantial amounts) arising out of the conduct of our business. See a discussion of environmental,
asbestos and other litigation matters in Note 21 of Notes to Financial Statements.

Environmental Matters Involving Potential Monetary Sanctions in Excess of $100,000

Although the outcome of the matter discussed belo~ cannot be predicted™ ith certaint , e do not
believe that it~ ill have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, consolidated
results of operations or operating cash flo~ s

The United States Environmental Protection Agenc and the United States Department of Justice
are investigating - hether the Compan' ’s manufacturing facilit in Hope- ell, Virginia is in compliance
" ith the requirements of the Clean Air Act and the facilit ’s air operating permit. Based on these
|nvest|gat|ons the federal authorities have issued notices of violation ™~ ith respect to the facilit ’s
bep ene "~ aste operations, leak detection' and repair program, em|SS|ons of nitrogen o ides and
emissions of particulate matter. The Compan has entered into negotiations ™ ith federal authorities to
resolve the alleged violations.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

The e ecutive officers' of Hone' ™ ell, listed as follo- s, are elected annuall b the Board of
Directors. There are no famit relationships among them.

Name, Age,

Date First

Elected an
Executive Officer

David M. Cote, 59
2002(a)

Ale. andre Ismail, 46
2009

Roger Fradin, 58
2004

Timoth O. Mahone' , 55
2009

Andreas C. Kramvis, 59
2008

David J. Anderson, 62
2003

Krishna Mikkilineni, 52
2010

Katherine L. Adams, 47
2009

Mark R. James, 50
2007

(a) Also a Director.

Business Experience

Chairman of the Board and Chief E.ecutive Officer since Juf
2002.

President and Chief E ecutive Officer Transportation S stems
since April 2009. President Turbo Technologies from
November 2008 to April 2009. President Global Passengers
Vehicles from August 2006 to November 2008.

President and Chief E_-ecutive Officer Automation and Control
Solutions since Januar 2004.

President and Chief E ecutive Officer Aerospace since
September 2009. Vice President. Aerospace Engineering and
Technolog and Chief Technolog Officer from March 2007 to
August 2009. President of Air Transport and Regional from
Juf 2005 to March 2007.

President and Chief E. ecutive Officer Performance Materials and
Technologies since March 2008. President of Environmental
and Combustion Controls from September 2002 to Februar
2008.

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since June
2003.

Senior Vice President Engineering and Operations since April
2010  and President Hone ™~ ell Technolog Solutions since
Januar .2009. Vice President Hone - ell Technolog Solutions
from Juf 2002 to Januar 2009.

Senior Vice President and General Counsel since April 2009.
Vice President and General Counsel from September 2008 to
April  2009. Vice President and General Counsel for
Performance Materials and Technologies from Februar 2005
to September 2008.

Senior Vice President Human Resources and Communications
since November 2007. Vice President of Human Resources
and Communications for Aerospace from October 2004 to
November 2007.
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Part Il.

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market and dividend information for Hone ™~ el’'s common stock is included in Note 26 of Notes to
Financial Statements in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementar Data?y

The. number of record holders of our common stock at December 31, 2011 ™ as 58,965.

Hone ™~ ell purchased 1,450,000 shares of its common stock, par value $1 per share, in the
quarter ending December 31, 2011. Hone ~ell purchased a total of 20,250,000 shares of its common




Performance Graph

The follo~ ing graph compares the five< ear cumulative total return on our Common Stock to the
total returns on the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Inde and a composite of Standard & Poor’s
Industrial- Conglomerates and Aerospace and Defense indices, on a 60%/40% " eighted basis,
respectivef (the Composite Inde\). The - eighting of the components of the Composite Inde are
based on our segments’ relative contribution to total segment profit. The selection of the Industrial
Conglomerates component of the .Composite Inde. reflects the diverse and distinct range of non-
aerospace businesses conducted b’ Hone ™ ell. The annual changes for the five- ear period sho- n in
the graph are based on the assumption that $100 had been invested in Hone ™ ell stock and each
inde. on December 31, 2006 and that all dividends - ere reinvested.
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HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.

The Consumer Products Group (CPG) automotive aftermarket business had historicalf been part
of the Transportation S stems reportable segment. In accordance ™~ ith generall  accepted accounting
principles, CPG is presented as discontinued operations in all periods presented. See Note 2
Acquisitions and Divestitures for further details. This selected financial data should be read in
conjunction ™~ ith Hone - ell’s Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included else~ here
in this Annual Report as ™~ ell as the section of this Annual Report titled Item 7. Management's
Discussion and Anal sis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
_(Dollars imllions, e?ept per shﬁamounts)_

Results of Operations
Netsales.................. e $36,529 $32,350 $29,951 $35,520 $33,462
Amounts attributable to Hone ™ ell:
Income from continuing operations less net
income attributable to the noncontrolling

interest. ... 1,858 1,944 1,492 789 2,535
Income from discontinued operations(1).. .. 209 78 56 17 59
Net income attributable to Hone ™~ ell(2). . .. 2,067 2,022 1,548 806 2,594
Earnings Per Common Share
Basic:
Income from continuing operations ........ 2.38 2.51 1.99 1.07 3.31
Income from discontinued operations ...... 0.27 0.10 0.07 0.02 0.08
Net income attributable to Hone - ell ...... 2.65 2.61 2.06 1.09 3.39
Assuming dilution:
Income from continuing operations ........ 2.35 2.49 1.98 1.06 3.27
Income from discontinued operations ...... 0.26 0.10 0.07 0.02 0.08
Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell ...... 2.61 2.59 2.05 1.08 3.35
Dividends per share........................... 1.37 1.21 1.21 1.10 1.00
Financial Position at Year-End
Propert , plant and equipment net............ 4,804 4,724 4,847 4,934 4,985
Total assets ... 39,808 37,834 35993 35570 33,805
Short-term debt........... ... ..l 674 889 1,361 2,510 2,238
Long-term debt .......... ... ... .l 6,881 5,755 6,246 5,865 5,419
Total debt ....... e 7,555 6,644 7,607 8,375 7,657

Sharec™ ners’ equit ...............coieniii... 10,902 10,787 8,971 7,140 9,293

(1) For the * ear ended December 31, 2011, Income from discontinued operations includes a $178
million, net of ta_ gain, resulting from the sale of the CPG business "~ hich funded a portion of the
2011 repositioning actions.

(2) For the ‘ ear ended December 31, 2008, Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell includes a $417
million, net of ta_ gain, resulting from the sale of our Consumables Solutions business as™ ell as a
charge of $465 million for environmental liabilities deemed probable and reasonabl estimable
during 2008.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

The follo- ing Management’s Discussion and Anal sis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations ( MD&»®4 is intended to help the reader understand the results of operations and financial
condition of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. ( Hone ™ elky for the three * ears ended December 31, 2011.
All references to Notes related to Notes to the Financial Statements in Iltem 8 Financial Statements
and Supplementar Datery

The Consumer Products Group (CPG) automotive aftermarket business had historicalf been part
of the Transportation S stems reportable segment. In accordance ™~ ith generall  accepted accounting
principles, CPG results are e cluded from continuing operations and are presented as discontinued
operations in all periods presented. See Note 2 Acquisitions and Divestitures for further details.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Sales
2011 2010 2009
Net sales . ... e $36,529  $32,350  $29,951
% change compared " ith prior period........ e 13% 8%
The change in net sales compared to the prior * ear period is attributable to the follo~ ing:
2011 2010
Versus Versus
2010 2009
VOIUME L 6% 5%
PriCE. o oo e 2% 2%
Acquisitions/Divestitures . ........ ..ot 3% 1%
Foreign E-change ... 2% 0%

13% 8%

A discussion of net sales b segment can be found in the Revie- of Business Segments section
of this MD&A.

Cost of Products and Services Sold

2011 2010 2009
Cost of products and services sold .................... $28,556 $24,721 $23,260
% change compared ™ ith prior period.................. 16% 6%

Gross Margin percentage.................... e 21.8% 23.6% 22.3%

Cost of products and services sold increased b $3,835 million or 16 percent in 2011 compared
"~ jth 2010 principalf .due to an estimated increase in direct material costs, labor costs and ‘indirect
costs of appro_imatel $2 billion, $520 million, and $280 million, respectivel , driven substantiall b a
13 percent increase in sales as a result of the factors (e cluding price) discussed above and in the
Revie~ of Business Segments section of this‘'MD&A, an increase in pension and other postretirement
e pense of appro_imatelf $880 million (primarif driven by the increase in the pension mark-to-market
adjustment allocated to cost of goods sold of $1.1 billion) and an increase in repositioning and other
charges of appra imatel  $90 million.

Gross margin percentage decreased b 1.8 percentage points in 2011 compared ™~ ith 2010
primarif  due-to higher pension and other postretirement e pense (appra imate 2.8 percentage point
impact primarit  driven by an unfavorable 3.3 percentage point impact resulting from the increase in
the pension mark-to-market adjustment allocated to cost of goods sold) and repositioning and other
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charges (appro imate 0.2 percentage point impact), partialf offset b’ higher sales volume driven b/
each of our business segments (appro. imate 1.2 percentage point impact).

Cost of products and services sold increased b’ $1,461 million or 6 percent in 2010 compared
" ith 2009, ‘principalf due to an estimated increase in direct material costs and-indirect costs of
appro imatef  $1,250 million and $300 million, respectivel , driven substantialf b an 8 percent
increase in sales as a result of the factors discussed above and in the Revie~ of Business Segments
section of this MD&A and appro. imatel $130 million increase-in repositioning and other charges (see
Note 3 of Notes to Financial Statements), partialf offset b a $300 million decrease in pension
e pense.

Gross margin percentage increased b 1.3 percentage points in 2010 compared "~ ith 2009,
primarit due to I6- er pension e pense (appro. imate 1 percentage point impact) and higher sales
volume driven b our Automation and Control Solutions segment, Performance Materials and
Technologies ‘segment- and Transportation S stems segment (appro imate 0.7 percentage point
impact), partiall offset b’ higher repositioning and other charges (appro. imate 0.5 percentage point
impact).

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

2011 2010 2009
Selling, general and administrative e pense................ $5,399 $4,618  $4,323

Percentofsales......................oil 14.8% 14.3% 14.4%

Selling, general and administrative e penses (SG&A) increased as a percentage of sales b’ 0.5
percent in 2011 compared to 2010 driven b an estimated $430 million increase in labor costs resulting
from acquisitions, investment for gro”" th, and merit increases, an estimated increase of $240 million in
pension and other postretirement e pense (driven primarit b’ the allocated portion of the pension
mark-to-market charge increase of appro imatelf $270 million) and an estimated increase of $60
million in repositioning actions, partialf offset b’ the impact of higher sales volume as a result of the
factors discussed in the Revie~ of Business Segments section of this MD&A.

Selling, general and administrative e ‘penses (SG&A) decreased as a percentage of sales b’ 0.1
percent in 2010 compared to 2009 driven b the impact of higher sales volume, discussed above, and
Io~ er pension e pense, partialt offset b’ an estimated $500 million increase in labor costs (reflecting
the absence of prior period labor cost actions).

Other (Income) Expense
2011 2010 2009

Equit (income)/loss of affiliated companies....................... $(51) $(28) $(26)

Gain on sale of non-strategic businesses and assets ............. (61) (87)
Interest iINCOMeE . ... ..o (58) (39) (33)
Foreign e change ... 50 12 45
Other, Net. ... e 36 (42) 47

$84) $(97) $(54)

Other income decreased b’ $13 million in 2011 compared to 2010 due primarif to a $29 million
loss resulting from eart redemption of debt in the first quarter of 2011, included " ithin Other, naty
and the absence of a $62 million pre-ta. gain related to the consolidation of a joint venture  ithin our
Performance Materials and Technologies segment in the third quarter of 2010, included ™ ithin Other,
nety (see Note 4 of Notes to Financial Statements for further details), partialf offset b’ a $61 million
increase in gain on sale of non-strategic businesses and assets due primarif to a $50 million pre-ta.
gain related to the divestiture of the automotive on-board sensors products business ™ ithin our
Automation and Control Solutions segment and the reduction of appro.imatef $12 million of
acquisition related costs compared to 2010 included ~ ithin Other, net
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Other income increased b $43 million in 2010 compared to 2009 primarif due to the
consolidation of a joint venture resulting in a $62 million pre-ta. gain ™ ithin our Performance Materials
and Technologies segment in the third quarter of 2010, included in Other, natJ(see Note 4 of Notes to
Financial Statements for further details), the absence of an other-than-temporar impairment charge
0f$62 million in the second quarter of 2009, included™ ithin Other, ne#y partialf offset b the absence
of a $50 million deconsolidation gain related to a subsidiar ™ ithin our Automation and Control
Solutions segment in 2009, included ™ ithin Gain on sale of non-strategic businesses and assetey and
$22 million of acquisition related costs in 2010, included  ithin Other, nety

Interest and Other Financial Charges
2011 2010 2009

Interest and other financial charges........................o.t. $376  $386  $458
% change compared ™~ ith prior period. .......................... (3% (16)%

Interest and other financial charges decreased b. 3% percent in 2011 compared "~ ith 2010
primarit  due to 10~ er borro- ing costs, partialf offset b’ higher debt balances.

Interest and other financial charges decreased b 16% percent in 2010 compared "~ ith 2009 due
to I0- er debt balances and Io- er borra- ing costs.

Tax Expense

2011 2010 2009
Ta B PN, oottt ittt et $417 $765 $436
Effectiveta rate........ .o 18.3% 28.1% 22.2%

The effective ta rate decreased by 9.8 percentage points in 2011 compared *~ ith 2010 primarit
due to a change. in the mi. of earnings bet- een U.S. and foreign related to higher U.S. pension
e pense (primarif driven b an approi mate 7.6 percentage point impact ™~ hich resulted from the
increase in pension mark-to-market e pense), an increased benefit from manufacturing incentives, an
increased benefit from the favorable settlement of ta. audits and an increased benefit from a lo~er
foreign effective ta rate. The foreign effective ta rate™ as 21.1 percent, a decrease of appro. imatet
4.9 percentage points "~ hich primarif consisted of (i) a 5.1 percent impact from decreased valuation
allo- ances on net operating losses primarif due to an increase in German earnings available to be
offset b’ net operating loss carr for~ ards, (ii) a 2.4 percent impact from ta. benefits related to foreign
e change and investment losses, iii) a 1.2 percent impact from an increased benefit in ta. credits and
lo- er statutor ta rates, and (iv) a 4.1 percent impact related to an increase in ta. reserves. The
effective ta rate™ as I6- er than the U.S. statutor rate of 35 percent primarif due to earnings ta_ed at
lo~ er foreign rates.

The effective ta. rate increased bb 5.9 percentage points in 2010 compared "~ ith 2009 primarit
due to a change in the mi of earnings related to Io- er U.S. pension e pense, the impact of an
enacted change in the ta treatment of the Medicare Part D program, the absence of manufacturing
incentives, a decreased impact from the settlement of audits and an increase in the foreign effective
ta rate. The foreign effective ta_ rate increased b appro_ imatel 7 percentage points™ hich primarit
consisted of i) a 6 percentage point impact from the absence of ta benefits related to foreign
e change and investment losses and ii) a (0.1) percentage points impact from increased valuation
allo~ ances on net operating losses. The effective ta rate™ as Io- er than the U.S. statutor rate of 35
percent primarif due to earnings ta_ed at 16~ er foreign rates.

In 2012, the effective ta. rate could change based upon the Compan' ’s operating results, mi of
earnings and the outcome of ta positions taken regarding previoust filed ta. returns currentf under
audit b various Federal, State and foreign ta  authorities, several of - hich ma be fina)i ed in the
foreseeable future. The Compan’ believes that it has adequate reserves for these matters, the
outcome of = hich could materialf impact the results of operations and operating cash flo- s in the
period the are resolved.
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Net Income Attributable to Honeywell

y 201 2000 2009
Amounts attributable to Hone ™ ell
Income from continuing operations .................... $1,858  $1,944  $1,492
Income from discontinued operations.................. 209 78 56
Net income attributable to Hone™ell.................. $2,067  $2,022  $1,548
Earnings per share of common stock assuming dilution
Income from continuing operations.................... $23 $249 $ 1.98
Income from discontinued operations.................. 0.26 0.10 0.07
Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell.................. $261 $259 §$ 205

Earnings per share of common stock assuming dilution increased b’ $0.02 per share in 2011
compared - ith 2010 primarif due to an increase in segment profit in each of our business segments,
lo- er ta. e pense, the ‘gain on disposal of discontinued operations, and |0~ er other postretirement
e pense, partialt offset b’ higher pension e pense (primarif due to an increase in the pension mark-
to-market adjustment) and higher repositioning and other charges.

Earnings per share of common stock assuming dilution increased b $0.54 per share in 2010
compared™ ith 2009 primarit due to increased segment profit in our Automation and Control Solutions,
Performance Materials and Technologies and Transportation S stems segments and I~ er pension
e pense, partialt offset b’ higher ta. e pense and higher repositioning and other charges.

For further discussion of segment results, see Revié~ of Business Segmenter

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

This Business Overvie- provides a summar of Hone ™ ell and its four reportable operating
segments (Aerospace, Automation and Control Solutions, Performance Materials and Technologies
and Transportation S stems), including their respective areas of focus for 2012 and the relevant
economic and other factors impacting their results, and a discussion of each segment’s results for the
three  ears ended December 31, 2011. Each of these segments is comprised of various product and
service classes that serve multiple end markets. See Note 23 to the financial statements for further
information on our reportable segments and our definition of segment profit.

Economic and Other Factors

In addition to the factors listed beld~ ™ ith respect to each of our operating segments, our
consolidated operating results are principall driven b :
e Impact of change in global economic gro- th rates (U.S., Europe and emerging regions) and
industr conditions on demand in our k&' end markets;

e Overall sales mi, in particular the mi. of Aerospace original equipment and aftermarket sales
and the mi of Automation and Control Solutions (ACS) products, distribution and services
sales;

e The e tent to ™ hich cost savings from productivit actions are able to offset or e ceed the
impact of material and non-material inflation;

e The impact of the pension discount rate and asset returns on pension e pense, including mark-
to-market adjustments, and funding requirements; and

e The impact of fluctuations in foreign currenc e change rates (Euro and other global
currencies), relative to the U.S. dollar.
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Areas of Focus for 2012

The areas of focus for 2012, hich are generall applicable to each of our operating segments,
include:

e Driving profitable gro-th and margin e pansion b building innovative products that address
customer needs;

e Achieving sales gro- th, technological e cellence and manufacturing capabilit and capacit
through global e. pansion, especiall focused on emerging regions in China, India, the Middle
East and other high gro- th regions;

e Proactivel managing ra~ material costs through formula and long term suppf agreements,
price increases and hedging activities,  here feasible;

e Driving cash flo- conversion through. effective ™ orking- capital’ management and capital
investment in our businesses, thereb’ enhancing liquidit , repa ment of debt, strategic
acquisitions, and the abilit to return value to shareholders;

e Maintaining a fle ible cost structure to ensure our abilit to proactivef respond to trends in
short-c' cle end markets such as the Transportation S stems Turbo business, ACS Energ ,
Safet & Securit businesses, Aerospace commercial after-market and Performance Materials
and Technologies Advanced Materials business;

e Aligning and priorifi ing investments in long-term gro-th considering short-term demand
volatilit' ; )

e Driving productivit savings through e ecution of repositioning actions;

« Controlling discretionar spending levels - ith focus on non-customer related costs;

e Ut]i ing our enablers Hone - ell Operating S stem (HOS), Functional Transformation. and
Velocit Product. Development (VPD) to drive margin e pansion b’ standargi ing the™a "~ e
"~ ork, reducing ¢ cle time, optimyji ing effectiveness of R&D, increasing qualit and reducing the
costs of product manufacturing, reducing costs and enhancing the qualit . of our administrative
functions and improving business operations through investments in s stems and process
improvements;

e Monitoring both suppliers and customers for signs of liquidit . constraints, limiting e posure to
an’ resulting inabilit to .meet deliver . commitments or pa amounts due, and identif ing
alternate sources of suppl as necessar ; and

e Controlling Corporate costs, including costs incurred for asbestos and environmental matters,
pension and other post-retirement e penses and ta. e pense.
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Review of Business Segments

2011 2010 2009
Net Sales
Aerospace
Product ... .. $ 6494 $ 5868 $ 5,930
SEIVICE . i 4,981 4,815 4,833
Total. .. 11,475 10,683 10,763
Automation and Control Solutions
Product . ... 13,328 11,733 10,699
SeIVICE .o 2,207 2,016 1,912
Total. .. 15,5686 13,749 12,611
Performance Materials and Technologies
Product ... 5,064 4,449 3,895
SEIVICE .o 595 277 249
Total. .. e 5,659 4,726 4,144
Transportation S stems
Product ... 3,859 3,192 2,432
SeIVICE .ot
Total. . e 3,859 3,192 2,432
Corporate
Product ....... ...
SeIVICE .. i e 1 1
Total. .. 1 1

$36,529 $32,350 $29,951

Segment Profit

ABIOSPACE. . . e e ettt ettt e $ 2023 $ 1,83 $ 1,893
Automation and Control Solutions ....................... 2,083 1,770 1,588
Performance Materials and Technologies ................ 1,042 749 605
Transportation S stems ... 485 353 61
(@7 ] 00 - 1= (276) (222) (156)

$ 5357 $ 4,485 §$ 3,991

A reconciliation of segment profit to consolidated income from continuing operations before ta es
are as follo- s:
Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Segment Profit ... $ 5,357 $4,485 $3,991
Other income/ (& pense)(1) . ..o 33 69 28
Interest and other financial charges........................... (376) (386) (458)
Stock compensation e pense(2) ... (168) (163) (117)
Pension e pense ongoing(2) ........ouuiiiiii i (105) (185) (287)
Pension mark-to-market adjustment(2)........................ (1,802) (471) (741)
Other postretirement income/(e. pense)(2)...........ccoovvenn. 86 (29) 15
Repositioning and other charges (2) ...t (743) (598) (467)
Income from continuing operations before ta es............... $2,282 $2,722 $1,964

(1) Equit income/(loss) of affiliated companies is included in Segment Profit.

(2) Amounts included in cost of products and services sold and selling, general and administrative
e penses.
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increase in global fl ing hours, (ii) increased sales of avionics upgrades, and (iii) changes in
customer bu ing patterns relating to spare parts and maintenance activit .

e Business and general aviation OE sales increased b’ 41 percent in 2011 due to a rebound from
near trough levels in 2010 and strong demand in the business jet end market, favorable platform
mi , gro- th from acquisitions and 10~ er OEM Pa ments (as defined belo- ) during 2011,

e Business and general aviation aftermarket sales increased b 24 percent in 2011 primaril due
to increased sales of spare parts and revenue associated - ith maintenance service
agreements.

» Defense and space sales decreased b’ 2 percent in 2011 primarit  due to anticipated program
ramp do- ns, partiall offset b higher domestic and international aftermarket sales, increased
unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) shipments and the EMS acquisition (refer to Note 2).

Aerospace segment profit increased b 10 percent in 2011 compared "~ ith 2010 primarit due to
an.increase in operational segment profit of 9 percent and an increase of 1 percent due to I0~ er OEM
Pa ments made during 2011. The increase in operational segment profit is comprised of the positive
impact from higher commercial aftermarket demand, price and productivit , net of inflation, partialf
offset b research, development and engineering investments. Cost of goods sold totaled $8.7 billion in
2011, an increase of appra. imatef $566 million from 2010 ™~ hich is primarif a result of the factors
discussed above.

2010 compared with 2009 .

Aerospace sales decreased bl 1 percent in 2010 compared ™~ ith 2009 primarif due to a 1 percent
reduction of revenue related to amounts recoggi ed for pa ments to business and general aviation
original equipment manufacturers to partialf offset their pre-production costs associated " ith ne-
aircraft platforms (OEM Pa ments).

Details regarding the decrease in sales b customer end-markets are as fqlld" s:

e Air transport and regional original equipment (OE) sales decreased b 2 percent in 2010
primarif due to 10~ er sales to our air transport OE customers.

¢ Air transport and regional aftermarket.sales increased b 1 percent in 2010 primarif due to
increased sales of spare parts driven b’ the impact of increased fl ing hours of appro. imatel 6
percent in 2010.

¢ Business and general aviation OE sales decreased bi 27 percent in 2010 due to decreases in
ne~ business jet deliveries reflecting rescheduling and cancellations of deliveries b OE
customers in the first st months and the impact of the OEM Pa ments discussed above.

e Business and general aviation aftermarket sales increased bl 8 percent in 2010. primarif due to
increased sales of spare parts due to higher engine utiji ation, partialf offset b Io- er revenue
associated ™~ ith licensing and maintenance service agreements.

* Defense and space sales increased b 1 percent in 2010 primarit due to higher sales of
logistics services partialf offset b program "~ ind-do- ns and completions and 1o~ er sales
related to commercial helicopters.

Aerospace segment profit decreased b. 3 percent in 2010 compared to 2009 primaril due to a
negative 3 percent impact from the OEM pa ments, discussed above. Operational segment profit ™~ as
flat in 2010 ™ ith the appro imate positive 4 percent impact from.price and productivit , net of inflation
(including the absence of prior period labor cost actions offset b’ the benefits from prior repositioning
actions) offset b an appro imate negative 4 percent impact from 10~ er sales volume. Cost of goods
sold totaled $8.1 billion in 2010, unchanged from 2009.

2012 Areas of Focus
Aerospace’s primar areas of focus for 2012 include:

e Driving customer satisfaction through operational e cellence (product qualit , ¢ cle time
reduction, and supplier management);
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e Aligning research and development and customer support costs - ith customer requirements
and demand for ne~ platforms;

e E panding sales and operations in international locations;
e Global pursuit of neé~ defense and space programs;

e Focusing on cost structure initiatives to maintain profitabilit in face of potential defense and
space budget reductions and program specific appropriations;

e Continuing to design equipment that enhances the safet , performance and durabilit of
aerospace and.defense equipment, ~ hile reducing - eight and operating costs; and

e ‘Continued deplo’ ment and optimi ation of our common enterprise resource planning (ERP)
s stem.

Automation and Control Solutions (ACS)

Overview

ACS provides innovative products and solutions that make homes, buildings, industrial sites and
infrastructure more efficient, safe and comfortable. Our ACS products and services include controls for
heating, cooling, indoor air qualit , ventilation, humidification, lighting and home automation; advanced
soft- are applications for home/building control and optimi ation; sensors, s- itches, control s stems
and instruments for measuring pressure, air flo- , temperature and electrical current; securit , fire and
gas detection; personal protection equipment; access control; video surveillance; remote patient
monitoring s stems; products for automatic identification and data collection, installation, maintenance
and upgrades of s stems that keep buildings safe, comfortable and productive; and automation and
control solutions for industrial plants, including advanced. soft- are and automation s stems that
integrate, control and monitor comple. processes in man t pes of industrial settings as - ell as
equipment that controls, measures and anaf, es natural gas production and transportation.

In 2011,".e changed our presentation of ACS’s segment sales to better represent the ke' markets
served (Energ , Safet & Securit ; Process Solutions; Building Solutions & Distribution). Prior period
disclosure belo~ has been conformed to this presentation format.

Economic and Other Factors . )

ACS’s operating results are principalf driven b’ :

e Global commercial construction (including retrofits and upgrades);

e Demand for residential securit and environmental control retrofits and upgrades;

e Demand for energ efficient products and solutions;

e Industrial production;

e Government and public sector spending;

 Economic conditions and gro- th rates in developed (U.S. and Europe) and emerging markets;

e The strength of global capital and operating spending on process (including petrochemical and
refining) and building automation;

e Inventor levels in distribution channels; and

e Changes to energ, fire, securit , health care, safet and environmental concerns and
regulations.
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Automation and Control Solutions

2011 2010 Change 2009 Change
Netsales......................oiiiit. $15,635 $13,749 13% $12,611 9%
Cost of products and services sold ..... 10,448 9,312 8,561
Selling, general and administrative
€ PENSES. ...t 2,819 2,480 2,256
Other.....coovii 185 187 206
Segment profit............ ...l $ 2,083 $ 1,770 18% $ 1,588 11%
2011 vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
Segment Segment
Factors Contributing to Year-Over-Year Change Sales Profit Sales Profit
Organic gro- th/ Operational segment profit ............. 5% 9% 6% 9%
Foreigne change........ ... .. 2% 3% 0% 0%
Acquisitions and divestitures, net .................. ... 6% 6% 3% 2%
Total % Change ... 13% 18% 9% 1%

2011 compared with 2010

Automation and Control Solutions ( ACS4 sales increased b 13 percent in 2011 compared ™ ith
2010, primarit due to a.6 percent gro- th from acquisitions, net of divestitures, 5 percent increase in
organic revenue driven b increased sales volume and higher prices.and 2 percent favorable impact of
foreign e change through the first nine months partiall offset b’ the negative impact of foreign
e change in the fourth quarter. We e_pect sales gro'" th to continue to moderate in the first quarter of
2012 due to European economic conditions and the anticipated negative impact of foreign e change.

e Sales in.our Energ , Safet. & Securit businesses increased b 17 percent (6 percent
organicalt ) in 2011 principall due to (i) the positive impact of acquisitions (most significantk
Sperlan and EMS), net of divestitures (ii) higher sales volume due to general industrial recover
and ne~ product introductions and (iii) the favorable impact of foreign e change

e Sales in our Process Solutions increased 12 percent (6 percent organicall ) in 2011 prmmpalf
due to (i) increased volume reflecting conversion to sales from backlog (ii) the favorable impact
of foreign e change and (iii) the impact of acquisitions. Orders increased in 2011 compared to
2010 primarif driven b continued favorable macro trends in oil and gas infrastructure projects,
gro- th in emerging regions and the positive impact of forelgn e change.

e Sales in our Building Solutions & Distribution increased b’ 6 percent (4 percent organlcall ) in
2011 driven principall due to (i) volume gro- th in our Building Solutions business reflecting
conversion to sales from order backlog and increased sales volume in our Distribution business
(i) the favorable impact of foreign e change and (iii) the impact of acquisitions, net of
divestitures.

ACS segment profit increased b 18 percent in 2011 compared -~ ith 2010 due to a 9 percent
increase in operational segment profit, 6 percent increase from acquisitions, net of divestitures and 3
percent positive impact of foreign e change. The increase in operational segment profit is comprised of
an appro. imate 5 percent positive impact from price and productivit , net of inflation and investment for
gro- th and a 4 percent positive impact from higher sales volumes. Cost.of goods sold totaled $10.4
billion in 2011, an increase of appro imatet $1.1 billion ™ hich is primarit due to acquisitions, net of
divestitures, higher sales volume, foreign e change and inflation partialf offset b’ positive impact from
productivit .

2010 compared with 2009

ACS sales increased b 9 percent in 2010 compared - ith 2009, prlmarll due to a 6 percent
increase in organic revenue driven b’ increased sales volume and 3 percent gro* th from acquisitions.
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e Sales in our Energ , Safet & Securit businesses increased b 14 percent in 2010 primarit
reflecting higher sales volumes in our businesses tied to industrial production (environmental
and combustion controls, sensing and control, gas detection, personal protective equipment and
scanning and mobilit products), ne~ product introductions and acquisitions, primarit  Sperian.

e Sales in Process Solutions increased 7 percent in 2010 primarif due to the positive impact of
increased volume, acquisitions (primarif the RMG Group), higher prices and industrial field
solutions driven b order gro- th and conversion to sales from order backlog.

e Sales. in Building Solutions & Distribution increased by 3 percent in 2010 driven primarif b
energ efficienc projects and conversion to sales from order backlog.

ACS segment profit increased by 11 percent in 2010 compared  ith 2009 due to a 9 percent
increase in operational segment profit and 2 percent increase from acquisitions. The increase in
operational segment profit is comprised of an appra. imate 18 percent positive impact from higher sales
volume, partiall offset b an appro imate 9 percent negative impact from .inflation; net of price and
productivit (including the absence of prior period labor cost actions, partialf offset b’ the benefits of
prior repositioning). Cost of goods sold totaled $9.3 billion in 2010, an increase of appro. imatel $750
million ™~ hich is primarif as a result of the factors discussed above.

2012 Areas. of Focus

ACS’s primar areas of focus for.2012 include:

e Products and solutions for energ efficienc’ and asset management;

« E tending technolog leadership: 10~ est total installed cost and integrated product solutions;
e Defending and e tending our installed base through customer productivit and globa]i ation;
¢ Sustaining strong brand recognition through our brand and channel management;

e Continued centrali. ation and standardi ation of global soft- are development capabilities;

e Continuing to identif , e ecute and integrate acquisitions in or adjacent to the markets™ hich™ e
serve;

e Continuing to establish and grd~ emerging markets presence and capabilit ;
e Continuing to invest in né~ product development and introductions;

e Continued deplo ment and optimi ation of our common ERP s stem; and

e Increased focus on commercial and R&D effectiveness.

Performance Materials and Technologies (PMT)

Overview

During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Specialt Materials segment ™~ as renamed to Performance
Materials and Technologies (‘PMT’). PMT better reflects the businesses’ e. panded set of technolog
and product offerings that reach far be' ond the traditional scope associated ™~ ith specialt materials.

Performance Materials and Technologies develops and manufactures high-purit , high-qualit and
high-performance chemicals and materials for applications in the refining, petrochemical, automotive,
healthcare, agricultural, packaging, refrigeration, appliance, housing, semiconductor, ~a and
adhesives segments. Performance Materials and Technologies also provides process technolog ,
products and services for the petroleum refining, gas processing, petrochemical, rene- able energ and
other industries. Performance Materials and Technologies’ product portfolio includes.fluorocarbons,
h drofluoroolefins, caprolactam, resins, ammonium sulfate for fertli er, phenol, specialt films," a_es,
additives, advanced fibers, customi ed research chemicals and intermediates, electronic materials and
chemicals, cataf sts, and adsorbents.

Economic and Other Factors . .
Performance Materials and Technologies operating results are principalf driven b’ :
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e Level and timing of capital spending and capacit and utji ation rates in refining and
petrochemical end markets;

e Pricing volatilit and industr suppf conditions for ra- materials such as cumene, fluorspar,
perchloroeth’ lene, R240, natural gas, sulfur. and eth' lene;

e Impact of environmental and energ efficienc regulations;

e E tent of change in order rates from global semiconductor customers;

e Global demand for non-9 one depleting H dro fluorocarbons (HFCs);

¢ Condition of the U.S. residential housing and non residential industries and automotive demand;
¢ Global demand for caprolactam and ammonium sulfate; and

e Demand for né~ products including rene- able energ and biofuels.

Performance Materials and Technologies

2m 2010  Change 2009  Change
Netsales ..., $5,659 $4,726 20%  $4,144 14%
Cost of products and services sold......... 4,151 3,554 3,127
Selling, general and administrative
€ PENSES ...t 420 345 345
Other ... 46 78 67
Segment profit ........... .. $1,042 $ 749 39% $ 605 24%
2011 vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
Segment Segment
Factors Contributing to Year-Over-Year Change Sales Profit Sales Profit
Organic gro- th/Operational segment profit .............. 16% 38% 14% 25%
Foreigne change.......... ... i, 1% 1% 0% (1)%
Acquisitions and divestitures, net .................. ... .. 3% 0% 0% 0%
Total % Change ... 20% 39% 14% 24%

2011 compared with. 2010

PMT sales increased b’ 20 percent in 2011 compared ™ ith 2010 due to a 16 percent increase in
organic gro-th, 3 percent gro- th from acquisitions, and a 1 percent favorable impact of foreign
e change.

e Advanced Materials sales increased b’ 18 percent (12 percent organicall ) in 2011 compared to
2010 primarif driven b'. (i) a 33 percent (18 percent organicall ) increase in Resins and
Chemicals sales primarif due to higher prices driven b strong Asia demand, agricultural
demand, formula pricing arrangements and increased sales resulting from the acquisition of a
phenol plant, partiall offset b’ decreased volumes primaril due to disruptions in phenol suppf
and ™~ eather related events, (i) a 10 percent increase in our Fluorine Products business due to
higher pricing reflecting robust global demand and tight industr suppf. conditions primarif -in
the first half of the * ear, - hich moderated in' the second half of the * ear due to seasonalf
"~ eaker demand and increased available capacit in the marketplace, (iii) a 12 percent increase
in Specialt Products sales primarit due to higher sales volume in our armor, additives, and
healthcare packaging products, and commercial e cellence initiatives. We e pect Advanced
Materials sales gro- th to continue to moderate during the first half of 2012 due to slo- ing global
demand and o~ er prices resulting from increased availabilit of refrigerants suppt .

e UOP sales increased bb 24 percent in 2011 compared to 2010 primarif driven b increased
service, and licensing revenues and higher unit sales of refining and specialt catal sts,
primarif reflecting continued strength in the refining and petrochemical industries.

PMT segment profit increased b 39 percent in 2011 compared "~ jth 2010 due to a 38 percent
increase in operational segment profit and a 1 percent favorable impact of foreign e change. The
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increase in operational segment profit is primaril  due to the favorable price to ra~ materials spread in
Resins and Chemicals and Fluorine Products and higher service, product and licensing revenues in
UOP, partiall offset b continued investment in gro- th and plant optimyi ation initiatives. Cost of goods
sold totaled $4.2 billion in 2011, an increase of appro imatet $597 million ™~ hich is primarit due to
volume, material inflation, the phenol plant acquisition and continued investment in gro- th initiatives.

2010 compared with 2009

PMT sales increased b 14 percent in 2010 compared = ith 2009 predominantt due to organic
v
gro- th.

e Advanced Materials sales increased b 23 percent in 2010 compared to 2009 primarit  driven b
(i) a 29 percent increase in Resins and Chemicals sales primarif due to higher prices driven b
strong Asia demand, formula pricing arrangements and agricultural demand, (ii) a 21 percent
increase in Specialt Products sales most significantf due to higher sales volume to our
semiconductor, specialt additives, advanced fiber industrial applications and specialt
chemicals customers, (iii) a 19 percent increase in our Fluorine Products business due to
higher sales volume from increased demand for our refrigerants, insulating materials and
industrial processing aids.

e UOP.sales decreased b’ 1 percent in 2010 compared to 2009 primarif driven b’ |6~ er né~ unit
catal st sales and timing of projects activit in the refining and petrochemical industries, partialf
offset b’ increased gas processing equipment sales.

Wy

PMT segment profit increased bi 24 percent in 2010 compared =~ ith 2009 due to a 25 percent
increase in operational segment profit. The increase in operational segment profit is primarif due to a
24 percent positive impact from higher sales volumes. The positive impact from price and productivit
- as offset b’ the negative impact from inflation (including the absence of prior period labor cost
actions). Cost of goods sold totaled $3.6 billion in 2010, an increase of appro_imatet $400 million
" hich is primarit as a result of the factors discussed above.

2012 Areas of Focus .
Performance Materials and Technologies primar areas of focus for 2012 include: .

e Continuing to develop neé~ processes, products and technologies that address energ efficienc ,
the environment and securit , as ™ ell as position the portfolio for higher value;

e Commerciali ing ne- products and technologies in the petrochemical, gas processing and
refining industries and rene- able energ  sector;

e Investing to increase plant capacit and reliabilit and improving productivit and qualit through
operational e cellence;

» Driving sales and marketing e_cellence and e panding local presence in fast gra- ing emerging
markets; and

e Managing e posure to ra- material price and suppl fluctuations through evaluation of
alternative sources of suppl and contractual arrangements.

Transportation Systems

Overview

Transportation S stems provides automotive products that improve the performance and
efficienc of cars, trucks, and other vehicles through state-of-the-art technologies, ™~ orld class brands
and global solutions to customers’ needs. Transportation S' stems’ products include turbochargers and
thermal s stems; and friction materials (Bendi (R) and Jurid(R)) and brake hard parts. Transportation
S stems sells its products to original equipment ( OPY automotive and truck manufacturers (e.g.,
BMW, Caterpillar, Daimler, Renault, Ford, and Volks- agen),"" holesalers and distributors and through
the retail aftermarket.
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Economic and _Other Factors . .

Transportation S’ stems operati_ng results are principalf driven b :

e Financial strength and stabilit of automotive OE manufacturers;

e Global demand, particularf in Western Europe, for automobile and truck production;
e Turbo penetration rates for ne~ engine ,p_latforms;

e Global consumer preferences, particulart in Western Europe, for boosted diesel passenger
cars;

e Degree of volatilit in ra~ material prices, including nickel and steel;

e Ne- automobile production rates and the impact of inventor levels of automotive OE
manufacturers on demand for our products;

* Regulations mandating 10~ er emissions and improved fuel econom ;
e Consumers’ abilit to obtain financing for né= vehicle purchases; and

e Impact of factors such as consumer confidence on automotive aftermarket demand.

Transportation systems

2011 2010 Change 2009 Change
Netsales ..., $3,859 $3,192 21% $2,432 31%
Cost of products and services sold......... 3,174 2,641 2,190
Selling, general and administrative
€ PENSES ..t 161 149 141
Other ... 39 49 40
Segment profit ........... .. $ 485 $ 353 37% $ 61 479%
2011 vs. 2010 2010 vs. 2009
Segment Segment
Factors Contributing to Year-Over-Year Change Sales Profit Sales Profit
Organic gro- th/Operational segment profit .............. 16% 32% 33%  490%
Foreigne change.......... ... i, 5% 5% (2% (A1)%
Total % Change ... 21% 37% 31%  479%

2011 compared with 2010

Transportation S’ stems sales increased b’ 21 percent in 2011 compared - ith the 2010 primarit
due to a 16 percent increase in organic revenue driven by increased sales volume and a favorable
impact of foreign e change of 5 percent.

The sales increase in 2011 as compared ™~ ith 2010 ™~ as primarit driven b (i) increased
turbocharger sales to both light vehicle and commercial vehicle engine manufacturers primarit  due to
ne- platform launches and strong diesel penetration. rates in"Western Europe and (i) the favorable
impact of foreign e change. We e pect turbocharger ‘ ear over‘ ear sales gro- th rate to moderate in
the first quarter of 2012 primarit due to reduced European light vehicle production and the anticipated
negative impact of foreign e change.

Transportation S stems segment profit increased by 37 percent in 2011 compared " ith 2010 due
to a 32 percent increase in operational segment profit and a 5 percent favorable impact of foreign
e change. The increase in operational segment profit is comprised of an appro imate 25 percent
positive impact from productivit , net of inflation and price, and 7 percent positive impact from higher
sales 'volumes. Cost of goods sold totaled $3.2 billion in 2011, an increase of $533 million " hich is
primarif a result of higher sales volume, foreign e change and inflation, partialf offset b’ positive
impact from productivit .
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2010 compared with 2009

Transportation S stems sales increased b 31 percent in 2010 compared  ith the 2009, primarit
due to a 33 percent increase in organic revenue driven b’ increased sales volume, partialf offset by
an unfavorable impact of foreign e change of 2 percent. _

The sales increase in 2010 as compared ~ ith 2009 *~ as primarif due to increased turbocharger
sales to both light vehicle and commercial vehicle engine manufacturers partiall offset b’ the negative
impacts of foreign e change. .

Transportation S stems segment profit increased b $292 million in 2010 compared "~ ith 2009
predominantf due to the positive impact from increased sales volume. Cost of goods sold totaled $2.6
billion in 2010, an increase of appro. imatel  $450 million ™ hich is also primarif a result of increased
sales volume.

2012 Areas of Focus _

Transportation S stems primar areas of focus in 2012 include:

e Sustaining superior turbocharger technolog through successful platform launches;

e Maintaining the high qualit of current products ™ hile e ecuting né~ product introductions;
e Increasing global penetration and share of diesel and gasoline turbocharger OEM demand;

e Addressing capacit challenges and improving cost structure through increasing plant
productivit and e pansion of global manufacturing footprint;

« Aligning cost structure ™~ ith current economic outlook, and successful e ecution of repositioning
actions; and

e Aligning development efforts and costs "~ ith neé~ turbo platform launch schedules.

Repositioning and Other Charges

See Note 3 to the financial statements for a discussion of repositioning and other charges incurred
in 2011, 2010, and 2009. Our repositioning actions are e pected to generate incremental preta
savings of appra imatef $150 million in 2012 compared "~ ith 2011 principalf from.planned™ orkforce
reductions. Cash e penditures for severance and other e it costs necessar to e ecute our
repositioning actions - ere $159, $147, and $193 million in 2011, 2010, and.2009, respectivel . Such
e penditures for severance and other e it costs have been funded principalf through operating cash
flo- s. Cash e penditures for severance and other costs necessar to e ecute the remaining actions
are e_pected to be appro_imatel $150 million in 2012 and™ ill be funded through operating cash flo- s.

The' follo- ing tables provide details of the preta. impact of total net repositioning and other
charges b segment.

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Aerospace
Net repositioning charge .............................. $29 $32 $31
Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Automation and Control Solutions
Net repositioning charge ............................. 191 $79 $70
Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Performance Materials and Technologies
Net repositioning charge .............................. $41 $18 $9



Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Transportation Systems
Net repositioning charge ........................... $ 82 $ 20 $ 50
Asbestos related litigation charges, net of insurance . 146 158 112
$208  $178  $162
Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009
Corporate
Net repositioning charge ........................... $ 11 $ $
Asbestos related litigation charges, net of insurance . 3 17 43
Probable and reasonabl estimable environmental
liabilities............ooo 240 212 145
Other. ... o 62 7
$254 $291 $195
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Compan’ continues to manage its businesses to ma imi e operating cash flo- s as the
primar source ‘of liquidit . In addition to our available cash and operating cash flo- s, additional
sources of liquidit include committed credit lines, short-term debt from the commercial paper-market,
long-term borrd- ings, and access to the public debt and equit markets, as ™ ell as the abilit to sell
trade accounts receivables. We continue to balance our cash and financing uses through investment in
our e isting core businesses, acquisition activit , share repurchases and dividends.

Cash Flow Summary

Our cash flo- s from operating, investing and financing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flo- s for the ‘ ears ended 2011, 2010 and 2009, are summayi ed as follo~ s:

. 2011 2010 2009
Cash provided b’ (used for):

Operating activities .. ... $2,833 $4,203 $ 3,946
Investing activities. .. ... (611) (2,269) (1,133)
Financing activities .......... ..o i (1,114) (2,047) (2,152)
Effect of e change rate changesoncash ................... (60) (38) 75
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ....... $1,048 $ (151) $ 736

2011 compared with 2010

Cash provided b operating activities .decreased b’ $1,370 million during 2011 compared * ith
2010 primarif due to i) increased voluntar cash contributions of $1,050 million to our U.S. pension
plans, ii) an unfavorable impact from decreased deferred ta_es (e cluding the impact of cash ta es) of
appro imatef $710 million, and iii) higher cash ta. pa ments of appro_imatef $500 million, partialf
offset b an $863 million increase of net income before the non-cash pension mark-to-market
adjustment.

Cash used for investing activities decreased b’ $1,658 million during 2011 compared "~ ith 2010
primaril  due to an increase in proceeds from sale of businesses of $1,149 million (most significantt
the divestiture of the Consumer Products Group business and the automotive on-board sensor
products business " ithin our Automation and Control Solutions segment), a decrease in cash paid for
acquisitions of $330 million, and a net $315 million decrease in investments of short-term marketable
securities.

Cash used for financing activities decreased by $933 million during 2011 compared to 2010
primarif  due to an increase in the net proceeds from debt of $1,734 million-and a decrease of $293
million in the pa ment of debt assumed - ith acquisitions, partialf offset b’ an increase of $1,085
million of repurchases of common stock.

2010 compared with 2009

Cash provided b operating activities increased b $257 million during 2010 compared ™ ith 2009
primaril  due to i) increased accrued e penses of $690 million (due to increased customer advances
and incentive compensation accruals), ii) a $550 million impact from increased deferred ta es
(e-cluding the impact of cash ta es), iii) increased net income of $474 million, iv) Io- er cash ta
pa ments of appra imatet - $300 million and v) a $219 million decrease in pa ments for repositioning
and other charges, partialf offset b a i) $1,059 unfavorable impact from - orking capital driven b
higher receivables and increased purchases of ra~ materials and component inventor to support
higher demand, partialf offset b’ a corresponding increase to accounts pa able, ii) increased pension
and other postretirement pa ments of $598 million and iii) the absence of $155 million sale of long-
term receivables in 2009.

Cash used for investing activities increased b’ $1,136 million during 2010 compared "~ ith 2009
primarit  due to an increase in cash paid for acquisitions of $835 million (most significantf Sperian
Protection), and a net $341 million increase in investments in short-term marketable securities.
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Cash used for financing activities decreased b $105 million during 2010 compared - ith 2009
primarif due to a decrease in the net repa ment of debt (including commercial paper) of $287 million
and an increase in the proceeds from the issuance of common stock, primarif related to stock option
e ercises of $158 million, partialf offset by the repa ment of $326 million of debt assumed in the
acquisition of Sperian Protection.

Liquidity
Each of our busmesses is focused on implementing strategles to increase operating cash flo- s

through revenue gro* th, margin e pansion and improved orking capital turnover. Considering the
current economic environment in* hich each of the businesses operate and their business plans and
strategies, including the focus on gro- th, cost reduction and productivit initiatives, the Compary
believes that cash balances and operating cash flo~ s are the principal source of liquidit . In addition to
the available cash and operating cash flo- s, additional sources of liquidit include committed credit
lines, short term debt from the commercial paper markets, long-term borro- ings, and access to the
public debt and equit markets, as™ ell as the-abilit to sell trade accounts receivables. At December
31, 2011, a substantial portion of the Compan ’s cash and cash equivalents "~ ere held b foreign
subsidiaries. If the amounts held outside of the U.S.™ ere to be repatriated, under current la- , the
" ould be subject to U.S. federal income ta_es, less applicable foreign ta  credits. Ho~ ever, our intent
is to permanentl reinvest these funds outside of the U.S. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of
ta that might be pa able if some or all of such earnings ™ ere to be repatriated, and the amount of
foreign ta_ credits that™= ould be available to reduce or eliminate the resulting U.S. income ta_ liabilit .

A source of liquidit is our abilit to issue short-term debt in the commercial paper market.
Commercial paper notes are sold at a discount and have a maturit of not more than 365 da s from
date of issuance. Borrd- ings under the commercial paper program are available for general corporate
purposes as - ell as for financing potential acquisitions. There ~ as $599 million of commercial paper
outstanding at December 31, 2011.

Our-abilit to access the commercial paper market, and the related cost of these borro- ings, is
affected b . the strength of our credit rating and market conditions. Our credit ratings are periodicall
revie- ed b the major independent debt-rating agencies. As of December 31, 2011, Standard and
Poor's (S&P), Fitch, and Mood ’s have ratings-on our long-term debt of A, A and A2 respectivel , and
short-term debt of A-1, F1 and P1 respectivel . S&P, Fitch and Mood ’s have Hone™: ell’s rating
outlook as stablew To date, the compan’ has not e perienced an' limitations in our abilit to access
these sources of liquidit .

We also have a current shelf registration statement filed ™~ ith the Securities and E. change
Commission under ™~ hich™ e ma issue additional debt securities, common stock and preferred stock
that ma be offered in one or more offerings on terms to be determined at the time of the offering. Net
proceeds of an offering "~ ould be used for general corporate purposes, including repa ment of
e isting indebtedness, capital e penditures and acquisitions.

As a source of liquidit ," e sell interests in designated pools of trade accounts receivables to third
parties. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, none of the receivables in the designated pools had been
sold to third parties. When -~ e sell receivables, the are over-collaterali ed and -~ e retain a
subordinated interest in the pool of receivables representing that over-collatera]i ation as ™ ell as an
undivided interest in the balance of the receivables pools. The terms of the trade accounts receivable
program permit the repurchase of receivables from the third parties at our discretion, providing us ~.ith
an additional source of revolving credit. As a result, program receivables remain on the Compan'’s
balance sheet - ith a corresponding amount recorded as either Short-term borrg- ings or Long-term
debt.

In Februar 2011, the Compan issued $800 million 4.25% Senior Notes due 2021 and $600
million 5.375% Senior Notes due 2041 (collectivef , the Notes'-) The Notes. are senior unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of Hone ™ ell and rank equalf - ith all of Hone' ™~ ell’s e_isting and future
senior unsecured debt and senior to all ‘of Hone ™ ell’s subordinated debt. The offering resulted in
gross proceeds of $1,400 million, offset b¥ $19 million in discount and closing costs related to the
offering.
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In the first quarter of 2011, the Compan’ repurchased the entire outstanding principal amount of
its $400 million 5.625% Notes due 2012 via a cash tender offer and a subsequent optional redemption.
The costs relating to the eart  redemption of the Notes, including the make~ hole premiuney*~ as $29
million.

In March 2011, the Compan’ entered into a $2,800 million Five Year Credit Agreement ( Credit
Agreementy - ith a s’ ndicate of banks. Commitments under the Credit Agreement can be increased
pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement to an aggregate amount not to e ceed $3,500 million.
The Credit Agreement is maintained for general corporate purposes, including support for the issuance
of commercial paper, and replaces the previous $2,800 million five * ear credit agreement dated Ma
14, 2007 ( Prior Agreementy. At December 31, 2011, there ™~ ere no.borrd- ings.or letters of credit
issued under the credit facilit . The credit facilit does not restrict Hone ™~ ell’s abilit to pa dividends,
nor does it contain financial covenants.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Compan repaid $500 million of its 6.125% notes at maturit .
The repa ment ™ as funded - ith cash provided b’ operating activities.

. We monitor the third-part depositor institutions that hold our cash and cash equivalents on a
daif basis. Our emphasis is primarif on safet of principal and secondarif on ma imi ing * ield on
those funds. We diversif our cash and cash equivalents among counterparties to minimi e e posure
to an one of these entities. .

Global economic conditions or a tightening of credit markets could adversel affect our customers’
or suppliers’ abilit to obtain financing, particulart in our long-c cle businesses and airline and
automotive end markets. Customer or supplier .bankruptcies, delg’ s in their abilit to obtain financing,
or the unavailabilit of financing could adversel affect our cash flo- or results of operations. To date
"~ e have not e perienced material impacts from customer or supplier bankruptc or liquidit issues. We
continue to monitor and take measures to limit our e. posure.

‘In Februar 2011, the Board of Directors authai ed the repurchase of up to a total of $3 billion of
Hone - ell common stock. During 2011, the. Compan’ repurchased $1,085 million of outstanding
shares to offset the dilutive impact of emplo ee stock based compensation plans, including future
option e_ercises, restricted unit vesting and matching contributions under our savings plans (see Part
I, Item 5 for share repurchases in the fourth quarter of 2011).

In JuF 2011, the Compan’ sold its Consumer Products Group business (CPG) to Rank Group
Limited. The sale™as completed for appro. imatel - $955 million in cash proceeds, resulting in a pre-ta.
gain of appro_imatef $301 million and appro_ imatef $178 million net of ta_ . The gain™ as recorded in
net income from -discontinued operations after ta_ es in the Compan’ ’s Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the " ear ended December 31, 2011. The net income attributable to the non-controlling
interest for the ‘discontinued operations is insignificant. The sale of CPG, ™~ hich had been part of the
Transportation S’ stems segment, is consistent - ith the Compan' ’s strategic focus on its portfolio of
differentiated global technologies. See Acquisitions and Divestitures in Note 2 to the financial
statements for further discussion.

In August 2011, the Compan’ completed the acquisition of EMS, a leading provider of connectivit
solutions for mobile net- orking, rugged mobile computers and satellite communications. The
aggregate value, net of cash acquired, - as appro. imatef $513 million. See Acquisitions and
Divestitures in Note 2 to the financial statements for further discussion.

In December 2011, the Compan acquired King’s Safet ™~ ear Limited (KSW), a leading
international .provider of branded safet foot- ear. The aggregate value, net of cash acquired, ~ as
appro. imatef  $331 million (including the assumption of debt of $33 million). See Acquisitions and
Divestitures in Note 2 to the financial statements for further discussion.

During 2011, the Compan’ made voluntar cash contributions to its U.S. pension plans of $1,650
million to improve the funded status of our plans.

In addition to our normal operating cash requirements, our principal future cash requirements ™ ill
be to fund capital e penditures, debt repa ments, dividends, emplo ee benefit obligations,
environmental remediation costs, asbestos claims, severance and e it costs related to repositioning
actions, share repurchases and anr strategic acquisitions.
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Specificall , "~ e e pect our primar cash requirements in 2012 to be as follo- s:

e Capital e penditures ,t e e pect to spend appro. imatef $1.1 billion for capital e penditures in
2012 primarif for gro‘L th, production and capacit e pansion, cost reduction, maintenance, and
replacement.

e Share repurchases Under the Compar ’s previoust reported $3 billion share repurchase
program, $1.9 billion remained. available as of December 31, 2011 for additional share
repurchases. Hone ™ ell presentl e pects to repurchase outstanding shares from time to time
during 2012 to offset the dilutive impact of emplo ee stock based compensation plans, including
future option e_ercises, restricted unit vesting and matching contributions under our savings
plans. The amount and timing of future repurchases ma var depending on market conditions
and the level of operating, financing and other investing activities.

e Dividends "~ e e pect to pa appra imatef $1.2 billion in dividends on our common stock in
2012, reflecting the 12 percent increase in the dividend rate effective ™~ ith the fourth quarter
2011 dividend.

« Asbestos claims " e e pect our cash spending. for asbestos claims and our cash receipts for
related insurance recoveries to be appro_imatet $240 and $75 million, respectivel , in 2012.
See Asbestos Matters in Note 21 to the financial statements for further discussion of possible
funding obligations in 2012 related to the Narco Trust.

e Pension contributions In 2012, e plan to make cash contributions of $800 million to $1 billion
($250 million™ as made in Januar 2012) to our plans to improve the funded status of the plans.
These contributions principalf consist of voluntar. contributions to our U.S. plans. The timing
and amount of contributions ma be impacted b a number of factors, including the funded
status of the plans.

e Repositioning actions e e pect that cash spending for severance and other e it costs
necessar to e ecute the previoust announced repositioning actions ™~ ill appro.imate $150
million in 2012.

e Environmental remediation costs "~ e e pect to spend appro.imatel $300 million in 2012 for
remedial response and voluntar clean-up costs. See Environmental Matters in Note 21 to the
financial statements for additional information.

We continuousf assess the relative strength of each business in our portfolio as to strategic fit,
market position, profit and cash flo~ contribution in order to upgrade our combined .portfolio and
identif business units that ™~ ill most benefit from increased investment. We identif acquisition
candidates that " ill further our strategic plan and strengthen our e_isting core businesses. We also
identif businesses that do not fit into our long-term strategic plan based on their market position,
relative profitabilit or gro‘" th potential. These businesses are considered for potential divestiture,
restructuring or other repositioning actions subject to regulator constraints. In 2011™ e reai ed $1,156
million in cash proceeds from sales of non-strategic businesses.

Based on past performance and current e pectations, - e believe that our operating cash flo- s™ il
be sufficient to meet our future operating cash needs. Our available cash, committed credit lines,



Contractual Obligations and Probable Liability Payments

Follo- ing is a summar of our significant contractual obligations and probable liabilit pa ments at
December 31, 2011:

Payments by Period

2013- 2015-
Total(6) 2012 2014 2016 Thereafter

Long-term debt, including capita]i ed

leases(1) . ..oviiini i $68% $ 15 $1,241 $ 456 $5,184
Interest pa ments on long-term debt,

including capitali ed leases ............ 2,836 258 420 357 1,801
Minimum operating lease pa ments ...... 1,213 311 432 227 243
Purchase obligations(2)...... P 1,566 1,086 294 122 64
Estimated environmental liabilit

pa ments(3) ...... F 723 300 285 110 28
Asbestos related liabilit pa ments(4) .... 1,736 237 805 460 234
Asbestos insurance recoveries(5) ........ 780 71 205 122 382

$15,750 $2,278 $3,682 $1,854 $7,936

(1) Assumes all long-term debt is outstanding until scheduled maturit .

(2) Purchase obligations are entered into "~ ith various vendors in the normal course of business and
are consistent ~ ith our e. pected requirements.

(3) The pa ment amounts in the table ont reflect the environmental liabilities ™ hich are probable and
reasonabl estimable as of December 31, 2011. See Environmental Matters in Note 21 to the
financial statements for additional information.

(4) These amounts are estimates of asbestos related cash pa ments. for NARCO and Bendi based
on our asbestos related liabilities™ hich are probable and reasonabl estimable as of December 31,
2011. E_ cept for amounts due upon the effective date of the NARCO Plan of Reorgani ation ($76
million), = e have assumed funding for the NARCO Trust™ ill occur in 2013 and be’ ond. Projecting
the timing of NARCO pa ments is dependent on, among other things, the effective date of the
Trust™ hich could cause the timing of pa ments to be earlier or later than that projected. Projecting
future events is subject to man’ uncertainties that could cause asbestos liabilities to be higher or
Io- er than those projected and recorded. See Asbestos Matters in Note 21 to the financial
statements for additional information.

(5) These amounts represent our insurance recoveries that are deemed probable for asbestos related
liabilities as of December 31, 2011. The timing of insurance recoveries are impacted by the terms
of insurance settlement agreements, as - ell as the documentation, revie- and collection process
required to collect on insurance claims. Where probable insurance recoveries are not subject to
definitive settlement agreements - ith specified pa ment dates, but instead are covered b
insurance policies, ~ e have assumed. collection ™~ ill occur be’ ond 2016. Projecting the timing of
insurance recoveries is subject to man’ uncertainties that could cause the amounts collected to be
higher or 10~ er than those projected and recorded or could cause the timing of collections to be
earlier or later than that projected. We reevaluate our projections concerning insurance recoveries
in light of an’ changes or developments that ™ ould impact recoveries or the timing thereof. See
Asbestos Matters in Note 21 to the financial statements for additional information.

(6) The table e cludes $815 million of uncertain ta. positions. See Note 6 to the financial statements.

The table also e cludes our pension and other postretirement benefits (OPEB) obligations. In
2012, "= e plan to make cash contributions of $800 million to $1 billion ($250 million - as made: in
Januar 2012) to our plans to improve the funded status of the plans. These contributions principall
consist of voluntar contributions to our U.S. plans. The timing and amount of. contributions ma  be
impacted b’ a number of factors, including the funded status of the plans. Be ond 2012, the actual
amounts required to be contributed are dependent upon, among other things, interest rates, undert ing
asset returns and the impact of legislative or regulator actions related to pension funding obligations.
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Pa ments due under our OREB plans are not required to be funded in advance, but are paid as
medical costs are incurred b covered retiree populations, and are principalf. dependent upon the
future cost of retiree medical benefits under our plans. We e pect our OPEB pa ments to appro. imate
$167 million in 2012 net of the benefit of appra imatef $13 million from the Medicare prescription
subsid . See Note 22 to the financial statements for further discussion of our pension and OPEB plans.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Follo- ing is a summar of our off-balance sheet arrangements:

Guarantees We have issued or are a part to the follo~ ing direct and indirect guarantees at
December 31, 2011:

Maximum

Potential
Future

Payments
Operating lease residual values ..., $43
Other third parties’ financing ... e 5
Unconsolidated affiliates’ financing ............ ... o i i, 12
Customer fiNnanCiNg . ... ... oo 13

$73
We do not e pect that these guarantees ™~ ill have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
results of operations, financial position or liquidit .

In connection  ith the disposition of certain businesses and facilities ~ e have indemnified the
purchasers for the e pected cost of remediation of environmental contamination, if an' , e isting on the
date of disposition. Such e pected costs are accrued ™~ hen environmental assessments are made or
remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonabl estimated.

Environmental Matters
We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign government requirements relating to the



Remedial response and voluntar cleanup costs charged against preta earnings™ ere $240, $225
and $151 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel . At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the recorded
Iiabilities for environmental matters = as $723 and $753 million, respectivel” .. In addition, in 2011 and
2010 - e’ incurred operating costs for ongoing businesses of appro imatel $102 and $86 million,
respectivef , relating to compliance - “ith environmental regulations.

Remedial response and voluntar cleanup pa ments ~ ere $270, $266.and $318 million in 2011,
2010 and 2009, respectivel , and are currentt estimated to be appro_imatef $300 million in 2012. We
e pect to fund such e penditures from operating cash flo- .

Although™ e do not currentt possess sufficient information to reasonabl estimate the amounts of
liabilities to be recorded upon future completion of studies, litigation or settlements, and neither the
timing nor the amount of the ultimate costs associated - ith environmental matters can be determined,
the’ could be material to our consolidated results of operations or operating cash ro* s in the periods
recogni ed or paid. Ho- ever considering our past e perience and e_isting reserves,~ e do not e_pect
that environmental matters ™~ ill have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position.

See Note 21 to the financial statements for a discussion of our commitments and contingencies,
including those related to environmental matters and to, ic tort litigation.

Financial Instruments

As a result of our global operating. and financing activities, - e are.e posed to market risks from
changes in interest and foreign currenc e change rates and commodit prices, ~ hich ma adversef
affect -our operating results and financial position. We minimi e our risks from interest and foreign
currenc e change rate and commodit price fluctuations through our normal operating and financing
activities and, ~ hen deemed appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. We do
not use derivative financial instruments for trading. or other speculative purposes and do not use
leveraged derivative financial instruments. A summar  of our accounting policies for derivative financial
instruments is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. We also hold investments in marketable
equit securities, - hich e poses us to market volatilit , as discussed in Note 16 to the financial
statements.

We conduct our business on a multinational basis in a ™ ide variet of foreign currencies. Our
e posure to market risk from changes in foreign currenc e change rates arises from international
financing activities bet- een subsidiaries, foreign currenc  denominated monetar assets and liabilities
and anticipated transactions arising from international trade. Our objective is to preserve the economic
value of non-functional currenc cash flo- s. We attempt to hedge transaction e posures "~ ith natural
offsets to the fullest e tent possible and, once these opportunities have been e hausted, through
foreign currenc for- ard and option agreements "~ ith third parties. Our principal currenc e posures
relate to the U.S. dollar, Euro, British pound, Canadian dollar, Hong Kong dollar, Me_ican peso, S- iss
franc, ¢ ech koruna, Chinese renminbi, Indian rupee, Singapore dollar, S~ edish krona, Korean* on
and Thai baht.

Our e posure to market risk from changes in interest rates relates primaril to our net debt and
pension obligations. As described in Notes 14 and 16 to the financial statements, ™ e issue both fi ed
and variable rate debt and use interest rate s~ aps to manage our e_posure to interest rate movements
and reduce overall borro- ing costs.

Financial instruments, including derivatives, e pose us to counterpart credit risk for nonperfor-
mance and to market risk related to changes in interest or currenc e change rates. We manage our
e posure to counterpart credit risk through specific minimum credit standards, diversification of
counterparties, and procedures to monitor concentrations of credit risk. Our counterparties are
substantial investment and commercial banks " ith significant e perience using such derivative
instruments. We monitor the impact of market risk on the fair value.and e pected future cash flo- s of
our derivative and other financial instruments considering reasonabl possible changes in interest and
currenc e change rates and restrict the use of derivative financial instruments to hedging activities.

The follo- ing table -illustrates the potential change in fair value for interest rate sensitive
instruments based on a h pothetical immediate one-percentage-point increase in interest rates across
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all maturities, the potential change in fair value for foreign e change rate sensitive instruments based
on a 10 percent - eakening of the U.S. dollar versus local currenc e change rates across all
maturities, and the potential change in fair value of contracts hedging commodit purchases based on
a 20 percent decrease in the price of the underf ing commodit across all maturities at December 31,
2011 and 2010.

Estimated
Increase
Face or (Decrease)
Notional Carrying Fair in Fair
Amount  Value(1)  Value(1) Value
December 31, 2011
Interest Rate Sensitive Instruments
Long-term debt (including current maturities) ............ $6,896 $(6,896) $(7,896) $(578)
Interest rate s~ ap agreements ......................... 1,400 134 134 (74)
Foreign Exchange Rate Sensitive Instruments
Foreign currenc e change contracts(2)................. 7,108 (26) (26) 274
Commodity Price Sensitive Instruments
For~ ard commodit contracts(3)............c.ouevueen... 59 (9) (9) (10)
December 31, 2010
Interest Rate Sensitive Instruments
Long-term debt (including current maturities) ............ $6,278 $(6,278) $(6,835)  $(399)
Interest rate s~ ap agreements ......................... 600 22 22 (18)
Foreign Exchange Rate Sensitive Instruments
Foreign currenc e change contracts(2)................. 5,733 2 2 102
Commodity Price Sensitive Instruments
For- ard commodit contracts(3)........................ 23 (4)

(1) Asset or (Iiabilit‘. )-

(2) Changes in the fair value of foreign currenc e change contracts are offset b’ changes in the fair
value or cash flo~ s of underl ing hedged foreign currenc transactions.

(3) Changes. in the fair value of for= ard commodit contracts are offset b changes in the cash flo~ s
of undert ing hedged commodit transactions.

The above discussion of our procedures to monitor market risk and the estimated changes in fair
value resulting from our sensitivit anaf ses are for- ard-looking statements of market risk assuming
certain adverse market conditions occur. Actual results in the future ma differ materialf from these
estimated results due to actual developments in the global financial markets. The methods used b us
to assess and mitigate risk discussed above should not be considered projections of future events.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance - ith generall  accepted
accounting principles is based on the selection and application of accounting policies that require us to
make significant estimates and assumptions about the effects of matters that are inherentf uncertain.
We consider the accounting policies discussed belo~ to be critical to the understanding of our financial
statements. Actual results could differ from our estimates and assumptions, and an' such differences
could be material to our consolidated financial statements.

We have discussed the selection, application and disclosure of these critical accounting policies
" jth the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors and our Independent Registered Public
Accountants. Neé~ accounting standards effective in 2011 ™~ hich had a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements are described in the Recent Accounting Pronouncements section in
Note 1 to the financial statements.

- Contingent Liabilities We are subject to a number of la~ suits, investigations and claims (some
of * hich involve substantial dollar amounts) that arise out of the conduct of our global business
operations or those of previoust o~ ned entities, including matters relating to commercial transactions,
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government contracts, product liabilit (including asbestos), prior acquisitions and divestitures,
emplo ee benefit. plans; .intellectual propert , and environmental, health and safet matters. We
recogni ‘e a liabilit for an contingenc that is probable of occurrence and reasonabl estimable. We
continuall  assess the likelihood of an’ adverse judgments or outcomes to our contingencies, as ™~ ell
as potential amounts or ranges of probable losses, and recogni e a liabilit , if an, for these
contingencies based on a careful anal sis.of each matter™ ith the assistance of outside legal counsel
and, if applicable, other e perts. Such anal sis includes making judgments concerning matters such as
the costs associated ™ ith environmental matters, the outcome of negotiations, the number and cost of
pending and future asbestos claims, and the impact of evidentiar requirements. Because most
contingencies are resolved over long periods of time, liabilities ma change in the future due to ne~
developments (including neé~ discover of facts, changes in legislation and outcomes of similar cases
through the judicial s stem), changes in assumptions or changes in our settlement strateg . For a
discussion of our contingencies related to environmental, asbestos and other matters, including
management’s judgment applied in the recognition and measurement of specific liabilities, see Notes 1
and 21 to the financial statements.

- .Asbestos Related Contingencies and Insurance Recoveries We are a defendant in personal
injur .actions.related to products containing.asbestos (refractor and friction products). We.recoggi e a
liabilit for an’ asbestos related contingenc that.is probable of occurrence and reasonabl estimable.
Regarding North American Refractories Compan (NARCO) asbestos related claims, - e accrued for
pending claims based on terms and conditions in agreements"‘ ith NARCO, its former parent compan’ ,
and certain asbestos claimants, and an estimate of the unsettled claims pending as of the time
NARCO filed for bankruptc protection. We also accrued for the estimated value of future NARCO
asbestos related claims e pected to be asserted against the NARCO trust through 2018 as described
in Note 21 to the financial statements In light of the inherent uncertainties in making long term
projections and in connection - ith the initial operat|on of a 524(g) trust as - ell as the sta of all
NARCO asbestos claims since Januar 2002, e do not believe that™ e have a reasonable basis for
estimating NARCO asbestos claims be ond 2018. Regarding Bendi asbestos related claims, -~ e
- accrued for the estimated value of pending claims using average resolution values for the previous five
" ears. We also accrued for the estimated value of future anticipated claims related to Bendi for the
ne t five * ears based on historic claims filing e perience and dismissal rates, disease classifications,
and average resolution values in the tort s stem for the previous five * ears. In light of the uncertainties
inherent in making long-term projections, as ™ ell as certain factors unique to friction product asbestos
claims, - e do not believe that*~ e have a reasonable basis for estimating asbestos claims be’ ond the
ne t five ' ears. We ™ ill continue to update the resolution values used to estimate the cost of pending
and future Bendi claims during the fourth quarter each’ ear. For additional information see Note 21 to
the financial statements. We continualf assess the likelihood of an’ adverse judgments or outcomes
to our contingencies, as ™ ell as potential ranges of probable losses and recogni e a liabilit , if an , for
these contingencies based on an anal sis of each individual issue - ith the assistance of outside legal
counsel and, if applicable, other e perts.

In connection ~ ith the recognition of liabilities for asbestos related matters, ~ e record asbestos
related.insurance recoveries that are deemed probable. In assessing the probabilit of insurance
recover , - ‘e make judgments concernlng insurance coverage that ™~ e believe .are reasonable and
consistent "~ ith our historical e perience - ith our insurers, our kno- ledge of an pertinent solvenc
issues surrounding insurers, various.judicial determinations relevant to our insurance programs and our
consideration of the impacts of an’ settlements ™~ ith our insurers. Our insurance is ™~ ith both the
domestic insurance market and the London e cess market. While the substantial majorit of our
insurance carriers are solvent, some of our individual carriers are insolvent, hich has been considered
in our anaf sis of probable recoveries. Projecting future events is subject to various uncertainties that
could cause the insurance recover on asbestos related liabilities to be higher or 16~ er than that
projected and recorded. Given the inherent uncertaint in making future projections, " e reevaluate our
projections concerning our probable insurance recoveries in light of an’ changes to the projected
liabilit , our recover e._perience or other relevant factors that ma impact future insurance recoveries.
See Note 21 to the financial statements for a discussion of management’s judgments applied in the
recognition and measurement of insurance recoveries for asbestos related liabilities.
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans We sponsor both funded and unfunded U.S. and non-U.S.
defined benefit pension plans covering the majorit of our emplo ees and retirees.

We recogni e changes in the fair value of plan assets and net actuarial gains or losses in e cess
of 10 percent of the greater of.the market-related value of plan assets or the plans’ projected benefit
obligation (the corridor) annuall in the fourth quarter each® ear (MTM Adjustment). Net actuarial gains
and losses occur ™~ hen the actual e perience differs from an'. of the various assumptions used to value
our pension plans or - hen assumptions change as the¢ ma each ' ear. The primar factors
contributing to actuarial gains and losses are changes in the discount rate used to value pension
obligations as of the measurement date each ' ear and the differences betf~ een e pected and actual
returns on plan assets. This accounting method also results in the potential for volatile and difficult to
forecast MTM adjustments. MTM adjustments - ere $1,802, $471 and $741 million in 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectivel . The remaining components of pension e pense, primarif service and interest costs
and assumed return on plan assets, are recorded on a quartert basis (On-going Pension E_pense).

For financial reporting purposes, net periodic pension e pense is calculated based upon a number
of actuarial assumptions, including a discount rate for plan obligations and an e pected long-term rate
of return on plan assets. We determine the e_ pected long-term rate of return on plan assets uti]i ing
historical plan asset returns over var ing long-term periods combined ™ ith our e pectations on future
market conditions and asset mi considerations (see Note 22 to the financial statements for details on
the actual various asset classes and targeted asset allocation percentages for our pension plans). The
discount rate reflects the market rate on December 31 (measurement date) for high-qualit fi ed-
income investments - ith maturities corresponding to our benefit obligations and is subject to change
each © ear. Further information on all our major actuarial assumptions is included in Note 22 to the
financial statements.

The ke' assumptions used in developing our 2011, 2010 and 2009 net periodic pension e. pense
for our U.S. plans included the follo~ ing:

2011 2010 2009
Discountrate ......... ... .. i 525% 5.75% 6.95%
Assets:
E pected rate of return................. ... ... 8% 9% 9%
Actual rate of return.................... ... ... 0% 19% 20%
Actual 10’ ear average annual compounded rate
ofreturn................ e 6% 6% 4%

The discount rate can be volatile from‘ ear to” ear because it is determined based upon prevailing
interest rates as of the measurement date. We™ ill use a 4.89 percent discount rate in 2012, reflecting
the decrease in the market interest rate environment since December 31, 2010. We plan to continue to
use an e pected rate of return on plan assets of 8 percent for 2012 as this is a long-term rate based on
historical plan asset returns over var ing long-term periods combined ™ ith our e_pectations on future
market conditions and the asset mi of the plan’s investments.

In addition to the potential for MTM adjustments, changes in our e pected rate of return on plan
assets and discount rate resulting from economic events also affects future on-going pension e pense.
The follo- ing table highlights the sensitivit of our U.S. pension obligations and on-going e pense to
changes in these assumptions, assuming all other assumptions remain constant. These estimates
e clude an’ potential MTM adjustment:

Impact on 2012
On-Going

Change in Assumption Pension Expense Impact on PBO
0.25 percentage point decrease in discount rate .. Decrease $10 million Increase $410 million
0.25 percentage point increase in discount rate... Increase $8 million Decrease $400 million
0.25 percentage point decrease in e pected rate
of returnonassets................. L. Increase $32 million
0.25 percentage point increase in e pected rate
of returnonassets................... L. Decrease $32 million

On-going pension e pense for all of our pension plans is e pected to be appro. imatef $60 million
in 2012, a decrease of $45 million from 2011, due primarif to the impact of planned cash contributions
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in 2012. Also, if required, an MTM adjustment ™~ ill be recorded in the fourth quarter of 2012"in
accordance -~ ith our pension accounting method as previoust described. It is difficult to reliabt
forecast or predict ~ hether there ™ ill be a MTM adjustment in 2012, and-if one is required ~ hat the
magnitude of such adjustment “ill be. MTM adjustments are primarif driven b events and
circumstances be ond the control of the Compan such as changes in interest rates and the
performance of the financial markets.

In 2011, 2010 and 2009, - e*~ ere not required to make contributions to satisf minimum statutor
funding requirements in our U.S. pension plans. Ho~ ever, e made voluntar contributions of $1,650,
$1,000 and $740 million to our U.S. pension plans in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel , primaril to
improve the funded status of our plans ™ hich has been adversef impacted b relative .l0~ discount
rates and asset losses in 2011 and 2008 resulting from the poor performance of the equit markets. In
2012; - e plan to make cash contributions of $800 million to $1 billion ($250 million ~ as made'in
Januar 2012) to our plans to improve the funded status of the plans. These contributions principall
consist of voluntar contributions to our U.S. plans. The timing and amount of contributions ma be
impacted b a number of factors, including the funded status of the plans.

Long-Lived Assets (including Tangible and Definite-Lived Intangible Assets) To conduct
our global business operations and e ecute our business strateg , "~ e acquire tangible and intangible
assets, including propert , plant and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets. At December 31,
2011, the net carr ing amount of these long-lived assets totaled appro imatef $6.5 billion. The
determination of useful lives (for depreciation/amorjj ation purposes) and ™ hether or not these assets
are impaired involves the use of accounting estimates and assumptions, changes in ™~ hich could
materialf impact our financial condition or operating performance if.actual results differ from such
estimates and assumptions. We periodicalf evaluate the recoverabilit of the carr ing amount of our
long-lived assets ™~ henever events or.changes in circumstances indicate that the carr ing amount of a
long-lived asset group ma not be full recoverable. The principal factors™ e consider in deciding™ hen
to perform an impairment revie- are as follo- s:

« significant under-performance (i.e., declines in sales, earnings or cash flo- s) of a business or
product line in relation to e pectations;

e annual operating plans or five< ear strategic plans that indicate an unfavorable trend in
operating performance of a business or product line;

e significant negative industr or economic trends; and
» significant changes or planned changes in our use of the assets.

Once it is determined that an impairment revie~ is necessar , recoverabilit of assets is measured
b comparing the carr ing amount of the asset grouping to the estimated future undiscounted cash
flo- s. If the carr ing amount e ceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flo- s, the asset grouping
is considered to be impaired. The impairment is then measured as the difference bet~ een the carr ing
amount of the asset grouping and its fair value. We endeavor to utj]i e the best information available to
measure fair value, ™ hich is usuall either market prices (if available), level 1 or level 2 in the fair value
hierarchi or an estimate of the future discounted cash flo- , level 3 of the fair value hierarch . The ke
estimates in our discounted cash flo- anal sis include e pected industr gro-th rates, our
assumptions as to volume, selling prices and costs, and the discount rate selected. As described in
more detail in Note 16 to the financial statements, ~ e have recorded impairment charges related to
long-lived assets of $127 million and $30 million in 2011 and 2010, respectivef , principall related to
manufacturing plant and equipment in facilities scheduled to close or be do- ngi ed.

Goodwill Impairment Testing Good- ill represents the e cess of acquisition costs over the fair
value of the net tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination.
Good- ill is not amorjj ed, but is subject to impairment testing. Our Good- ill balance, $11.9 billion as of
December 31, 2011, is subject to impairment testing annualf ‘as of March 31, or™- henever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carr ing amount ma not be fulf recoverable. This testing
compares carr ing values to fair values and, ~ hen appropriate, the carr ing value is reduced to fair
value. The fair value of our reporting. units is estimated utili ing a discounted cash flo- approach
utli ing cash flo~ forecasts in our five * ear strategic and annual operating plans adjusted for terminal
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value assumptions. This impairment test involves the use of accounting estimates and assumptions,
changes in ™~ hich could materialf impact our financial condition or operating performance if actual
results differ from such estimates and assumptions. To address this uncertaint *~ e perform sensitivit
anal sis on k&' estimates and assumptions.

We completed our annual impairment test as of March 31, 2011 and determined that there™ as no
impairment as of that date. Ho~ ever, significant negative industr or economic trends, disruptions to
our business, une. pected significant changes or planned changes in use of the assets, divestitures
and market capita]i ation declines ma have a negative effect on the fair value of our reporting units.

Income Taxes Deferred ta assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
bet- een the financial statements and ta. basis of assets and liabilities using enacted ta_ rates in effect
for the * ear in™ hich the differences are e pected to reverse. Our provision for income ta_es is based
on domestic and international statutor income ta rates in the jurisdictions in = hich - e operate.
Significant judgment is required in determining income ta_ provisions as™ ell as deferred ta. asset and
liabilit balances, including the estimation of valuation alld- ances and the evaluation of ta positions.

As of December 31, 2011, - e recogni ed a net deferred ta asset of $2,421 million, less a
valuation. all~ ance of $591 million. Net deferred ta. assets are primarit comprised of net deductible
temporar differences, net operating loss carr for- ards and ta credit carr fof~ ards that are available
to reduce taable income in future periods. The determination of the amount of valuation allo~ ance to
be provided on recorded deferred ta. assets involves estimates regarding (1) the timing and amount of
the reversal of ta_ able temporar differences, (2) e pected future ta_ able income, and (3) the impact of
ta planning strategies. A valuation allo~ ance is established to offset an deferred ta. assets if, based
upon the available evidence it is more likel than not that some or all of the deferred ta. asset™ ill not
be rea]i ed. In assessing the need for a valuation allo- ance, ~ e consider all available positive and
negative evidence, including past operating results, projections of future ta able income and the
feasibilit of ongoing ta. planning strategies. The projections of future ta. able income include a number
of estimates and assumptions regarding our volume, pricing and costs. Additionalf , valuation
allo~ ances related to deferred ta. assets can be impacted b changes to ta la- s.

Our net deferred ta. asset of $2,421 million consists of $1,516 million related to U.S. operations
and $905 million related to non-U.S. operations. The U.S. net deferred ta. asset of $1,516 million
consists of net deductible temporar differences, ta. credit carr for~ ards, federal and state ta net
operating losses ™~ hich™ e believe™ ill more likel than not be reali ed through the generation of future
ta able income in the U.S. and ta_ planning strategies. We maintain a valuation allo~ ance of $5 million
against such asset related to state net operating losses. The non-U.S..net deferred ta asset of $905
million consists principall of net operating and capital loss carr for- ards, maint in France,
Netherlands, Lu embourg and German . We maintain a valuation allo~ ance of $588 million against
these deferred ta assets reflecting our historical e perience and 10~ er e pectations of ta_able income
over the applicable carr for- ard periods. As more fult described in Note 6 to the financial statements,
our valuation allo~ ance decreased.b $45 million in 2011 and increased b $58 million and $133
million in 2010 and 2009, respectivel . In the event™ e determine that™~ e™ ill not be able to reaji e our
net deferred ta. assets in the future,~ e ill reduce such amounts through a charge to income in the
period such determination is made. Conversef , if ~ e determine that - e ™ ill be able to rea]i e net
deferred ta assets in e cess of the carr ing amounts, - e "~ ill decrease the recorded valuation
allo- ance through a credit to income in the period that such determination is made.

Significant judgment is required in determining income ta provisions and in evaluating ta
positions. We establish additional reserves for income ta_es™ hen, despite the belief that ta_ positions
are fulf supportable, there remain certain positions that do not meet the minimum recognition
threshold. The approach for evaluating certain and uncertain ta positions is .defined b the
authoritative guidance and this guidance determines™ hen a ta_ position is more likel than not to be
sustained upon e amination by the applicable ta ing authorit . In the normal course of business, the
Compan’ and its subsidiaries are e amined b’ various Federal, State and foreign ta. authorities. We
regularf assess the potential outcomes of these. e aminations and an’ future e aminations for the
current or prior * ears in determining the adequac of our provision for income ta_es. We continuall
assess the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjust the income ta provision, the
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current ta. liabilit and deferred ta es in the period in " hich the facts that give rise to a revision
become kno- n.

Sales Recognition on Long-Term Contracts In 2011, e recogni ed appro imatel 16 percent
of our total net sales using the percentage-of-completion method for long-term contracts in our
Automation and Control Solutions, Aerospace and Performance Materials and Technologies segments.
These long-term contracts are measured on the cost-to-cost basis for engineering-t pe contracts and
the units-of-deliver basis for production-t pe contracts. Accounting for these contracts involves
management .judgment in estimating total contract revenue and cost. Contract revenues are largef
determined b negotiated contract prices and quantities, modified b" our assumptions regarding
contract options, change orders, incentive and a- ard provisions associated ™ ith technical performance
and price adjustment clauses (such as inflation or inde. -based clauses). Contract costs are incurred
over a period of time, " hich can be several ‘ ears, and the estimation of these costs requires
management judgment. Cost estimates are largef based on negotiated or estimated purchase
contract terms, historical performance trends and other economic projections. Significant factors that
influence these estimates include inflationar trends, technical and schedule risk, internal and
subcontractor performance trends, business volume assumptions, asset uti]i ation, and anticipated
labor agreements. Revenue and cost estimates are regulart monitored and revised based on changes
in circumstances. Anticipated losses on long-term contracts are recogni ed™ hen such losses become
evident. We maintain financial controls over the customer qualification, contract pricing and estimation
processes to reduce the risk of contract losses.

OTHER MATTERS
Litigation

See Note 21 to the financial statements for a discussion of environmental, asbestos and other
litigation matters.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1 to the financial statements for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Information relating to market risk is included in ltem 7. Management Discussion and Anal sis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations under the caption Financial Instrumente
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2011

2010

2009

(Dollars in millions,
except per share amounts)

Product sales ...t $28,745 $25,242 $22,957
SErViCe SaleS ...t 7,784 7,108 6,994
NEt SalES ...ttt 36,529 32,350 29,951
Costs, e penses and other
Cost of products sold ..........ccovvvviiiii i 23,220 19,903 18,565
Cost of services sold. ...t 5,336 4,818 4,695
28,556 24,721 23,260
Selling, general and administrative e penses ................... 5,399 4,618 4,323
Other (iNCOME) € PENSE. ... v ittt (84) (97) (54)
Interest and other financial charges ............................ 376 386 458
34,247 29,628 27,987
Income from continuing operations beforeta es .................... 2,282 2,722 1,964
= T = o= 417 765 436
Income from continuing operations afterta es...................... 1,865 1,957 1,528
Income from discontinued operations afterta.es.................... 209 78 56
Net INCOMeE . ... e e 2,074 2,035 1,584
Less: Net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest.......... 7 13 36
Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell..................ccciiiunn... $ 2067 $ 2,022 $ 1,548
Amounts attributable to Honeywell:
Income from continuing operations less net income attributable
to the noncontrolling interest............ ... ... . 1,858 1,944 1,492
Income from discontinued operations. ...............ccovvii.... 209 78 56
Net income attributable to Hone™ ell. ..., $ 2,067 $ 2,022 $ 1,548
Earnings per share of common stock basic:
Income from continuing operations. ....................coo... 2.38 2.51 1.99
Income from discontinuing operations .......................... 0.27 0.10 0.07
Net INCOME ... $ 265 $ 261 $ 2.06
Earnings per share of common stock assuming dilution:
Income from continuing operations................... ... 2.35 2.49 1.98
Income from discontinuing operations ................. ... ..., 0.26 0.10 0.07
NEt INCOME ..o e e $ 261 $ 259 $ 2.05
Cash dividends per share of common stock ........................ $ 137 $ 121 $ 1.21

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
December 31,

2011 2010
(Dollars in millions)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ............. ...ttt $ 3,698 $ 2,650
Accounts, notes and other receivables ............. ... ... . ..., 7,228 6,841
INVENIOMIES . .o 4,264 3,822
Deferred iNnCOmMeE ta €S. .. ..ot e 460 877
Investments and other current assets. .......... ... i i 484 455
Assets held for sale . ... 841
Total current @ssets. ... 16,134 15,486
Investments and long-term receivables ............. ... 494 616
Propert , plant and equipment net ............ .. . . 4,804 4,724
GO 1l 11,858 11,275
Other intangible assets Net ... e 2,477 2,537
Insurance recoveries for asbestos related liabilities............................ 709 825
Deferred INCOME 1A ©S. .. ...ttt e e e 2,132 1,221
Other @SSelS ...t 1,200 1,150
Total @SSEIS . .o $39,808 $37,834

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

ACCOUNES Pa @DIE ...t $ 4,738 $ 4,199
Short-term bOrrO= INGS . .. ..o\ttt et e e 60 67
CoOmMMETCIal PAPET . . . oottt e 599 299
Current maturities of long-term debt......... ... ... .. i 15 523
Accrued liabilities. . ... 6,863 6,446
Liabilities related to assets held forsale........... ... .. ... . ... 190
Total current liabilities . ... i 12,275 11,724
Long-term debt. ... 6,881 5,755
Deferred iNCOMe ta ©S. ... .ttt 676 636
Postretirement benefit obligations other than pensions......................... 1,417 1,477
Asbestos related liabilities. . ........ ... i 1,499 1,557
Other liabilities . ...t e e 6,158 5,898
SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY
Capital common stock issued........ ... 958 958
additional paid-in capital . ............ ... 4,157 3,977
Common stock held in treasur , atcost ............ ... ... ... il (8,948)  (8,299)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10SS).................cooiii.. (1,444) (1,067)
Retained earnings . ... ..o 16,083 15,097
Total Hone' ™ ell sharec™ Ners’ eqUIt ..............oeueeeeeuneennn.n. 10,806 10,666
Noncontrolling interest ......... et e 96 121
Total sharec- ners’ equit .......... e e 10,902 10,787
Total liabilities and shared~ ners’ equit ..............c.covvueeneenn... $39,808 $37,834

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell.................. U

Adjustments to réconcile net income attributable to Hone - ell to net
cash provided b’ operating activities:

Depreciation and amotfi ation ............ ... ... ...l
Gain on sale of non-strategic businesses and assets .............
Repositioning and other charges............. ... o L.
Net pa ments for repositioning and other charges ................
Pension and other postretirement e pense.......................
Pension and other postretirement benefit pa ments...............
Stock compensation € Pense. . ......vviiii i
Deferred income ta.es................ o
E cess ta benefits from share based pa ment arrangements .. ..

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of acquisitions
and divestitures:

Accounts, notes and other receivables.......................
INVENTONIES ...t e e e
Other current a@ssets. ... et
Accounts pa able. ... e
Accrued liabilities . . . .. e e

Net cash provided b’ operating activities ..................

Cash flows from investing.activities:
E. penditures for propert , plant and equipment.......................
Proceeds from disposals of propert , plant and equipment ............
Increase in investments ...........
Decrease in investments ...... ...
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired ......................
Proceeds from sales of businesses, net of fees paid..................
Ot . .

Net cash used for investing activities ......................

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase/(decrease) in commercial paper....................o....
Net (decrease)/increase in short-term borro=ings .....................
Pa ment of debt assumed ™ ith acquisitions ..........................
Proceeds from issuance of common stock............................
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt............................
P& ments of long-term debt ........... e
E cess ta benefits from share based pa ment arrangements. ........
Repurchases of common stock ...
Cash dividends paid. ........ ..ot

Net cash used for financing activities ......................
Effect of foreign e change rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . ...

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.....................
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ........................

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ..............................

2011

2010

2009

(Dollars in millions)

$2,067 $2022 $ 1,548

957 987 957
(362) (87)
743 600 478
(468)  (439)  (658)
1,823 689 1,022
(1,788)  (787)  (189)
168 164 118
(331) 878 47
(42) (13) (1)
194 (24) 261
(316)  (688) 360
(310)  (300) 475
25 (26) (43)
527 592 (169)
(54) 548 (173)
2,833 4203 3,946
(798)  (651)  (609)
6 14 31
(380)  (453) (24)
354 112 1
(973) (1,303)  (468)
1,156 7 1
24 5 (65)
611) (2,269) (1,133)
300 1 (1,133)
@) 20 (521)
(33)  (326)
304 195 37
1,390 1,488
(939) (1,008) (1,106)
42 13 1
(1,085)
(1,091)  (944)  (918)
(1,114) (2,047) (2,152)
(60) (38) 75
1,048 (151) 736
2,650 2,801 2,085

$3698 $2650 $ 2,801

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31,

Common stock, parvalue ......................... ...,

Additional paid-in capital
Beginning balance .. ....... ...

Issued for emplo’ ee savings and option plans.............
Contributed to pension plans............. ...
Stock-based compensation e pense.......................
Other 6= Ner Changes. .......c.vveieiiie e

Ending balance. ...... ...

Treasury stock
Beginning balance ..............

Reacquired stock or repurchases of common stock ........
Issued for emplo’ ee savings and option plans.............
Contributed to pension plans. ...

Ending balance. ...........o i

Retained earnings
Beginning balance ................ e

Net income attributable to Hone™ell ......................
Dividends paid on common stock .........................

Ending balance.............

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Beginning balance ......... ...

Foreign e change translation adjustment ..................
Pensions and other post retirement benefit adjustments .. ..
Changes in fair value of available for sale investments.....
Changes in fair value of effective cash flo~- hedges........

Ending balance............

Non controlling interest
Beginning balance ..............

ACQUISITIONS . . ..o e
Interest sold (bought). ...
Net income attributable to non controlling interest..........
Foreign e change translation adjustment ..................
Dividends paid ...
Other 6= Ner Changes. .......ovvv et

Ending balance...... ...
Total shareowners equity

2011 2010 2009
Shares $ Shares $ Shares $
- (in millions) -
957.6 958 957.6 958 957.6 958
3,977 3,823 3,994
14 (35) (99)
32 (190)
168 157 118
(2)
4,157 3,977 3,823

(174.6) (8,299) (193.4) (8,995) (223.0) (10,206)

(20.3) (1,085)
12.0 436

8.9 328
9.9 368

6.6 281
23.0 930

(182.9) (8,948) (174.6) (8,299) (193.4) (8,995)

15,097
2,067
(1,081)

16,083

(1,067)
(146)
(209)
12

(34)
(1,444)

121

14,023
2,022
(948)

15,097

(948)
(249)
44

90
(4)
(1,067)

110
2

4
13

2
(10)

121

13,391
1,548
(916)

14,023

(1,078)
259

@71)
112
30

(948)

82
5

36
(1)
9)
&)
110
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recogni e a liabilit for an’ asbestos related contingenc that.is probable of occurrence and reasonabt

estimable. Regarding North American Refractories Compan’ (NARCO) asbestos related claims, ~ e
accrued for pending claims based on terms and conditions in agreements ~ ith NARCO, its former
parent compan’ , and certain asbestos. claimants, and an estimate of the unsettled claims pending as
of the time NARCO filed for bankruptc protection. We also accrued for the estimated value of future
NARCO asbestos related claims e pected to be asserted against the NARCO Trust through 2018 as
described in Note 21. In light of the inherent uncertainties in making long term projections and in
connection ™ ith the initial operation of a 524(g) trust, as™~ ell as the sta of all NARCO asbestos claims
since Januar 2002, ~ e do not believe that ~ e have a reasonable basis for estimating NARCO
asbestos claims be ond 2018. Regarding Bendi asbestos related claims, ~ e accrued for the
estimated value of pending claims using average resolution values for the previous five " ears. We also
accrued for the estimated value of future anticipated claims related to Bendi for the ne t five  ears
based on historic claims filing e perience and dismissal rates, disease classifications, and average
resolution values in the tort s stem for the previous five * ears. In light of the uncertainties inherent in
making long-term projections, as™ ell as certain factors unique to friction product asbestos claims, " e
- do not believe that™ e have a reasonable basis for estimating asbestos claims be ond the ne t five
“ ears. We™ ill continue to update the resolution values used to estimate the cost of pending and future
Bendi claims during the fourth quarter each ‘ ear. For additional information see Note 21. We
continualf  assess the likelihood of an’ adverse judgments or.outcomes to our contingencies, as ™~ ell
as potential ranges of probable losses and recogyi e a liabilit , if an’, for these contingencies based
on an anal sis of each individual issue ™ ith the assistance of outside legal counsel and, if applicable,
other e perts.

In connection -~ ith the recognition of liabilities for asbestos related matters, - e record asbestos
related .insurance recoveries that are deemed probable. In assessing the probabilit of insurance
recover , ~ e make judgments concerning insurance coverage that - e believe .are reasonable and
consistent ™~ ith our historical e perience ™ ith our insurers, our kno- ledge of an’ pertinent solvenc
issues surrounding insurers, various judicial determinations relevant to our insurance programs and our
consideration of the impacts of an’ settlements ™~ ith our insurers.

Aerospace Sales Incentives We provide sales incentives to commercial aircraft manufacturers
and airlines in connection * ith their- selection of our aircraft equipment, predominatel "~ heel and
braking s stem hard- are and au iliar po-er units, for installation on commercial aircraft. These
incentives principall consist of free or deepl discounted products, but also include credits for future
purchases of product and upfront cash pa ments. These costs are recogni ed in the period incurred as
cost of products sold or as a reduction to sales, as appropriate. For aircraft manufacturers, incentives
are recorded "~ hen the products are delivered; for airlines, incentives are recorded ™~ hen the
associated aircraft are delivered b’ the aircraft manufacturer to the airline.

Research and Development Research and development costs for compan’ -sponsored
research and development projects are e pensed as incurred. Such costs are principall included in
Cost of Products Sold and ™ ere $1,799, $1,450 and $1,321 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectivel .

Stock-Based Compensation Plans The principal a- ards issued under our stock-based
compensation plans, "~ hich are described in Note 20, include non-qualified stock options and
restricted stock units (RSUs). The cost for such a- ards is measured at the grant date based on the fair
value of the d- ard. The value of the portion of the a- ard that .is ultimatef e pected to vest is
recogni ed as e pense over the requisite service periods (generall the vesting period of the equit
a- ard) and is included in selling, general and administrative e pense in our Consolidated Statement of
Operations. Forfeitures are required to be estimated at the time of grant in order to estimate the portion
of the &~ ard that - ill ultimatef vest. The estimate is based on our historical rates of forfeiture.
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Pension Benefits We sponsor both funded and unfunded U.S. and non-U.S. defined benefit
pension plans covering the majorit of our emplo’ ees and retirees. We recogni e changes in the fair
value of plan assets and net actuarial gains or losses in e cess of 10 percent of the greater of.the
market-related value of plan assets or the plans’ projected benefit obligation (the corridor) annualf in
the fourth quarter each * ear (MTM Adjustment). The remaining components of pension e pense,
primaril  service and interest costs and assumed return on plan assets, are recorded on a quartert
basis (On-going Pension E_pense).

Foreign Currency Translation Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries operating outside the United
States™ ith a functional currenc’ other than U.S. dollars are translated into U.S. dollars using‘ ear-end
e change rates. Sales, costs and e penses are translated at the average e change rates in effect
during the “ ear. Foreign currenc translation gains and losses are included as a component - of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). For subsidiaries operating in hight inflationar
environments, inventories and propert , plant and equipment, including related e penses, are
remeasured at the e change rate in effect on the date the assets “ ere acquired, * hile monetar
assets and liabilities are remeasured at  ear-end e change rates. Remeasurement adjustments for
these subsidiaries are included in earnings.

Derivative Financial Instruments As a result of our global operating and financing activities, e
are e posed to market risks.from changes in interest and foreign currenc e change rates and
commodit prices, "~ hich ma adverself affect ‘our operating results and financial position. We
minimi e our risks from interest and foreign currenc e change rate and commodit price fluctuations
through our normal operating and financing activities and, = hen deemed appropriate through the use
of derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments are used to manage risk and are not
used for trading or other speculative purposes and e do not use leveraged derivative financial
instruments. Derivative financial instruments used for hedging purposes must be designated and
effective as a hedge of the identified risk e posure at the inception of the contract. Accordingl ,
changes in fair value of the derivative contract must be hight correlated - ith changes in fair value of
the underl ing hedged item at inception of the hedge and over the life of the hedge contract.

All derivatives are recorded on the balance sheet as assets or liabilities and measured at fair
value. For derivatives designated as hedges of the fair value of assets or liabilities, the changes in fair
values of both the derivatives and the hedged items are recorded in current earnings. For derivatives
designated as cash flo~ hedges, the effective portion of the changes in fair value of the derivatives are
recorded in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and subsequentt recoggpi ed in

. v . . . v . . . . .
earnings ~ hen the hedged items impact earnings. Cash flo- s of such derivative financial instruments
are classified consistent - ith the underl ing hedged item.

Transfers of Financial Instruments Sales, transfers and securifi ation of financial instruments
are accounted for under authoritative guidance for the transfers and servicing of financial assets and
e tinguishments of liabilities.

We sell interests in designated pools of trade accounts receivables to third parties. The terms of
the trade accounts receivable program permit the repurchase of receivables from the third parties at
our discretion. As a result, these program receivables are not accounted for as a sale and remain on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet ™~ ith a corresponding amount recorded as either Short-term
borra- ings or Long-term debt.

At times -~ e also transfer trade and other receivables that qualif as a sale and are thus are
removed from the Consolidated Balance Sheet at the time the’ are sold. The value assigned to an
subordinated interests and undivided interests retained in receivables sold is based on the relative fair
values of the interests retained and sold. The carr ing value of the retained interests appro_ imates fair
value due to the short-term nature of the collection period for the receivables.
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Income Taxes Deferred ta liabilities or assets reflect temporar differences bet~ een amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial and ta. reporting. Such amounts are adjusted, as appropriate, to
reflect changes in ta rates e pected to be in effect ~ hen the temporar differences reverse. A
valuation allo- ance is established to offset an’ deferred ta assets if, based upon the available
evidence, it is more likel than not that some or all of the deferred ta. assets ™ ill not be rea]i ed. The
determination of the amount of a valuation allo~ ance to be provided on recorded deferred ta assets
involves estimates regarding (1) the timing and amount of the reversal of ta able temporar
differences, (2) e pected future ta able income, and (3) the impact of ta planning strategies. In
assessing the need for a valuation allo- ance, - e consider all available positive and negative evidence,
including past operating results, projections of future ta_able income and the feasibilit of ongoing ta.
planning strategies. The projections of future ta able income include a number of estimates and
assumptions regarding our volume, pricing and costs. Additionalf , valuation allo- ances related to
deferred ta. assets can be impacted b changes to ta_ la~ s.

Significant judgment is required in determining income ta provisions and in evaluating ta
positions. We establish additional reserves for income ta_es™ hen, despite the belief that ta_ positions
are full supportable, there remain certain positions that do not meet the minimum recognition
threshold. The approach for evaluating certain and uncertain ta positions is .defined b the
authoritative guidance and this guidance determines™ hen a ta_ position is more likel than not to be
sustained upon e amination by the applicable ta_ing authorit .. In the normal course of business, the
ta_ filings of the Compan’ and its subsidiaries are e amined by various Federal, State and foreign ta
authorities. We regularf assess the potential outcomes of these -e aminations and an’ future
e aminations for the current or prior * ears in determining the adequac of our provision for income
ta_es. We continuall  assess the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjust the income
ta provision, the current ta_ liabilit and deferred ta_ es in the period in™ hich the facts that give rise to
a revision become knao- n.

Earnings Per Share Basic earnings per share is based on the ""‘ eighted average number of
common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is based on the~ eighted average number of
common shares outstanding and all dilutive potential common shares outstanding.

Use of Estimates The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformit ™ ith
generall  accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and related disclosures in the
accompar’ ing- notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions
are periodicall revie- ed and the effects of revisions are. reflected in the consolidated financial
statements in the period the’ are determined to be necessar .

Reclassifications Certain prior * ear amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current
 ear presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Changes to accounting principles generall accepted in
the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) are established b’ the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) in the form of accounting standards updates (ASU’s) to the FASB’s Accounting
Standards Codification.

The Compan’ considers the applicabilit and impact of all ASU’s. ASU’s not listed belo~ ™~ ere
assessed and determined to be either not applicable or are e pected to have minimal impact on our
consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In Ma 2011, the FASB issued amendments to disclosure requirements for common fair value
measurement. These amendments, effective for the interim and annual periods beginning on or after
December 15, 2011 (earf adoption is prohibited), result in common definition of fair value and
common requirements for measurement of and disclosure requirements bet- een U.S. GAAP and
IFRS. Consequentl , the amendments change some fair value measurement principles and disclosure
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requirements. The implementation of this amended accounting guidance is not e pected to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In June 2011, the FASB issued amendments to disclosure requirements for presentation of
comprehensive income. This guidance, effective retrospectivef for the interim and annual periods
beginning on or after December 15, 2011 (earf adoption is permitted), requires presentation of total
comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive
income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in - o separate but
consecutive statements. In December 2011, the FASB issued an amendment to defer the presentation
on the face of the financial statements the effects of reclassifications out of accumulated other
comprehensive income on the components of net income and other comprehensive income for annual
and interim financial statements. The implementation of the {- o aforementioned amendments is not
e pected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.

In September 2011, the FASB issued amendments to the good- ill impairment guidance ™~ hich
provides an option for companies to use a qualitative approach to test good- ill for impairment if certain
conditions are met. ‘The amendments are effective for annual and interim good- ill impairment tests
performed for fiscal * ears beginning after December 15, 2011 (earf adoption is permitted). The
implementation of amended accounting guidance is not e pected to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Note 2—Acquisitions and Divestitures

Acquisitions We acquired businesses for an aggregate cost of $973, $1,303, and $468 million
in 2011 2010 and 2009, respectivel . For all of our acquisitions the acquired businesses ™ ere recorded
at their estimated fair values at the dates of acquisition. Significant acquisitions made in these * ears
are discussed belo- .

In December 2011, the Compan acquired King’s Safet™ ear Limited (KSW), a leading
international .provider of branded safet foot- ear. The aggregate value, net of cash acquired, = as
appro imatef  $331 million (including the assumption of debt of $33 million) and ™ as allocated to
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values at the acquisition date. On a preliminar basis, the Compan’ has assigned appra imatel $178
million to identifiable intangible assets, predominantl trademarks, technolog , and customer
relationships. The definite lived intangible assets are being amor}i ed over their estimated lives, using
straight-line and accelerated amotji ation methods. The value assigned to trademarks of appro. imatet
$91 million is classified as indefinite lived intangibles. The e cess of the purchase price over the
estimated fair values of net assets acquired (appro. imatef $163 million), - as recorded as good- .
This good" il arises primarif from the avoidance of the time and costs ™ hich ™~ ould be required (and
the associated risks that™ ould be encountered) to enhance our product offerings to ke’ target markets
and serve as entr into né- and profitable segments, and the e pected cost s nergies that ™~ ill be
reali ed through the consolidation of the acquired business into our Automation and Control Solutions
segment. Their cost s nergies are e pected to be reali ed principall in the areas of selling, general
and administrative e penses, material sourcing and manufacturing. This good- ill is non deductible for
ta. purposes.

The results from the acquisition date through December 31, 2011 are included in the Automation
and Control Solutions segment and ™~ ere not material to the consolidated financial statements. As of
December 31, 2011, the purchase accounting for KSW is subject to final adjustment primarit for the
valuation of inventor , propert , plant and equipment, useful lives of intangible assets, amounts
allocated to intangible assets and good- ill, ta_ balances, and for certain pre-acquisition contingencies.

In August 2011, the Compan' acquired 100 percent of the issued and outstanding shares of EMS
Technologies, Inc. (EMS), a leading provider of connectivit solutions for mobile net- orking, rugged
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mobile computers and satellite communications. EMS had reported 2010 revenues of appro imatef
$355 million.

The aggregate value, net of cash acquired, = as appro imatel $513 million and ™ as allocated to
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values at the acquisition date. On a preliminar basis, the Compan’ has assigned appra imatef . $119
million to identifiable intangible assets, of ~ hich appro_ imatel $89 million and appro imatef $30
million "~ ere recorded - ithin the ‘Aerospace and Automation and Control segments, respectivef . The
intangible assets are predominantf customer relationships, e isting technolog and trademarks. These
intangible assets are being amot}i ed over their estimated lives, using straight-line and accelerated
amotji ation methods. The e cess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of net assets
acquired (appro. imating $326 million), - as recorded as good- ill. This good- ill arises primarit from
the avoidance of the time and costs ™~ hich ™~ ould be required (and the associated risks that™ ould be
encountered) to enhance our product offerings to ke target markets and serve as entr into né~ and
profitable segments, and the e pected cost s nergies that ™ ill be rea]i ed through the consolidation of
the acquired business into our Aerospace and Automation and Control Solutions segments. These cost
s nergies are e pected to be rea]i ed principalf in the areas of selling, general and administrative
e penses, material sourcing and manufacturing. This good- ill is non-deductible for ta  purposes.

The results from the acquisition date through December 31, 2011 are included in the Aerospace
and Automation and Control Solutions segments and ™~ ere not material to the consolidated financial
statements. As of December 31, 2011, the purchase accounting for EMS is subject to final adjustment
primarif  for the valuation of inventor and propert , plant and equipment, useful lives of intangible
assets, amounts allocated to intangible assets and good-ill, and for certain pre-acquisition
contingencies.

In October 2010, e completed the acquisition of the issued and outstanding shares of Sperian
Protection (Sperian), a French compan’ that operates globalf in the personal protection equipment
design and manufacturing industr . Sperian had reported 2009 revenues of appra. imatef  $900 million.

The aggregate value, net of cash acquired, ~ as appro. imatef $1,475 million (including the
assumption of appro imatef $326 million of outstanding debt) and *- as allocated to tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at
the acquisition date.

The follo~ ing amounts represent the final determination of the fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.

Accounts and other receivables. ............ ... .. i i $ 117
INVEN OIS . o e 166
Other current @assets .. ...t 8
Propert , plant and equipment. ......... .. ... 108
Intangible assets. ... ... e 539
Other assets and deferred charges ... 4
Accounts pa able . ... ... (63)
Accrued liabilities . ... ... (114)
Deferred iNCOME 8 €S . ... vii i e (156)
Long-term debt .. ... (326)
Other long-term liabilities . . ... (64)

Net assets acquired ... 219
GO0 Il . e 930

Purchase price ...... ..ot $1,149
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We have assigned $539 million to intangible assets, predominantt customer relationships, trade
names, and technolog . These intangible assets are being amorjj ed over their estimated lives ~ hich
range from 3 to 20 * ears using straight line and accelerated amot}i ation methods. Included in this
amount, a value of appro imatef $246 million has been assigned to trade names intangibles
determined to have indefinite lives: The e cess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of
net assets acquired is appro imatef  $930 million and - as recorded as good- ill. This good- ill arises
primarit  from the avoidance of the time and costs ™ hich ™~ ould be required (and the associated risks
that ~ ould be encountered) to develop a business ™~ ith a product offering and customer base
comparable to Sperian and the e_pected cost s nergies that ™ ill be rea]i ed through the consolidation
of the acquired business into our Automations and Controls Solutions segment. These cost s’ nergies
are e pected to be reg]i ed principall in the areas of selling, general and administrative e penses,
material sourcing and manufacturing. This good- ill is non-deductible for ta. purposes. The results from
the acquisition date through December 31, 2010 are included in the Automation and Control Solutions
segment and "~ ere not material to the consolidated financial statements.

In August 2009, the Compan’ completed the acquisition of the RMG Group (RMG Regel +
Messtechnik GmbH), a natural gas measuring and control products, services and integrated solutions
compan , for a purchase price of appro imatef $416 million, net of cash acquired. The purchase price
for the acquisition™ as allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The Compan’ has assigned
$174 million to identifiable intangible assets, predominantf customer relationships, e isting technolog
and trademarks. These intangible assets are being amorj ed over their estimated lives - hich range
from 1 to 15 “ ears using straight-line and accelerated amor}i ation methods. The e cess of the
purchase price over the estimated fair values of net assets acquired (appro. imating $225 million), - as
recorded as good" ill. This good" ill is non-deductible for ta. purposes. The results from the acquisition
date through December 31, 2009 are included in the Automation and Control Solutions segment and
"~ ere not material to the consolidated financial statements.

In connection  ith all acquisitions in 2011, 2010 and 2009, the amounts recorded for transaction
costs and the costs of integrating the acquired businesses into Hone ™ ell - ere not material.

The pro forma results for 2011, 2010 and 2009, assuming these acquisitions had been made at
the beginning of the comparable prior ear,” ould not be materiall different from consolidated reported
results.

Divestitures In Juf 2011, the Compan’ sold its Consumer Products Group business (CPG) to
Rank Group Limited. The sale ~ as completed for appro imatef $955 million in cash proceeds,
resulting in a pre-ta. gain of appro. imatef $301 million and appro imatef $178 million net of ta_ . The
gain " as recorded in net income from discontinued operations after ta es in the Compan ’s
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the * ear ended December 31, 2011. The net income
attributable to the non-controlling interest for the ‘discontinued operations is insignificant. The sale. of
CPG, - hich had been part of the Transportation S’ stems segment, is consistent - ith the Compan ’s
strategic focus on its portfolio of differentiated global technologies.
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The ke' components of income from discontinued operations related to CPG ™~ ere as follo- s:
Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Net sales. ... $530 $1,020 $957

Costs, e penses and other........ ... 421 798 752

Selling, general and administrative e pense........................ 63 99 120

Other (iNCOME) & PENSE. . ..ottt ittt eeeees (2) 2

(Loss) income beforeta s ... 48 121 85

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations ....................... 301

Net income from discontinued operations before ta. es.............. 349 121 85

TaA E PENSE ..ot 140 43 29
Net income from discontinued operations afterta es........... $209 $ 78 $ 56

The components of assets and liabilities classified as discontinued operations and included in
other current assets and other current liabilities related to the CPG business consisted of the follo- ing:

December 31,

Accounts, notes and other receivables ................. ... ... ...
INVENTONIES . . .o
Propert , plant and equipment net.............. ... ... ... L.
Good- ill and other intangibles net...................... ...,

Total BSSEIS . .

Accounts pa able ... .
Accrued and other liabilities. ............. ...

Total liabilities . ...

Note 3—Repositioning and Other Charges
A summar of repositioning and other charges follo- s:

2010
$227

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
SBVEBIANCE ..\ttt e $246 $144 $197
Asset iImpairments. ... ... 86 21 6
B it COSES ..t 48 14 10
Reserve adjustments . ... (26) (30) (53)

Total net repositioning charge. ..., 354 149 160
Asbestos related litigation charges, net of insurance.................. 149 175 155
Probable and reasonabl estimable environmental liabilities........... 240 212 145
1 1= 62 7

Total net repositioning and other charges........................ $743 $598 $467
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The follo~ ing table summayj es the preta. distribution of total net repositioning and other charges
b income statement classification:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Cost of products and services sold. ..., $646 $558 $404
Selling, general and administrative e penses......................... 97 40 63

$743 $598 $467

The follo- ing table summayj es the preta impact of total net repositioning and other charges b/
segment:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
ABIOSPACE vttt ettt $ 29 $ 32 $ 31
Automation and Control Solutions ..., 191 79 70
Performance Materials and Technologies ............................ 41 18 9
Transportation S stems. ... 228 178 162
COrPOrALE . . oottt 254 291 195

$743 $598 $467

In 2011, ™ e recogni ed repositioning charges totaling $380 million including severance costs of
$246 million related to™ orkforce reductions of 3,188 manufacturing and administrative positions across
all of our segments. The ™ orkforce reductions ~ ere primaril related to the planned shutdo~ n of a
manufacturing facilit in our Transportation S stems segment, cost savings actions taken in connection
"~ ith our ongoing functional transformation and productivit initiatives, factor transitions in connection
"~ ith acquisition-related s nergies in our Automation and Control Solutions and Aerospace segments,
the e it from and/or rationa]i ation of certain product lines and markets in our Performance Materials
and Technologies and Automation and Control Solutions segments, the consolidation of repair facilities
in our Aerospace segment, and factor consolidations and/or rationa]i ations and organi ational
realignments of businesses in our Automation and Control -Solutions segment. The repositioning
charges included asset impairments of $86 million principall related to the ™ rite-off of certain
intangible assets in our Automation and Control Solutions segment due to a change in branding
strateg and manufacturing plant and equipment associated ™ ith the planned shutdo-n of a
manufacturing facilit and the e_ it of a product line and a factor transition as discussed above. The
repositioning charges also included e it costs of $48 million principalf for costs to terminate contracts
related to the e it of a market and product line and a factor transition as discussed above. E_it.costs
also included closure obligations associated ™ ith the planned shutdo~ n of a manufacturing facilit and
e it of a product line also as discussed above. Also, $26 million of previoust established accruals,
primarit  for severance at our Aerospace. and Automation.and Control Solutions segments, ™~ ere
returned to income in 2011 due principall to feé~ er emplo ee separations than originall planned
associated ™~ ith prior severance programs.
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In 2010, ™~ e recogni ed repositioning charges totaling $179 million including severance costs of
$144 ‘million related to "~ orkforce reductions of 2,781 manufacturing and administrative positions
primarif in our Automation and Control .Solutions, Aerospace and Transportation S’ stems segments.
The ™ orkforce reductions ™~ ere primarit related to the planned shutdo- n of certain manufacturing
facilities in our Automation and Control Solutions and Transportation S stems segments; cost savings
actions taken in connection ™~ ith our ongoing functional transformation and productivit initiatives,
factor transitions in our Aerospace, Automation and Control Solutions and Performance Materials and
Technologies segments to more cost-effective locations, achieving acquisition-related s’ nergies in our
Automation and Control Solutions segment, and the e it and/or rationag]i ation of certain product lines
in our Performance Materials and Technologies segment. The repositioning charge also included asset
impairments of $21 million principalf related to manufacturing plant and equipment associated ™ ith the
e it and/or rationg]i ation of certain product lines and in facilities scheduled to close. Also, $30 million
of previousl established accruals, primarif for severance at our Automation and Control Solutions,
Transportation S stems and Aerospace segments, "~ ere returned to income in 2010 due to fe- er
emplo ee separations than originalf planned associated ™~ ith prior severance. programs.

In 2009, - e recogni ed repositioning charges totaling $213 million primarit for severance costs
related to ~ orkforce reductions of 4,145 manufacturing and administrative positions mainf in our
Automation and Control Solutions, Transportation S' stems and Aerospace segments. The ™~ orkforce
reductions - ere primarif related to the adverse market conditions e perienced b man of our
businesses, cost savings actions taken in connection - ith our ongoing functional transformation
initiative, the planned do- ngi ing or shutdo~ n of certain manufacturing facilities, and orgagj ational
realignments of portions of our Aerospace and Transportation S’ stems segments. Also, $53 million of
previoust established accruals, primarif for severance at our Automation and Control Solutions,
Aerospace, and Transportation S stems segments, " ere returned to income in 2009 due to fe- er
emplo ee separations than originall  planned associated ™~ ith prior severance programs and changes
in the scope of previousf announced repositioning actions.

The follo- ing table summagi es the status of our total repositioning reserves:

Severance Asset Exit
Costs Impairments Costs Total
Balance at December 31,2008 ................... $ 358 $ $36 $394
2009 Charges .....ooviiii e 197 6 10 213
2009 usage cash ... (186) (7) (193)
2009 usage noncash................. ... (6) (6)
Adjustments. ....... ... (51) (2) (53)
Divestitures(1). . .ccoviiiii e (24) (24)
Balance at December 31,2009 ................... 294 37 331
2010 charges .......ooeiiiiiii e 144 21 14 179
2010 usage cash ..., (130) 17y (147)
2010 usage noncash................. ...t (21) (21)
Adjustments. .. :..... ... . (30) (30)
Foreign currenc translation..................... (8) (8)
Balance at December 31, 2010 ................... 270 34 304
2011 charges ... 246 86 48 380
2011 usage cash ...................ciiiinnn. (136) (23) (159)
2011 usage noncash.......................... (86) (86)
Adjustments. .. :... . oo (26) (26)
Foreign currenc translation..................... (1) (1)
Balance at December 31, 2011 ................... $ 353 $ $59 $412
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(1) Relates to businesses divested during 2009 included in Gain on Sale of Non-Strategic Businesses
and Assets see Note 4, Other (Income) E. pense.

Certain repositioning projects in our Aerospace, Automation and Control Solutions and
Transportation S stems segments included e_it or disposal activities, the costs related to ~ hich ™ ill
be recogni ed in future periods™ hen the actual liabilit is incurred. The nature of these e it or disposal
costs includes asset set-up and moving, product recertification. and requalification, and emplo ee
retention, training and travel. The follo- ing tables summagi e b segment, e pected, incurred and
remaining e it and disposal costs related to 2011 and 2010 repositioning actions ™= hich = e - ere not
able to recogni e at the time the actions ~ ere initiated.

Automation
and Control Transportation
2011 Repositioning Actions Aerospace Solutions Systems Total
E. pected e it'and disposal costs............ $15 $15 $7 $37
Costs incurred * ear ended
December 31, 2011 ...................... (M L L (M
Remaining e it and disposal costs at
December 31, 2011 ...t $14 $15 $7 $36
Automation
and Control Transportation
2010 Repositioning Actions Aerospace Solutions Systems Total
E pected e it-and disposal costs............ $11 $10 $2 $23
Costs incurred * ear ended December 31,
201 (2) (3) (1) (6)
Costs incurred * ear ended December 31,
2010 . . L L L L
Remaining e it and disposal costs at
December 31, 2011 ...................... 9 $7 $ 1 $17

In 2011,™ e recogni ed a charge of $240 million for environmental liabilities deemed probable and
reasonablf estimable during the * ear. We recogpi ed asbestos related litigation charges, net of
insurance, of $149 million. Environmental and Asbestos matters are discussed in detail in Note 21,
Commitments and Contingencies.

In 2010," e recogni ed a charge of $212 million for environmental liabilities deemed probable and
reasonablf estimable during the * ear. We recogpi ed asbestos related litigation charges, net of
insurance, of $175 million. We also recoggi ed other charges of $62 million in connection ™~ ith the
evaluation of potential resolution of certain legal matters.

In 2009, e recogni ed a charge of $145 million for environmental liabilities deemed probable and
reasonabf estimable during the * ear. We recogpi ed asbestos related litigation charges, net of
insurance, of $155 million.
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Years Ended December 31,

3 2011 2010 2009
Equit (income)/loss of affiliated companies.................... $(51) $(28) $(26)
Gain on sale of non-strategic businesses and assets .......... (61) (87)
Interest iINCOMeE . ... ... e (58) (39) (33)
Foreign e change ........ ... 50 12 45
Other, net. ... o e 36 (42) 47

84 8097 (54

Gain on sale of non-strategic businesses and assets for 2011 includes a $50 million pre-ta. gain,
$31 million net of ta_, related to the divestiture of the automotive on-board sensor products business
"~ ithin our Automation and Control Solutions segment.

Other, net in 2011 includes a loss of $29 million resulting from eart  redemption of debt in the first
quarter of 2011. See Note 14 Long-term Debt and Credit Agreements for further details.

Other, net for 2010 includes a $62 million pre-ta gain, $39 million net of ta , related to the
consolidation of a joint venture ™~ ithin .our Performance Materials and Technologies segment. The
Compan' obtained control and the abilit to direct those activities most significant to thejoint venture’s
economic performance in the third quarter, resulting in consolidation. Accordingt, ~e have
i) recogni ed the assets and liabilities at fair value, ii) included the results of operations in the
consolidated financial statements from the date of. consolidation and iii) recogni ed the above. noted
gain .representing the difference bet- een the carr ing amount and fair value of our previoust . held
equit method investment. The Compan’ has assigned $24 million to intangibles, predominantt the
joint venture’s customer contracts. These intangible assets are being amot}i ed over their estimated
lives using the straight line method. The e_cess of the book value over the estimated fair values of the
net assets consolidated appro. imating $132 million, - as recorded as good- ill. This good-ill is non-
deductible for ta. purposes. The results from the consolidation date through December 31, 2010 are
included in the Performance Materials and Technologies segment and ™~ ere not material to the
consolidated financial statements.

Gain on sale of non-strategic businesses and assets for 2009 includes a $50 million pre-ta. gain,
$42 million net of ta_, related to the deconsolidation of a subsidiar " ithin our Automation and Control
Solutions segment. The subsidiar- achieved contractual milestones at December 31, 2009 and as a
result,~ e are no longer the primar beneficiar , resulting in deconsolidation. We continue to hold a
non-controlling interest ™~ hich ™~ as recorded at its estimated fair value of $67 million upon
deconsolidation. The fair value -~ as estimated using a combination of a market and income
approaches uti)i ing observable market data for comparable businesses and discounted cash flo-
modeling. Our non-controlling interest, classified - ithin Investments and long-term receivables on our
Balance Sheet - ill be accounted for under the equit method on a prospective basis.

Other, net for 2009 includes an other than-temporar impairment charge of $62 million. See Note
16 Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measures for further details.

Note 5—lInterest and Other Financial Charges

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Total interest and other financial charges .................... $389 $402 $473
Less capitali edinterest ........... i (13) (16) (15)

$376 $386 $458
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The valuation allo- ance against deferred ta assets decreased b $45 million in 2011 and
increased b’ $58 million and $133 million in 2010 and 2009, respectivel . The 2011 decrease in the
valuation allo~ ance - as .primarif- .due to decreased foreign net operating losses related to the
Netherlands and German' , partialf offset b the increase in the valuation allo- ance of France,
Lu embourg and Canada. The 2010 increase in the valuation allo- ance™ as primarif due to increased
foreign net operating losses related to France, Lu embourg, and the Netherlands offset b’ the reversal
of a valuation alld- ance related to German' . The 2010 increase in valuation allo~ ance also includes
adjustments related to purchase accounting for various acquisitions. The 2009 increase in the valuation
allo- ance ~as primarif due to increased foreign net operating losses related to Germarn ,
Lu embourg, and the Netherlands.

Federal income ta es have not been provided on undistributed earnings of the majorit of our
international subsidiaries as it is our ‘intention to reinvest these earnings into the respective
subsidiaries. At December 31, 2011 Hone ™ ell has not provided for U.S. federal income and foreign
- ithholding ta_ es on appro imatelf $8.1 billion of such earnings of our non-U.S. operations. It is not
practicable to estimate the amount of ta_ that might be pa able if some or all of such earnings™ ere to
be repatriated, and the amount of foreign ta credits that™ ould be available to reduce or eliminate the
resulting U.S. income ta_ liabilit .

We had $815 million, $757 million and.$720 million of unrecogpi ed ta benefits as of
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 respectivel . If recogni ed, $815 million™ ould be recorded as a
component of income ta. e pense as of December 31, 2011. For the* ears ended December 31, 2011
and 2010,- the Compan’ increased its unrecogni ed ta benefits b $58 million and $37 million,
respectivel , due to additional reserves for various international and U.S. ta audit matters, partiall
offset b adjustments related to our ongoing assessments of the likelihood and amount of potential
outcomes of current and future e aminations, the e piration of various statute of limitations, and
settlements "~ ith ta  authorities. The follo-ing table summag es the activit related to our
unrecogni ed ta. benefits:

2011 2010 2009

Change in unrecoggi ed ta benefits:

Balance at beginning of “ear............. ... i $757 $720 $671
Gross increases related to current period ta. positions .......... 46 37 86
Gross increases related to prior periods ta. positions ........... 327 84 86
Gross decreases related to prior periods ta. positions........... (56) (41) (77)
Decrease related to settlements ™~ ith ta. authorities ............. (237) (23) (44)

E piration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of
taes...... S (12) (8) (8)
Foreign currenc translation.................................... (10) (12) 6
Balance atend of "ear......... ... $815 $757 $720
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Generall , our uncertain ta positions are related to ta. * ears that remain subject to e amination
b the relevant ta_ authorities. The follo- ing table summagi es these open ta ‘ears b major
jurisdiction as of December 31, 2011:

Open Tax Year

Examination in Examination not yet
Jurisdiction progress initiated
United States(1).......covvviiiii i 2001 2009 2005 2011
United Kingdom ... N/A 2010 2011
Canada(l) ... 2006 2010 2011
German (1) ... ..o 2004 2009 2010 2011
France. . ... ... .o 2009 2010 2000 2008, 2011
Netherlands........... ... i i 2007 2009 2010 2011
Australia. ... ... N/A 2009 2011
China. ... 2009 2010 2006 2008, 2011
India. ... 2000 2009 2010 2011

(1) includes federal as™ ell as state, provincial or similar local jurisdictions, as applicable.

Based on the outcome of these e aminations, or as a result of the e piration of statute of
limitations for specific jurisdictions, it is reasonabl possible that the related unrecoggi ed ta. benefits
for ta positions taken regarding previoust filed ta returns™ ill materiall  change from those recorded
as liabilities for-uncertain ta. positions in our financial statements. In addition, the outcome of these
e aminations ma impact the valuation of certain deferred ta. assets (such.as net operating losses) in
future periods. Based on the number of ta' . ears currentt under audit b’ the relevant U.S federal,
state and foreign ta_ authorities, the Comparn’ anticipates that several of these audits ma be fing]i ed
in the foreseeable future. Ho- ever, based on the status of these e aminations, the protocol of
fing]i ing audits b’ the relevant ta ing authorities, and the possibilit that the Compan’ might challenge
certain audit findings (- hich could include formal legal proceedings), at this time it is not possible to
estimate the impact of an amount of such changes, if an', to previoust recorded uncertain ta
positions.

Unrecogni ed ta_ benefits for e aminations in progress ™~ ere $482 million, $274 million and $261
million, as of December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectivel . These increases are primarif due to
an increase in ta e aminations. Estimated interest and penalties related to the underpa ment of
income ta es are classified as a component of Ta E pense in the .Consolidated Statement of
Operations and totaled $63 million, $33 million and $13 million for the * ears ended December 31,
2011, 2010, and 2009, respectivel . Accrued interest and penalties”*' ere $247 million, $183 million and
$150 million, as of December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectivel .
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Note 7—Earnings Per Share

The details of the earnings per share calculations for the * ears ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009 are as follo- s:

Years Ended December 31,

Basic 2011 2010 2009
Income from continuing operations less net income attributable to
the non controlling interest ... $1,858 $1,944 $1,492
Income from discontinued operations ........... ..., 209 78 56
Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell .........oeeen e, $2,067 $2,022 $1,548
Weighted average shares outstanding ................................. 780.8 773.5 752.6
Earnings per share of common stock:
Income from continuing operations ........... ... o i, $ 238 $251 $1.99
Income from discontinued operations .............................. 0.27 0.10 0.07
Net Income attributable to Hone™ el .............ccoveiiniennn... $265 $ 261 $ 2.06

Years Ended December 31,

Assuming Dilution 2011 2010 2009
Income from continuing operations less net income attributable to
the noncontrolling interest........... ..o $1,858 $1,944 $1,492
Income from discontinued operations ...............cc i, 209 78 56
Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell ................ooooiiiiiiiii... $2,067 $2,022 $1,548
Average Shares
Weighted average shares outstanding ................................. 780.8 7735 752.6
Dilutive securities issuable stock plans. ..., 10.8 7.4 3.1
Total - eighted average diluted shares outstanding ..................... 791.6 780.9 755.7
Earnings per share of common stock assuming dilution:
Income from continuing operations ................c. .o i, $235 $249 §$ 1.98
Income from discontinuing operations. .............. ..o, 0.26 0.10 0.07
Net income attributable to Hone ™ ell ....................ccooevnn... $261 $259 §$ 2.05

The diluted earnings per share calculations e clude the effect of stock options ™ hen the options’
assumed proceeds e ceed the average market price of the common shares during the period. In 2011,
2010, and 2009 the ™~ eighted.number of stock options e cluded from the computations ™~ ere 9.5, 14.8,
and 34.0 million, respectivel . These stock options "~ ere outstanding at the end of each of the
respective periods.

Note 8—Accounts, Notes and Other Receivables

December 31,

201 2010
Trade. . oo $6,926 $6,471
L 1= 555 642

7,481 7,113
Less Allo~ ance for doubtful accounts....................c.c.ooouin. (253) (272)

$7,228 $6,841

74



HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Trade Receivables includes $1,404, and $1,307 million of unbilled balances under long-term
contracts as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, respectivel . These amounts are billed in
accordance - ith the terms of customer contracts to ~ hich the' relate.

Note 9—Inventories

December 31,

2011 2010
Ra™ Materals .. ...ttt et e $1,222 $1,139
WOIK IN PrOCESS . oo v it e e 958 792
Finished products ... 2,253 2,045
4,433 3,976
Reduction to LIFO cost basis............ccoi i (169) (154)

$4,264 $3,822

Inventories valued at LIFO amounted to $302 and $198 million at December 31, 201 1‘ and 2010,
respectivel . Had such LIFO inventories been valued at current costs, their carr ing values™ ould have
been appra imatef $169 and $154 million higher at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectivel .

Note 10—Investments and Long-Term Receivables

December 31,

1 2010
INVESIMENES . .o $362 $413
Long-term trade and other receivables................. ... . ... 81 83
Long-term financing receivables .................................... L __ 51 _120

$494  $616

Long-Term Trade and Other Receivables include $29 and $19 million of unbilled balances under
long-term contracts as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectivel . These amounts are billed in
accordance - ith the terms of the customer contracts to ™~ hich the relate.

The follo- ing table summayi es long term trade, financing and other receivables b’ segment,
including current portions and allo~ ances for credit losses.

December 31,

2011
ABIOSPACE. . . o ottt ettt e e $ 13
Automation and Control Solutions. ..., 90
Performance Materials and Technologies ............................ 7
Transportation S stems ... ... 7
(O 7074 T} -1 (= 19

$136

Allo- ance for credit losses for the above detailed long-term trade, financing and other receivables
totaled $5 million and $7 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectivef . The receivables are
evaluated for impairment on an individual basis, including consideration of credit qualit . The above

detailed financing receivables.are predominatel " ith commercial and governmental counterparties of
investment grade credit qualit .
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Note 11—Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and improvements. . ......... it
Machiner and equipment......... ...
Buildings and improvements. ........... ... o i i
Construction in progress . .....o.eii i

Less Accumulated depreciation................ ... ...

Depreciation e pense "~ as $699, $707 and $686 million in 2011

Note 12—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—Net.

December 31,

2011 2010
.. $ 376 $ 375
.. 9,937 9,878
.. 2,897 2,750
.. 513 398

13,723 13,401

» (8,919) (8,677)
$ 4804  $ 4,724

, 2010 and 2009, respectivel .

The change in the carr ing amount of good- ill for the * ears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

b segment is as follo- s:

Currency
December 31, Translation December 31,
2010 Acquisitions Divestitures = Adjustment 2011

AErospace ...........coeiiiiin.. $ 1,883 $212 $ $ $ 2,095

Automation and Control Solutions 7,907 365 (12) 8,260
Performance Materials and

Technologies.................. 1,291 15 1,306

Transportation S stems.......... 194 _3 197

$11,275 $592 $(12) $3 $11,858

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount  Amortization = Amount

Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount  Amortization = Amount

Determinable life intangibles:

$1,101 $ (676) $ 425

1,688 (399) 1,289
186 (84) 102
512 (404) 108

Patents and technolog ..... $1,151 $ (761) $ 390
Customer relationships ... ... 1,718 (493) 1,225
Trademarks................. 155 (84) 71
Other....................... 211 (145) 66

3,235 (1,483) 1,752

3,487 (1,563) 1,924

Indefinite life intangibles:
Trademarks................. 725 725

613 613

$3,960  $(1,483)  $2,477

$4,100 $(1,563)  $2,537

Intangible assets amorji ation e pense - as $249, $263, and $250 million in 2011, 2010; 2009,

respectivef . Estimated intangible asset amotji ation e pense fo

r each of the ne t five ‘ ears

appro imates $250 million in 2012, $226 million in 2013, $200 million in 2014, $166 million in 2015,

and $141 in 2016.
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Note 13—Accrued Liabilities

December 31,
2011 2010

Compensation, benefit and other emplo ee related .................. $1,555 $1,363
Customer advances and deferred income ............... ..., 1,914 1,703
Asbestos related liabilities ............. 237 162
Repositioning . .. ... 414 306
Product "~ arranties and performance guarantees..................... 367 380
Environmental COStS. ... 303 328
INCOME 18 €S ..\ 318 466
Accrued Interest .. ... e 108 116
Other ta_es (pa roll, sales, VAT etC.) ... 233 249
INSUFANCE. . . e 180 179
Other (primarif operating € penses)............cooveiiieiiieana... 1,234 1,194

$6,863 $6,446
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Note 14—Long-term Debt and Credit Agreements

December 31,

2011 2010
6.125% notes due 2011 ... ... . i $ $ 500
5.625% notes due 2012. ... ... i 400
4.25% notes due 2013 ... ... 600 600
3.875% notes due 2014 ... ... i 600 600
5.40% notes due 2016 ... ..ottt e 400 400
5.30% notes due 2017 ... .ot 400 400
5.30% notes due 2018 ... ...t 900 900
5.00% notes due 2019 ... ... it 900 900
4.25% notes due 20271 ... .. 800
5.375% notes due 20471 ... ... . 600
Industrial development bond obligations, floating rate maturing at
various dates through 2037 ..., 37 46
6.625% debentures due 2028 ............ i 216 216
9.065% debentures due 2033 ........ ... 51 51
5.70% notes due 2036 . ...ttt e 550 550
5.70% notes due 2037 ... ... 600 600
Other (including capita]i ed leases), 0.6% 9.5% maturing at various
dates through 2023 ... ... .. 242 115
6,896 6,278
Less: current portion . ... ...t e (15) (523)
$6,881 $5,755

The schedule of principal pa ments on long term debt is as follo- s:

December 31,

2011
20T 2 $ 15
20T S 628
2004 613
200 1
208 . o e 455
I =T == 11 =Y 5,184
6,896
Less current poOrioN . ... (15)
$6,881

In Februar 2011, the Compan’ issued $800 million 4.25 percent Senior Notes due 2021 and
$600 million 5.375 percent Senior Notes due 2041 (collectivef , the Notegd). The Notes are.senior
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of Hone' ™ ell and rank equalf " ith all of Hone ™ ell’'s
e isting and future senior unsecured debt and senior to ‘all of Hone ™ ell's subordinated debt. The
offering resulted in gross proceeds of $1,400 million, offset b' $19 million in discount and closing costs

related to the offering.

In the first quarter of 2011, the Compan’ repurchased the entire outstanding principal amount of
its $400 million 5.625 percent Notes due 2012 via a cash tender offer and a subsequent optional
redemption. The cost relating to the eart redemption of the Notes, including the make™- hole
premiunty =~ as $29 million.
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In March 2011, the Compan’ entered into a $2,800 million Five Year Credit Agreement ( Credit
Agreementy - ith a s ndicate of banks. Commitments under the Credit Agreement can be increased
pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement to an aggregate amount not to e ceed $3,500 million.
The Credit Agreement contains a $700 million sub-limit for the issuance of letters of credit. The Credit
Agreement is maintained for general corporate purposes, including support for the issuance of
commercial paper, and replaces the previous $2,800 million five © ear credit agreement dated Ma 14,
2007 ( Prior Agreementy). There have been no borrd- ings under the Credit Agreement or the Prior
Agreement.

The Credit Agreement does not restrict -our ab|I|t to pa dividends and contains no financial
covenants. The failure to compt ™~ ith customar conditions or the occurrence of customar events' of
default contained in the credit agreement ™~ ould prevent an’ further borra- ings and ™ ould generalt
require the repa ment of.an outstanding borro- ings under the credit agreement. Such events of
default include: (a) non-pa ment of credit agreement debt, interest or fees; (b) non-compliance ™ ith the
terms of the credit agreement covenants; (c) cross-default to other debt in certain circumstances; (d)
bankruptc.; and (e) defaults upon obligations under Emplo ee Retirement Income Securit Act.
Additionalf , each of the banks has the right to terminate its commitment to lend additional funds or
issue letters of credit under the agreement if an* person or group acquires beneficial - nership of 30
percent or more of our voting stock, or, during an’ 12-month period, individuals = ho™ ere directors of
Hone ™ ell at the beginning of the period cease to constitute a majorit of the Board of Directors.

Loans under the Credit Agreement are required to be repaid no later than March 31, 2016. We
have agreed to pa a facilit fee of 0.125 percent per annum on the aggregate commitment.

Interest on borro- ings under the Credit Agreement - ould be determined, at Hone - ell's option,
b (a) a competitive bidding procedure; (b) the highest of the floating base rate publici announced b
Citibank, N.A. 0.5 percent above the Federal funds rate or Libor plus 1 percent; or (c) the Eurocurrenc
rate plus Hone ™~ ell’s credit default s~ ap spread, subject to a floor and a cap (applicable margin).

The facilit fee, the applicable margin over the Eurocurrenc rate and the letter of credit issuance
fee, are subject to change, based upon a grid determined b’ our long term debt ratings. The Credit
Agreement is not subject to termination based upon a decrease in our debt ratings or a material
adverse change.

“In the fourth quarter of 2011, the Compan’ repaid $500 million of its 6.125% notes. The
repa ment™~ as funded - ith cash provided b’ operating activities.

‘ In the f|rst quarter of 2010, the Compan’ repaid $1,000 million of its 7.50% notes. The repa ment
"~ as funded - ith cash provided b operating activities.

As a source of liquidit ," e sell interests in designated pools of trade accounts receivables to third
parties. As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, none of the receivables in the designated
pools had been sold to third parties. When ™ e sell receivables, the' are over-collaterali ed and - e
retain a subordinated interest in the pool of receivables representing that over-collatera]i ation as ™ ell
as an undivided interest in the balance of the receivables pools. The terms of the trade accounts
receivable program permit the repurchase of receivables from the third parties at our discretion,
providing us.*~ ith an additional source of revolving credit. As a result, program receivables remain on
the Compan ’s balance sheet ™ ith a corresponding amount recorded as either Short-term borrc- ings
or Long-term debt.
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Note 15—Lease Commitments

Future minimum lease p&.ments under operating leases having initial or remaining noncancellable
lease terms in e cess of one  ear are as follo- s

At December 31,

2011
201 e $ 311
201 L 248
2014 184
201D L 135
2018 L 92
Thereafter . ... 243

We have entered into agreements to lease land, equipment and buildings. Principalt all our
operating leases have initial. terms of up to 25 * ears, and some contain rené- al options subject to
customar conditions. At ar’ time during the terms of some of our leases, ~ e ma at our option
purchase the leased assets for amounts that appra imate fair value. We do not e pect that an’ of our
commitments under the lease agreements ™ ill have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
results of operat|ons financial position or liquidit .

Rent e pense ™~ as $386, $369 and $366 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectwer

Note 16—Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measures

Credit and Market Risk Financial instruments, including derivatives, e pose us to counterpart
credit risk for nonperformance and to market risk related to changes in interest and currenc e change
rates and commodit prices. We manage our e posure to counterpart credit risk through specific
minimum credit standards, diversification of counterparties, and procedures to monitor concentrations
of credit risk. Our counterparties in derivative transactions are substantial investment and commercial
banks - ith significant e perience usmg such derivative instruments. We monitor the impact of market
risk on the fair value and cash flo- s of our derivative and other financial instruments considering
reasonabf possible changes in interest rates, currenc e change rates and commodit prices and
restrict the use of derivative financial instruments to hedging activities.

We continuall  monitor the credit- orthiness of our customers to™ hich*~ e grant credit terms in the
normal course of business. The terms and conditions of our credit sales are designed to mitigate or
eliminate concentrations of credit risk - ith an’ single customer. Our sales are not materialt dependent
on a single customer or a small group of customers.

Foreign Currency Risk Management We conduct our business on a multinational basis in a
" ide variet of foreign currencies. Our e posure to market risk for changes in foreign currenc
e change rates arises from international financing activities bet~ een subsidiaries, foreign currenc
denominated monetar assets and liabilities and transactions arising from international trade. Our
objective is to preserve the economic value of non-functional currenc denominated cash flo~ s. We
attempt to hedge transaction e posures ™ ith natural offsets to the fullest e tent possible and, once
these opportunities have been e hausted, through foreign currenc e change for- ard and option
contracts - ith third parties.

We hedge monetar assets and liabilities denominated in non-functional currencies. Prior to
conversion into U.S. dollars, these assets and liabilities are remeasured at spot e change rates in
effect on the balance sheet date. The effects of changes in spot rates are recoggi ed in earnings and
included in- Other (Income) E pense. We partiall hedge forecasted sales and purchases, ™~ hich
predominantt occur in the ne t t- elve months and are denominated in non-functional currencies, * ith
currenc  for- ard contracts. Changes in the forecasted non-functional currenc cash flo- s due to
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movements in e change rates are substantialf offset b" changes in the fair value of the currenc
for- ard contracts designated as hedges. Market value gains and losses on these contracts are
recogni ed in earnings ~ hen the hedged transaction is recogni ed. Open foreign currenc e change
for~ ard contracts mature predominantt in the ne_t t- elve months. At December 31, 2011 and 2010,
" e had contracts ™ ith notional amounts of $7,108 million and $5,733 million, respectivel , to e change
foreign currencies, principalf the U.S. dollar, Euro, British pound, Canadian dollar, Hong Kong dollar,
Me_ican peso, S- iss franc, ¢ ech koruna, Chinese renminbi, Indian rupee, Singapore dollar, S- edish
krona, Korean "~ on and Thai baht.

Commodity Price Risk Management Our e posure to market risk for commodit- .prices can
result in changes in our cost of production. We primarit  mitigate our e_ posure to commodit price risk
through the use of long-term, fi ed-price contracts - ith our suppliers' and formula price agreements
"~ ith suppliers and customers. We also enter into for- ard commodit contracts - ith third parties
designated as hedges of anticipated purchases of several commodities. For~ ard commodit contracts
are marked-to-market, - ith the resulting gains and losses recoggi ed in earnings ~ hen the hedged
transaction is recogni ed. At December.31, 2011 and 2010, e had contracts - ith notional amounts of
$59 million and $23 million, respectivel , related to for- ard commodit agreements, principalf base
metals and natural gas.

Interest Rate Risk Management We use a combination of financial instruments, including long-
term, medium-term and short-term financing, variable-rate commercial paper, and interest rate s~ aps
to manage the interest rate mi of our total debt portfolio and related overall cost of borra- ing. At
December 31, 2011 and 2010, interest rate s~ ap agreements designated as fair value hedges
effectivel changed.$1,400 and $600 million, respectivel , of fi ed rate debt at a rate of 4.09 and 3.88
percent, respectivel , to LIBOR based floating rate debt. Our interest rate s~ aps mature through 2021.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The FASB’s accounting guidance defines fair. value as the
price that ™~ ould be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liabilit in an orderf transaction
bet- een market participants at the measurement date (e it price). The FASB’s guidance classifies the
inputs used to measure fair value into the folld- ing hierarch :

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities
Level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets

or liabilities, or

Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or
liabilities in markets that are not active, or

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the
asset or liabilit

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabilit

The Compan’ endeavors to uti]i e the best available information in measuring fair value. Financial
and nonfinancial assets and liabilities are classified in their entiret based on the 10~ est level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Compan’ has determined that our available for
sale investments in marketable equit securities are level 1 and our remaining financial.assets and
liabilities are level 2 in the fair value hierarch’ . The follo- ing table sets forth the Compan' ’s financial
assets and liabilities that ™~ ere accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31,
2011 and 2010:
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December 31,

2011 2010

Assets: .
Foreign currenc e change contracts. ...............cooiiiiiiiann.. $26 $ 16
Available for sale investments. ... 359 322
Interest rate S=ap-agreemMeNtS ... ..ottt 134 22
For~ ard commodit CONtracts ... ............ccoueeiuneeenaannnnn... 1 2

Liabilities: .
Foreign currenc’ ‘e change contracts................cooviiiiiinnnn.. $52 $ 14
For~ ard commodit CONtracts ................couieeiineeeuneaennnn... 10 2

The foreign currenc e change contracts, interest rate s~ ap agreements, and for~ ard commodit
contracts are valued using broker quotations, or market transactions in either the listed or over-the-
counter markets. As such, these derivative instruments are classified™- ithin level 2. The Compan’ also
holds investments in commercial paper, certificates of deposits, and time deposits that are designated
as available for sale and are valued using market transactions in over-the-counter markets. As such,
these investments are classified - ithin level 2.

The carr ing value of cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts and notes receivables, pa ables,
commercial paper and short-term borro- ings contained in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
appro_imates fair value. The follo- ing table sets forth the Compan ’s financial assets and liabilities
that ™~ ere not carried at fair value:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value
Assets
Long-term receivables ............ ..., $ 132 $§ 132 $ 203 $ 199
Liabilities
Long-term debt and related current maturities. .......... $6,896 $7,896 $6,278 $6,835

In the * ears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010; the Compan’ had assets - ith a net book value
of $262 million and $32 million, respectivel , specificall propert , plant and equipment, soft- are and
intangible assets, - hich - ere accounted for at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These assets "~ ere
tested for impairment and based on the. fair value of these assets the Compan’ recogni ed losses’ of
$127 million and $30 million, respectivel , in the * ears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, primaril
in connection ™ ith our repositioning actions (see Note 3 Repositioning and Other Charges). The
Compan’ has determined that the fair value measurements of these nonfinancial assets are level 3 in
the fair value hierarch’ .

The Compan’ holds investments in marketable equit securities that are designated as available
for sale.securities. Due to an other-than-temporar decline in fair value of these investments, the
Compan’ recoggpi ed an impairment charge of $62 million in the second quarter of 2009 that is
included in Other (Income) E.pense.

The derivatives uti]i ed for risk management purposes as detailed above are included on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet and impacted the Statement of Operations as follo- s:

Fair value of derivatives classified as assets consist of the folld- ing:

December 31,

Designated as a Hedge Balance Sheet Classification 2011 2010

Foreign currenc e change contracts...... Accounts, notes, and other receivables.... $ 18 $ 10
Interest rate s~ ap agreements ............ Otherassets ............ccooiiiiiiin... 134 22
Commodit contracts ..................... Accounts, notes, and other receivables .... 1 2
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Not Designated as a Hedge Balance Sheet Classification

Foreign currenc e change contracts ... ... Accounts, notes, and other receivables .... $ 8 $ 6

Fair value of derivatives classified as liabilities consist of the follo- ing:

December 31,

Designated as a Hedge Balance Sheet Classification 2011 2010
Foreign currenc e change contracts....... Accrued liabilities. .................. . ... $ 50 $ 9
Commodit contracts...................... Accrued liabilities. ............. ... oL 10 2
Not Designated as a Hedge Balance Sheet Classification

Foreign currenc e change contracts. ...... Accrued liabilities. ............. ... .l $ 2 $ 5

Gains (losses) recogni ed in OCI (effective portions) consist of the follo~ ing:

Year Ended

December 31,
Designated Cash Flow Hedge 2011 2010
Foreign currenc e change contracts. . $(42) $12
Commodit contracts ................. (12) (7)

Gains (losses) reclassified from AOCI to income consist of the follo- ing:

Year Ended

December 31,
Designated Cash Flow Hedge Income Statement Location 2011 2010
Foreign currenc e change contracts ......... Product sales. ..., $ 29 $(19)
Cost of products sold . ..................o. (34) 30
. Sales & general administrative ............... (8) (3)
Commodit contracts ..................... ... Costof products sold ........................ $@ $ (8

Ineffective portions of commodit derivative instruments designated in cash flo- hedge
relationships - ere insignificant in the * ears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and are located in
cost of products sold.

Interest rate s~ ap agreements are designated as hedge relationships ™ ith gains or (losses) on the
derivative recognpi ed in Interest and other financial charges offsetting the gains and losses on the
undert ing debt being hedged. Gains or (losses) on interest rate s~ ap agreements recogni ed in
earnings "~ ere $112 and $24 ‘million in the  ears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 respectivef .
These gains ™~ ere full offset by losses on the undert ing debt being hedged.

We also economicall hedge our e posure to changes in foreign e change rates principall ™ ith
for- ard contracts. These contracts are marked-to-market ™~ ith the resulting gains and losses
recogpi -ed in earnings offsetting the gains and losses on the non-functional currenc denominated
monetar assets and liabilities being hedged. We recoggi ed $30 million of income and $18 million of
e pense, in Other (Income) E pense for the  ears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectivef .
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The fair value of each option &~ ard is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. E_ pected volatilit is based on implied volatilities from traded options on
Hone *~ ell common stock. We used a Monte Carlo simulation model to derive an e pected term. Such
model uses historical data to estimate option e ercise activit and post-vest termination behavior. The
e pected term represents an estimate of the time options are e pected to remain outstanding.. The
risk-free rate for periods - ithin the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. treasur - ield
curve in effect at the time of grant.

Compensation cost on a pre-ta basis related to stock options recogni ed in operating results
(included in selling, general and administrative e penses) in 2011, 2010 and 2009 - as $59, $55 and
$39 million, respectivel . The associated future income ta. benefit recoggi ed in 2011, 2010 and 2009
" as $19, $16 and $13 million, respectivef .

The follo- ing table sets forth fair value per share information, including related - eighted-average

assumptions, used to determine compensation cost:
Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Weighted average fair value per share of options granted
duringthe ear(1) ... e $1256 $ 896 $ 6.73
Assumptions: "
E pected annual-dividend “ield......................... 2.68% 3.00% 4.26%
E pected volatilit ........ ... ... .., 27.60% 29.39% 35.78%
Risk-free rate of return......... ... ... L 2.47% 2.64% 2.53%
E pected option term (ears)........................... 5.8 5.4 5.8

(1) Estimated on date of grant using Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

The follo- ing table summayi es information about stock option activit for the three * ears ended
December 31, 2011:

Weighted
Average
Number of Exercise

Options Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 ......... ...ttt 40,933,522 $43.97
GraANted ...t 9,159,650 28.40
Yo 7Y (645,201) 31.66
Lapsed or canceled ... ... i e (8,537,598) 53.90
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 ...ttt 40,910,373 38.58
Granted ... o 7,607,950 40.29
E erCised. . ..o (5,211,526) 34.77
Lapsed or canceled ... ... ... (2,515,266) 4414
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 ...... ..ot 40,791,531 39.05
Granted . ... 7,625,950 57.08
E erCiSed. ..o (7,984,840) 36.39
Lapsed or canceled ........ ... (1,516,271) 42.38
QOutstanding at December 31, 2011 ... . .. i, 38,916,370 $43.01
Vested and e pected to vest at December 31, 2011(1) ................... 35,845,642 $42.49
E ercisable at December 31, 2011 . ... ... ... i 21,672,281 $40.71

(1) Represents the sum of vested options.of 21.7 million and e_ pected to vest options of 14.1 million.
E. pected to vest options are derived b appl ing the pre-vesting forfeiture rate assumption to total
outstanding unvested options 17.2 million.
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The follo- ing table summayj es information about stock options outstanding and e ercisable at
December 31, 2011:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate Average Aggregate
Number Average Exercise Intrinsic Number Exercise Intrinsic
Range of Exercise prices Outstanding  Life(1) Price Value Exercisable Price Value
$21.75 $32.99 .............. 8,037,712 5.90 $27.53 $216 4,346,486 $26.79 $120
$33.00 $39.99 .............. 5,219,120 2.75 36.22 95 5,219,120 36.22 95
$40.00 $49.99 .............. 14,259,988 6.31 42.61 167 8,978,375 43.96 93
$50.00 $74.95 .............. 11,399,550 8.10 57.52 3,128,300 58.23
38,916,370 6.27 43.01 $478 21,672,281 40.71 $308

(1) Average remaining contractual life in * ears.

There ™ ere 24,722,493 and 27,427,023 options e_ercisable at'~ eighted average e ercise prices
of $39.43 and $38.85 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivet .

The total intrinsic value of options (- hich is the amount b" ™ hich the stock price e ceeded the
e ercise price of the options on the date of e_ercise) e ercised during 2011, 2010 and 2009™ as $164,
$54 and $4 million, respectivef . During 2011, 2010 and 2009, the amount of cash received from the
e ercise of stock options ™~ as $290, $181 and $20 million, respectivel , - ith an associated ta benefit
reali ed of $54, $18 and $1 million, respectivef . In 2011, 2010 and 2009 - e classified $42, $13 and
$1 million, respectivel , of this benefit as a financing cash inflo= in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash FIo- s, and the balance ™ as classified as cash from operations.

At December 31, 2011 there™ as $119 million of total unrecogni ed compensation cost related to
non-vested stock option a~ ards™ hich is e pected to be recogni ed over a™ eighted-average period of
2.52  ears. The total fair value of options vested during 2011, 2010 and 2009 -~ as $52, $41 and $51
million, respectivel .

Restricted Stock Units Restricted stock unit (RSU) a- ards entitle the holder to receive one
share of common stock for each unit™ hen the units vest. RSUs are issued to certain ke'. emplo’ ees at
fair market value at the date of grant as compensation. RSUs t. picalf become fulf vested over
periods ranging from three to seven‘ ears and are pa able in Hone ™. ell common stock upon vesting.

The follo- ing table summagi es information about RSU activit for the three ‘ ears ended
December 31, 2011:

Weighted
Average

Number of Grant Date

Restricted Fair Value

Stock Units Per Share
Non-vested at December 31, 2008 ........ ..ot 6,825,717 $46.63
GraNted . ..o 3,691,129 30.16
VS ted . .. e (1,313,975) 40.44
Forfeited . ... (940,094) 44 .51
Non-vested at December 31, 2009 ....... ...ttt 8,262,777 40.49
GraNted . . oo 3,842,367 42.33
VS ted . .. e e (1,593,979) 48.71
Forfeited .. ... (637,212) 40.45
Non-vested at December 31, 2010 ....... ... 9,973,953 39.89
GraNted . ..o 1,887,733 55.11
VS A . .o (1,509,528) 49.48
Forfeited .. ... (605,725) 40.11
Non-vested at December 31, 2011 ... ... ... i 9,746,433 $41.35

87



HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

As of December 31, 2011, there - as appro imatel $179 million of total unrecogni ed
compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs granted under our stock plans ™~ hich is e pected to
be recogni ed over a - eighted-average period of 1.8 ears. Compensation e pense related to RSUs
" as $109, $109 and $79 million in 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectivef .

Non-Employee Directors’ Plan Under the Directors’ Plan each ne~ non-emplo ee director
receives a one-time grant of 3,000 restricted stock units that ™~ ill vest on the fifth anniversar of
continuous Board service.

In 2011, each non-emplo ee director received an annual grant to purchase 5,000 shares of
common stock at the fair market value on the date of grant. In 2012, the annual equit grant ™~ ill
change from a fi ed number of shares to a target value of $75,000 and - ill consist of 50 percent
options and 50 percent RSUs. Options ™~ ill become e. ercisable over a four- ear period and e_ pire after
ten  ears. RSUs ™~ ill generall vest on the third anniversar of the date of grant.

Note 21—Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental Matters

We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign government requirements relating to the
protection of the environment. We believe that, as a general matter, our policies, practices and
procedures are propert designed to prevent unreasonable risk of environmental damage and personal
injur and that our handling, manufacture, use and disposal of ha ardous - substances are in
accordance "~ ith environmental and safet 1a~ s and regulations. Ho- ever, mainf because of past
operations and operations of predecessor companies, ~ e, like other companies engaged in similar
businesses, have incurred remedial response and voluntar cleanup costs for site contamination and
are a part to la- suits and claims associated ™~ ith environmental and safet matters, including past
production of products containing hg ardous substances. Additional la- suits, claims and costs
involving environmental matters are likelf to continue to arise in the future.

With respect.to environmental matters involving site contamination, e continualf conduct
studies, individualf or jointf ™ ith other potentialt responsible parties, to determine the feasibilit of
various remedial techniques. It is our polic” to record appropriate liabilities for environmental matters
" hen remedial efforts or damage claim pa ments are probable and the costs can be reasonabt
estimated. Such liabilities are based on our best estimate of the undiscounted future costs required to
complete the remedial ~ ork. The recorded liabilities are adjusted periodicall as remediation efforts
progress or as additional technical, regulator or legal information becomes available. Given the
uncertainties regarding the status of la~'s, regulations, enforcement policies, the impact of other
potentialf  responsible parties, technolog and information related to individual sites, ™~ e do not believe
it is possible to develop an estimate of the range of reasonabl possible environmental loss in e cess
of our recorded liabilities. We e_pect to fund e penditures for these matters from operating cash flo- .
The timing of cash e penditures depends on a number of factors, including the timing of remedial
investigations .and feasibilit .studies, the timing of litigation and settlements of remediation liabilit ,
personal injur and propert damage claims, regulator approval of cleanup projects, remedial
techniques to be ut]j ed and agreements " ith other parties.
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The folld- ing table summayi es information concerning our recorded liabilities for environmental
costs:

Years Ended
December 31,

, 2011 2010 2009
Beginning of B & T $753 $779 $946

Accruals for enwronmental matters deemed probable and reasonabl

estimable....... S e et ee et e e a et e e a ey 240 225 151
Environmental liabilit pa ments ......... ... (270) (266) (318)
(1 T 15
ENd Of 7 @ar. .ottt $723 $753 $779

Environmental liabilities are included in the follo- ing balance sheet accounts:
December 31, December 31,

2011 2010
Accrued liabilities . .. ... $303 $328
Other liabilities . .....ooi e 420 425

$723 $753

Although ™~ e do not currentf possess sufficient information to reasonabl estimate the amounts of
liabilities to be recorded upon future completion of studies, litigation or settlements, and neither the
timing nor the amount of the ultimate costs associated ™ ith environmental matters can be determined,
the’ could be material to our consolidated results of operations or operating cash ro* s in the periods
recogni ed or paid. Ho- ever, conS|der|ng our past e perience and e_isting reserves,~ e do not e_pect
that these environmental matters ™~ ill have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position.

New Jersey Chrome Sites The e cavation and offsite disposal of appra._.imatef one million
tons of chromium residue present at a predecessor Hone' " ell site located in Jerse’ Cit , Ne~ Jerse ,
kno-n as Stud Area 7, ~as completed in Januar 2010. We are also implementing related
ground- ater remedial actions, and are seeking the appropriate permits from state and federal agencies
for related river sediment "~ ork approved b the federal court. Provisions have been made in our
financial statements for the estimated cost of these remedies.

‘The above-referenced site is the most significant of the 21 sites located in Hudson Count , Né=
Jerse that are the subject of an Administrative Consent Order (ACO) entered into™ ith the N&~ Jerse
Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) in 1993 (the Hone ™ ell ACO Siteey. Remedial
investigations and activities consistent ™ ith the ACO and other applicable settliement orders have been
conducted and are under- & at the other Hone ™~ ell ACO Sites. In addition, a settlement order -~ as
entered b’ the Né~ Jerse - State Superior Court in the third quarter of 2011 resolving litigation brought
b the NJDEP against Hone ™ ell and {~ o other companies regarding the investigation and remediation
of the remaining sites in the area that allegedl have chromium contamination (knd~ n as the Publicf
Funded Sites). Under the settlement, Hone -~ ell has accepted responsibilit to remediate 24 of the 53
Publict Funded Sites and ™ ill also bear 50 percent of the costs at another 10 Publict Funded Sites.
Hone - ell is developing a schedule for the investigation and remediation of these Publict Funded
Sites. We have recorded reserves for the Hone ™ ell ACO Sites and the applicable Publict Funded
Sites - here appropriate under the accounting polic described above.

Dundalk Marine Terminal, Baltimore, MD Chrome residue from legac chrome plant
operations in Baltimore "~ as deposited as fill at the Dundalk Marine Terminal ( DMW, ™~ hich is
0~ ned and operated b’ the Mar land Port Administration ( MP®+). Hone' ™~ ell and the MPA have been
sharing costs to investigate and mitigate related environmental issues, and have entered into a cost
sharing agreement under "~ hich Hone ™ ell - ill bear 77 percent of the costs of developing and
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implementing permanent remedies for the DMT facilit . In Januar 2011, the MPA and Hone ™ ell
submitted to the Mar land Department of the Environment ( MDBY a Corrective Measures Alternatives
Anal sis ( CMARY of certain potential remedies for DMT to assist MDE in selection of a final remed
" hich has not * et occurred. Provision has been made in our financial statements for the CMAA
consistent ™~ ith the accounting polic described above. We have negotiated a Consent.Decree - ith the
MPA and MDE * ith respect to the investigation and remediation of the DMT facilit . The Consent
Decree is being challenged in federal court b BUILD, a Baltimore communit group, together ™ ith a
local church and f- o individuals (collectivef BUILP). In October 2007, the Court dismissed - ith
prejudice BUILD’s state la~ claims and dismissed - ithout prejudice BUILD’s RCRA claims regarding
neighborhoods near the DMT facilit . In August 2008, the Court held a hearing -on the Compan ’s
motion to dismiss BUILD’s remaining claims on the grounds that MDE is diligentf prosecuting the
investigation and remediation of the DMT. We are &~ aiting the Court’s decision. We do not believe that
this matter™ ill have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position or operating cash
flo- s. Given the scope and comple it of this project, it is possible that the cost of remediation, = hen
determinable, could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations in the periods
recogni ed.

Onondaga Lake, Syracuse, NY We are implementing a combined dredging/capping remed of
Onondaga Lake pursuant to a consent decree approved b’ the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Né= York in Januar 2007. We have accrued for our estimated cost of remediating
Onondaga Lake based on currentt available information and anaf sis performed b’ our engineering
consultants. Hone ™ ell is also conducting remedial investigations and activities at other sites in
S racuse. We have.recorded reserves for these investigations and activities -~ here appropriate under
the accounting polic  described above.

Hone - ell has entered into a cooperative agreement - ith potential natural resource trustees to
assess alleged natural resource damages relating to this site. It is.not possible to predict the outcome
or duration of this assessment, or the amounts of, or responsibilit for, an’ damages.

Asbestos Matters

Like man other industrial companies, Hone ™ ell is a defendant in personal injur actions related
to asbestos. We did not mine or produce asbestos, nor did”~ e make or sell insulation products or other
construction materials that have been identified as the primar cause of asbestos related disease in
the vast majorit of claimants.

Hone - ell's predecessors o~ ned North American Refractories Compan’ (NARCO) from 1979 to
1986. NARCO produced refractor products (bricks and cement used. in high temperature
applications). We sold the NARCO business in 1986 and agreed to indemnif NARCO ™ ith respect
to personal injur claims for products that had been discontinued prior to the sale (as defined in the
sale agreement). NARCO retained all. liabilit for all other claims. NARCO and/or Hone ™ ell are
defendants in asbestos personal injur cases asserting claims based upon alleged e posure to
NARCO asbestos-containing products. Claimants consist larget of individuals - ho allege e posure to
NARCO asbestos-containing refractor products in an occupational setting. These claims, and the
filing of subsequent claims, have been sta ed continuoust since Januar 4, 2002, the date on™ hich
NARCO sought bankruptc protection (see discussion belo- ).

Hone "~ ell's Bendi friction materials (Bendi ) business manufactured automative brake parts that
contained chr sotile asbestos in an encapsulated form. Claimants consist largetf of individuals ™~ ho
allege e posure to asbestos from brakes from either performing or being in the vicinit of individuals
"~ ho performed brake replacements.
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The follo- ing tables summayi e information concerning NARCO and Bendi asbestos related
balances:

Asbestos Related Liabilities

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
] Bendix NARCO Total Bendix NARCO Total Bendix NARCO Total

Beginning of “ear................. $594 $1,125 $1,719 $566  $1,128 $1,694 $578 $1,131  $1,709
Accrual-for update to estimated

liabilit .......... ... ... 167 3 170 162 3 165 127 5 132
Change in estimated cost of future

claims........oooiiiiiii 16 16 16 16 11 11
Update of e pected resolution

values for pending claims ....... 2 2 7 7 2 2
Asbestos related liabilit pa ments. (166) (5) (171) (157) (6) (163) (148) (8) (156)
Endofiear....................... $613 $1,123  $1,736 $ 594 $1,125  $1,719 $ 566 $1,128  $1,694

Insurance Recoveries for Asbestos Related Liabilities

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
) Bendix NARCO Total Bendix NARCO Total Bendix NARCO Total
Beginning of “ear.................. $157 $718 $875 $172 $831 $1,003 $156 $877  $1,033

Probable insurance recoveries
related to estimated liabilit ....... 29 29 26 26 24 24

Insurance receipts for asbestos

related liabilities. ................. (34) (100)  (134) (41) (100) (141) (8) (8) (16)
Insurance receivables settlements
and*rite offs.................... _10 10 (13) (13) _(38) (38)
Endoffear...........ccuovviiii... $162 $618 $780 $157 $718 $ 875 $172 $831  $1,003
NARCO and Bendi asbestos related balances are included in the folld- ing balance sheet
accounts:
December 31,
2011 2010
Other CUIMTBNT @SSBES . . ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 71 $ 50
Insurance recoveries for asbestos related liabilities ......................... 709 825
$ 780 $ 875
Accrued liabilities . . ... $ 237 $ 162
Asbestos related liabilities . ... e 1,499 1,557
$1,736 $1,719

NARCO Products On Januar 4, 2002, NARCO filed a petition for reorgagi ation under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptc Code. In.connection ™ ith the filing of NARCO’s petition in 2002, the
Bankruptc Court issued an injunction sta’ ing the prosecution of NARCO-related asbestos claims
against the Compar , ™~ hich sta has continuous! remained in place. In November 2007, the U.S.
Bankruptc' Court for the Western District of Penns’ lvania confirmed NARCQO’s Third Amended Plan of
Reorgani ation (NARCO Plan of Reorgani ation). All challenges to the NARCO Plan of Reorgagi ation
"~ ere fulf resolved in the third quarter of 2010. The NARCO Plan of Reorgani ation cannot become
effective; ho- ever, until unrelated issues pertaining to certain NARCO affiliates - hich are pending in
Bankruptc Court are resolved. It is not possible to predict the timing or outcome of the Bankruptc
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Court proceedings in the affiliates’ case or ™~ hether discussions bet- een the parties ™~ ill resolve the
matter. We e_pect that the sta enjoining litigation against NARCO and Hone - ell™- ill remain in effect
until the effective date of the NARCO Plan of Reorgagi ation.

In connection "~ ith NARCO’s bankruptc filing, = e agreed to certain obligations ™~ hich ™~ ill be
triggered upon the effective date of the NARCO Plan of Reorgani ation. Hone ™ ell - ill provide
NARCO * ith $20 million in financing and simultaneoust forgive such indebtedness. We ™ ill also pa
$40 million to NARCO’s former parent compan’ and $16 million to certain asbestos claimants ~ hose
claims "~ ere resolved during the pendenc of the NARCO bankruptc proceedings. These amounts
have been classified as Accrued Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2011.

When the NARCO Plan of Reorgagi ation becomes effective, in connection - ith its implementa-
tion, a federall authagi ed 524(g) trust ( NARCO Trusty - ill be established for the evaluation and
resolution of all e isting and future NARCO asbestos claims. When the NARCO Trust is established,
both Hone ™ ell and NARCO ™ ill be entitled to a permanent channeling injunction barring all present
and future individual actions in state or federal courts and requiring all asbestos related claims based
on e posure to NARCO products to be made against the Trust. The NARCO Trust ™ ill revie~
submitted claims and determine &~ ard amounts in accordance - ith established Trust Distribution
Procedures approved b’ the Bankruptc Court™ hich set forth all criteria claimants must meet to qualif
for compensation including, among other things, e posure and medical criteria that determine the
a- ard amount.

Once the NARCO Trust is established and operational, Hone' ™~ ell ™~ ill be obligated to fund
NARCO asbestos claims submitted to the trust ™~ hich qualif- for pa ment under the Trust Distribution
Procedures, subject to annual caps up to $150 million in an ‘ ear, provided, ho- ever, that the first
$100 million of ‘claims processed through the NARCO Trust (the Initial Claims Amoun#J ™~ ill not count
against the first* ear annual cap and an’ unused portion of the Initial Claims Amount ™ ill roll over to
subsequent * ears until fulf utii ed.

Once the NARCO Trust is established and operational, Hone ™ ell ™ ill also be responsible for the
follo~ ing funding obligations " hich are not subject to the annual cap described above: a) previoust
approved pa ments due to claimants pursuant to settlement agreements reached during the pendenc
of the NARCO bankruptc proceedings ™ hich provide that a portion of these settlements is to be paid
b the NARCO Trust, - hich amounts are estimated at $130 million and are e_pected to be paid during
the first ear of trust operations and, b) pa ments due to claimants pursuant to settlement agreements
reached during the pendenc of the NARCO bankruptc proceedings that provide for the right to
submit claims to the NARCO Trust subject to qualification under the terms of the settlement
agreements and Trust Distribution Procedures criteria, = hich amounts are estimated at $150 million
and are e pected to be paid during the first - 0 ‘ ears of trust operations.

Our consolidated financial statements reflect an estimated liabilit for.the amounts discussed
above, unsettled claims pending as of the time NARCO filed for bankruptc protection and for the
estimated value of future NARCO asbestos claims e pected to be asserted against the NARCO Trust
through 2018. In light of the uncertainties inherent in making long-term projections and in connection
"~ ith the initial operation of a 524(g) trust, as ™~ ell as the sta of all NARCO asbestos claims since
Januar 2002, - e do not believe that~ e have a reasonable basis for estimating NARCO asbestos
claims be ond 2018. In the absence of actual trust e perience on ™ hich to base the estimate,
Hone ™ ell projected the probable value, including trust claim handling costs, of asbestos related future
liabilities based on Compan’ specific and general asbestos claims filing rates, e pected rates of
disease and anticipated claim values. Specificall , the valuation methodolog included an anal sis of
the population likef to have been e. posed to asbestos containing products, epidemiological studies to
estimate the number of people likef to develop asbestos related diseases, NARCO asbestos claims
filing histor , general asbestos claims filing rates in the tort s stem and in certain operating asbestos
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trusts, and the claims e perience in those forums, the pending inventor of NARCO asbestos claims,
disease criteria and pa ment values contained in the Trust Distribution Procedures and an estimated
approval rate of claims submitted to the NARCO Trust. This methodolog- used to estimate the liabilit
for future claims has been commont accepted b numerous bankruptc courts addressing 524(Q)
trusts and resulted in a range of estimated liabilit for future claims of $743 to $961 million. We believe
that no amount ™ ithin this range is a better estimate than an’ other amount and accordingl ," e have
recorded the minimum amount in the range.

Our insurance receivable corresponding to the liabilit for settlement of pending and future
NARCO asbestos claims reflects coverage - hich reimburses Hone ™ ell for portions of the costs
incurred to settle NARCO related claims and court judgments as™ ell as defense costs and is provided
b a large number of insurance policies ™ ritten b’ dg ens of insurance companies in both the domestic
insurance market and the London e cess market. At December 31, 2011, a significant portion of this
coverage is - ith insurance companies "~ ith = hom "~ e have agreements to pa full polic limits..We
conduct anal ses to determine the amount of insurance that - e estimate is probable of recover in
relation to pa ment of current and estimated future claims. While the substantial majorit of our
insurance carriers are solvent, some of our individual carriers are insolvent, - hich has been considered
in our anal sis of probable recoveries. We made judgments concerning insurance coverage that™ e
believe are reasonable and consistent ™ ith our historical dealings - ith our insurers, our kno- ledge of
an’ pertinent solvenc issues surrounding insurers and various judicial determinations relevant to our
insurance programs.

In 2006, Travelers Casualt and Insurance. Compan’ ( Travelerg filed a declarator judgment
action in the Supreme Court of Né= York, Count of Né~ York against Hone - ell and other insurance
carriers that provide coverage for NARCO asbestos claims, seeking a declaration regarding coverage
obligations for NARCO asbestos claims under high e cess insurance coverage issued b/ Travelers
and the other insurance carriers. The other insurance carriers asserted cross claims against Hone ™~ ell
seeking declarations regarding their .coverage obligations for NARCO asbestos claims under high
e cess insurance coverage issued b them. Since then, the Compan’ has entered into settlement
agreements resolving all NARCO-related .asbestos coverage issues - ith certain of these insurance
carriers, including Travelers. Appro. imatef $57 million of remaining unsettled coverage is included in
our NARCO-related insurance receivable at December 31, 2011. Hone *~-ell believes it is entitled to the
coverage at issue and e pects to prevail in this matter. In 2007, Hone ™ ell prevailed on a critical
choice of la~ issue concerning the appropriate method of allocating NARCO-related asbestos liabilities
to triggered policies. The plaintiffs appealed and the trial court’s ruling™ as upheld b the intermediate
appellate court in 2009. Plaintiffs’ further appeal to the Neé~ York Court of Appeals, the highest court in
Ne- York, - as denied in October 2009. A related Ne~ Jerse action brought b’ Hone ™ ell has been
dismissed, but all coverage claims against plaintiffs have been preserved in the Né- York action.
Based upon (i) our understanding of relevant facts and applicable 1a~, (ii) the terms of insurance
policies at issue, (iii) our e perience on matters of this nature, and (iv) the advice of counsel, - e
believe that the amount due from the remaining insurance carriers is probable of recover . While
Hone ™ ell e pects to prevail in this matter, an adverse outcome could have a material impact on our
results of operations in the period recoggi ed but™ ould not be material to our consolidated financial
position or operating cash flo- s.

Projecting future events is subject to man’ uncertainties that could cause the NARCO related
asbestos liabilities or assets to be higher or Io- er than those projected and recorded. There is no
assurance that the plan of reorgani ation™ ill become final, that insurance recoveries ™~ ill be timef or
" hether' there ~ill be an NARCO related asbestos claims be ond' 2018. Given the inherent
uncertaint in predicting future events, - e revie~ our. estimates periodicalf , and update them based
on our e perience and other relevant factors. Similart ,~ e ™ ill reevaluate our projections.concerning
our probable insurance recoveries in light of an changes to the projected liabilit or other
developments that ma impact insurance recoveries.
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Friction. Products The follo- ing tables present information regarding Bendi related asbestos
claims activit :

Year Ended

December 31,
Claims Activity . 2011 2010
Claims Unresolved at the beginning of = 22,480 19,940
Claims Filed(a) .. ...ooooi e 3,592 4,302
Claims Resolved(b) ............ e e e e (3,501) (1,762)
Claims Unresolved atthe end of “ear ............ ... ... ... 22,571 22,480

(@) The number of claims filed in 2010 includes appro. imatet 1,541 non-malignant. claims {- ith an
accrued -liabilit of appro imatef $575 thousand in the aggregate), a majorit of ™~ hich had
previoust been dismissed in Mississippi and re-filed in Arkansas.

(b) The number of claims resolved in 2011 includes appro imatel 351 claims prewousf CIaSS|f|ed as
inactive (82% non-malignant and accrued liabilit of appro imatel $1.7 million) ~ hich ™~ ere
activated. during 2011. The number of claims resolved in 2010 includes appra imatef 1,300 claims
prewoust classmed as inactive (95% non-malignant and accrued liabilit of appro imatef $2.0
million) = hich - ere activated during 2010.

December 31,

Disease Distribution of Unresolved Claims 2011 2010
Mesothelioma and Other Cancer Claims .............o ... 4,943 4,856
Nonmalignant Claims . .........ouiii e 17,628 17,624

Total Claims. . ..o 22,571 22,480

Hone ™ ell has e perienced average resolution values per claim e cluding legal costs as follo~ s

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
T T (in wthdollars) T T

Malignant claims......................... $48,000 $54,000 $50,000 $65,000 $33,000

Nonmalignant claims..................... $ 1,000 $ 1,300 $ 200 $ 1,500 $ 500

It is not possible to predict ~ hether resolution values for Bendi related asbestos claims ™ il
increase, decrease or stabj]i e in the future.

Our consolidated financial statements reflect an estimated liabilit for resolution of pending (claims
actuall filed as of the financial statement date) and future Bendi related asbestos claims. We have
valued Bendi pending and future claims using average resolution values for the previous five * ears.
We update the resolution values used to estimate the cost of Bendi pending and future claims during
the fourth quarter each * ear.

The liabilit  for future claims represents the estimated value of future asbestos related bodlr injur
claims e_pected to be asserted against Bendi over the ne_t five * ears. Such estimated cost of future
Bendi related asbestos claims is based on historic claims filing e perience and .dismissal rates,
disease classifications, and resolution values in the tort s stem for the previous five * ears. In light of
the uncertainties inherent in making long-term projections, as " ell as certain factors unique to friction
product asbestos claims, "~ e. do not believe that™ e have a reasonable basis for. estimating asbestos
claims be ond the ne t five * ears. The methodolog used to estimate the liabilit . for future claims is
similar to that used to estimate the future NARCO related asbestos claims liabilit .

Our insurance receivable corresponding to the liabilit for settlement of pending and future Bendi.
asbestos claims reflects coverage - hich is provided b’ a large number of insurance policies ™~ ritten b
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Note 22—Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

We sponsor both funded and unfunded U.S. and non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans.covering
the majorit of our emplo ees and retirees. Pension benefits for substantiall all U.S. emplo ees are
provided through non-contributor , qualified and non-qualified defined benefit pension plans. U.S.
defined benefit pension plans comprise 77 percent of our projected benefit obligation. Non-U.S.
emplo ees, "~ ho are not U.S. ciji ens, are covered b various retirement benefit arrangements, some
of ™~ hich are considered to be defined benefit pension plans for accounting purposes. Non-U.S. defined
benefit pension plans comprise 23 percent of our projected benefit obligation.

We also sponsor postretirement benefit plans that provide health care benefits and life insurance
coverage to eligible retirees. Our retiree medical plans mainf cover U.S. emplo ees ™~ ho retire ~ ith
pension eligibilit for hospital, professional and other medical services. Most of the U.S. retiree medical
plans require deductibles and copa ments, and virtualf . all are integrated - ith Medicare. Retiree
contributions are generall required based on coverage t pe, plan and Medicare eligibilit . All non-
union hourf and salaried emplo ees joining Hone ™ ell after Januar 1, 2000 are not eligible to
participate in our retiree medical and life insurance plans. Onf appro imatef 5 percent of Hone ™~ ell's
U.S. emplo ees are eligible for a retiree medical subsid from the Compar ; and this subsid is limited
to a fi. ed-dollar amount. In addition .more than half of its current retirees either have no Compan
subsid or have a fi ed dollar subsid amount. This significantf limits our e posure to the impact of
future health care cost increases. The retiree medical and life insurance plans are not funded. Claims
and e penses are paid from our operating cash flo- .

In 2011, in connection™ ith né~ collective bargaining agreements reached - ith-several of its union
groups, Hone ™~ ell amended its U.S. retiree medical plans eliminating the subsid for those union
emplo ees resulting in curtailment gains totaling $167 million. The curtailment gains represent the
- recognition in net periodic postretirement benefit cost of prior service credits attributable to the future
“ ears of service of the union groups for™~ hich future accrual of benefits has been eliminated.

In 2010; Hone -~ ell amended its U.S. retiree medical plan to no longer offer certain post-age-65
retirees Hone ™ ell group coverage and facilitate their purchase of an individual plan in the Medicare
marketplace. This plan amendment reduced the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation b $137
million = hich ™~ ill be recogni ed as part of net periodic postretirement ‘benefit cost over the average
future service period to full eligibilit of the remaining active union emplo ees still eligible for a retiree
medical subsid . Also in 2010, in connection™ ith a né~ collective bargaining agreement reached.- ith
one of its union groups, Hone - ell amended its U.S. retiree medical plan eliminating the subsid for
those union emplo ees ™~ ho retire after Februar 1, 2013. This plan amendment reduced the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation b $39 million = hich ™ ill be recogni ed as part of net
periodic postretirement benefit cost over the average future service period to full eligibilit of the
remaining active union emplo ees still eligible for a retiree medical subsid . This plan amendment also
resulted in a curtailment gain of $37 million in 2010 ™ hich represented the recognition in net periodic
postretirement benefit cost of prior service credits attributable to the future * ears of service of the union
group for ™~ hich future accrual of benefits - as eliminated.

In 2009, Hone ™~ ell amended the U.S. retiree medical plan eliminating the subsid for active non-
union emplo ees ™ ho retire after September 1, 2009. Emplo ees alread retired or~ ho retired on or
before September 1, 2009 ™~ ere not affected.b this change. This plan amendment reduced the
accumulated postretirement benefit  obligation b .$180 million representing the elimination of benefits
attributable to ears of service alread rendered b active non-union emplo ees™ ho are not eligible to
retire and those eligible non-union emplo’ ees ™~ ho ™ ere assumed not to retire prior to September 1,
2009. This reduction in the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ™ ill be recogni ed as part of
net periodic postretirement benefit cost over the average future service period to full eligibilit of the
remaining active union emplo ees still eligible for a retiree medical subsid . This plan amendment also
resulted in a curtailment gain of $98 million in 2009 ™~ hich represented the recognition in net periodic
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post retirement benefit cost of prior service credits attributable to the future * ears of service of the
emplo ee group for ™~ hich future accrual of benefits = as eliminated.

The folld- ing tables summa,u e the balance sheet impact, including the benefit obligations, assets
and funded status associated *~ ith our significant pension and other postretirement benefit plans at
December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Pension Benefits

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2011 2010 2011 2010
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of ear............. $14,990 $13,620 $4,373  $4,266
Service CoSt ... 232 221 59 51
Interest cost ... 761 768 239 228
Plan amendments............. ..o, 5 117
Actuarial 0SSeS . ... ..o 566 1,211 171 150
Divestitures . ... (26)
Benefits paid. ... (952) (947) (189) (181)
Settlements and curtailments ..................... (25)
Other.................... e e 24 20 (141)
Benefit obligation at end of “ear.................. 15,600 14,990 4,648 4,373
Change in plan assets: :
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of ear..... 12,181 10,306 3,939 3,488
Actual return on plan assets...................... (41) 1,788 87 414
Compan’ contributions .............. ... ... .. ... 1,681 1,034 124 313
Divestitures . ... (33)
Benefits paid. ..o (952) (947) (189) (181)
Settlements and curtailments ..................... (25)
Other....... oo, e 22 (95)
Fair value of plan assets at end of " ear........... 12,836 12,181 3,958 3,939
Funded status of plans ............................... $(2,764) $(2,809) $ (690) $ (434)
Amounts recogpi ed in Consolidated Balance Sheet
consist of:
Prepaid pension benefit cost(1) ................... $ $ $ 84 $ 135
Accrued pension liabilit (2) ....................... (2,764) (2,809) (774) (569)
Net amount recogni €d..........coviiiiiiiiinan... $(2,764) $(2,809) $ (690) $ (434)

(1) Included in Other Assets on Consolidated Balance Sheet
(2) Included in Other Liabilities Non-Current on Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Other
Postretirement
Benefits
2011 2010

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of o $1,628 $1,748

SEIVICE COSt ..ottt 1 2

Interest COSt . ... e 69 81

Plan amendments. .. ... (22) (176)

Actuarial l0SSeS . . ... o 6 160

Benefits paid . ... (138) (187)

Settlements and curtailments . ... i (10)

Benefit obligation atend of “ear............. ... 1,534 1,628
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of =

Actual return on plan assets. ...

Compan’ contributions . . ...

Benefits paid ............ ... ..., e

Fair value of plan assets at end of AL
Funded status of plans . ... $(1,534) $(1,628)
Amounts recoggi ed in Consolidated Balance Sheet consist of:

Accrued liabilities . ... ..o o (167) (197)

Postretirement benefit obligations other than pensions(1) ................. (1,367) (1,431)
Net amount recogni €. ... ..ot $(1,534)  $(1,628)

(1) E_cludes Non-U.S. plans of $50 and $46 million in 2011 and 2010, respectivef .

Amounts recogni ed in Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Income) Loss associated ~ ith our

significant pension and other postretirement benefit plans at December 31, 2011 and 2010 are as
follo™ s.
Pension Benefits
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2011 2010 2011 2010
Transition obligation. ..o $ $ $ 7 $ 9
Prior service cost (credit). ...t 148 177 (17) (19)
Net actuarial 10SS ... 1,559 1,499 430 321
Net amount recogni ed...........cviiiiiiiiiiiin.. $1,707  $1,676 $420  $311
Other
Postretirement
Benefits
2011 2010
Prior service (Credit) ...... ..o $(67) $(264)
Net actuarial 10SS . . .. ... 391 425
Net amount recogni €d .. ... ..ot e $324 $ 161
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The components of net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recoggi ed in other
comprehensive (income) loss for our significant plans for the * ears ended December 31, 2011,
2010, and 2009 include the folld- ing components:

Pension Benefits

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Net Periodic Benefit Cost 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Service cost............... . $ 232 $221 $183 $ 59 $ 51 $ 4
Interest cost. ...t 761 768 785 239 228 208
E. pected return on plan assets .......... (1,014) (902) (767) (284) (248) (221)
Amogji ation of transition obligation....... 2 1 1
Amorji ation of prior service cost (credit) . 33 32 26 (2) (1) (1)
Recognition of actuarial losses ........... 1,568 182 447 234 289 308
Settlements and curtailments............. 24 1 4
Net periodic benefit cost ................. $1,604 $301 $674 $249 $324 $ 336
Benefits Obligations Recognized in U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Other Comprehensive (Income) Loss 2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Actuarial (gains)/losses .................. $1,628 $325 $686 $368 $ (20) $449
Prior service cost (credit) ................ 5 117 2
Transition obligation recogni ed during
= (2) (1) (1)
Prior service (cost) credit recogpi e
during’ear............ooo.. e (33) (32) (26) 2 1 1
Actuarial losses recognpi ed during * ear. .. (1,568) (182) (447) (234) (289) (308)
Foreign e change translation adjustments. (11) (17) 42
Total recoggi ed in other
comprehensive (income) loss ...... $ 32 $228 $213 $123 $(326) $ 185
Total recogyi ed in net periodic
benefit cost and other
comprehensive (income) loss ...... $1,636 $529 ¢ 887 $372 $ (2) $521

The estimated prior service cost for pension benefits that ™ ill be amotji ed from accumulated
other comprehensive (income) loss into net periodic benefit costin 2012 are e pected to be $28 million
and $(2) million for U.S. and Non-U.S. benefit plans, respectivel .
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Other Postretirement
Benefits Years Ended
December 31,

Net Periodic Benefit Cost 2011 2010 2009
SEIVICE COSt ...ttt $ 1 $2 $ 6
Interest COSt . ... e 69 81 104
Amori ation of prior service (credit) ............ i, (34) (44) (44)
Recognition of actuarial losses ............. ..., 38 34 13
Settlements and curtailments . ........... ... (167) (47) (98)
Net periodic benefit (income) cost ..., $(93) $26 $(19)
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefits Obligations Years Ended December 31,
Recognized in Other Comprehensive (Income) Loss 2011 2010 2009
Actuarial l0SSES. ...\ttt $ 6 $160 $ 46
Prior service (credit) . ... i (21) (176) (180)
Prior service credit recogni ed during“ear.............. ... 34 44 44
Actuarial losses recogni ed during“ ear............c.ooiiiiieninn.. (38) (34) (13)
Settlements and curtailments............ ... . i 167 47 98
Total recoggi ed in other comprehensive loss (income)......... $148 $ 41 $ (5)

Total recogni ed in net periodic benefit cost and other
comprehensive loss (income) ..., $55 $ 67 $ (24)

The estimated net loss and prior service (credit) for other postretirement benefits that ™ ill be
amotji ed from accumulated other comprehensive (income) loss into net periodic benefit cost in 2012
are e pected to be $40 and $(15) million, respectivel .

Major actuarial assumptions used in determining the benefit obligations and net periodic benefit
cost for our significant benefit plans are presented in the follg- ing table.

Pension Benefits

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit
obligations as of December 31:
Discountrate ..., 4.89% 5.25% 5.75% 4.84% 5.40% 5.71%
E pected annual rate of compensation
INCIBASE . .« vttt 450% 4.50% 4.50% 3.67% 3.79% 3.87%
Actuarial assumptions used to determine net
periodic benefit cost for * ears ended
December 31:
Discountrate ..o, 5.25% 5.75% 6.95% 5.40% 5.71% 6.21%
E pected rate of return on plan assets........ 8.00% 9.00% 9.00% 7.06% 7.51% 7.52%
E pected annual rate of compensation
INCIBASE . . .ottt 450% 4.50% 4.50% 3.79% 3.87% 3.33%
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Other
Postretirement
Benefits

2011 2010 2009

Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of
December 31:

Discount rate ... ..ot e 4.00% 4.70% 5.25%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for
" ears ended December 31:

Discount rate ... ..ot e 4.70% 5.25% 6.00%

The discount rate for our U.S. pension and other postretirement benefits plans reflects the current
rate at™ hich the associated liabilities could be settled at the measurement date of December 31. To
determine discount rates for our U.S. pension and other postretirement benefit plans, ~ e use a
modeling process that involves matching the ‘e pected cash outflo~ s of our benefit plans to a * ield
- curve constructed from a portfolio of high qualit , fi ed-income debt instruments. We use the average
" jeld of this h' pothetical portfolio as a discount rate benchmark. The discount rate used to determine
the other postretirement benefit obligation is Io~ er principalf due to a shorter e pected duration of
other postretirement plan obligations as compared to pension plan obligations.

Our e pected rate of return on U.S. plan assets of 8 percent is a long-term rate based on historical
plan asset returns over var ing long-term periods combined "~ ith our e pectations on future market
conditions and the asset mi of the plan’s investments. We revie~ the e pected rate of return on an
annual basis and revise it as appropriate.

For non-U.S. benefit plans, none-of - hich™ as individuall material, assumptions reflect economic
assumptions applicable to each countr .

Pension Benefits

Included in the aggregate data in the tables above are the amounts applicable to our pension
plans ™ ith accumulated benefit obligations e ceeding the fair value of plan assets. Amounts related to
such plans ™ ere as follo- s:

December 31,

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

2011 2010 2011 2010
Projected benefit obligation................... $15,600  $14,990 $4,141 $1,990
Accumulated benefit obligation................ $14,845  $14,260 $3,912  $1,883
Fair value of plan assets..................... $12,836  $12,181 $3,367  $1,474

Accumulated benefit obligation for our U.S. defined benefit pension plans ™~ ere $14.8 and $14.3
billion and our Non-U.S. defined benefit plans ™ ere $4.4 and $4.1 billion at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectivef .

Our asset investment strateg’ for our U.S. pension plans focuses on maintaining a diversified
portfolio using various asset classes in order to achieve our long-term investment objectives on a risk
adjusted basis. Our actual invested positions in various securities change over time based on short
and longer-term investment opportunities. To achieve our objectives, ~ e have established long-term
target allocations as follo~ s: 60-70 percent equit securities, 10-20 percent fi. ed income securities and
cash, 5-15 percent real estate investments, and 10-20 percent other t pes of investments. Equit
securities include publict -traded stock of companies located both inside and outside the United States.
Fi ed income securities include corporate bonds of companies from diversified industries, mortgage-
backed securities, and U.S. Treasuries. Real estate investments include direct investments in
commercial properties and. investments in real estate funds. Other t pes of investments include
investments in private equit and hedge funds that follo~ several different strategies. We revie~ our
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assets on a regular basis to ensure that~ e are - ithin the targeted asset allocation ranges and, if
necessar , asset balances are adjusted back - ithin target allocations.

“Our non-U.S. pension assets are t picalf managed b’ decentraj ed fiduciar committees™ ith the
Hone ™~ ell Corporate Investments group providing standard funding and investment guidance. Local
regulations, local funding rules, and local financial and ta. considerations are part of the funding and
investment allocation process in each countr . While our non-U.S. investment policies are different for
each countr , the long-term investment objectives are generall the same as those for the U.S.
pension assets.

The fair values of.both our U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans assets at December 31, 2011 and
2010 b asset categor are as follo- s:

U.S. Plans
December 31, 2011
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Common stock/preferred stock:

Hone ™~ ell common StocK. . .....ovueeeeeeennn.. $ 1,012  $1,012 $ $

U.S. large cap stocks. .......coviiiii i 2,697 2,416 281

US. midcap stocks..........covvveei... 1,087 1,087

U.S. small cap stocks .......... ..., 272 272

International stocks............... ... .. ... . ..., 2,010 1,993 17

Real estate investment trusts ...................... 32 32
Fi ed income investments:

Short term investments . .............. ... L. 941 941

Government securities. ...t 291 291

Corporate bonds ... 1,984 1,984

Mortgage/Asset-Backed securities.................. 435 435

Insurance contracts. ... 6 6
Investments in private funds:

Private funds......... ... 1,039 1,039

Hedge funds ........ ... 60 60

Real estate funds ............... ... .. . 256 256
Direct investments:

Direct private investments ......................... 161 161

Real estate properties .......... ... 553 553

$12,836  $7,753 $3,014  $2,069
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U.S. Plans

December 31, 2010

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Common stock/preferred stock:
Hone ™ ell common StocK. . .......ovueeerennnn.. $ 986 $ 986 $ $
U.S. large cap Stocks. . ... 2,349 2,349
U.S. mid cap StockS. . .....ovviii i 1,049 1,049
US.smallcapstocks ............................. 301 301
International stocks. ........... ... .. ... . ... .... 2,197 2,176 21
Real estate investment trusts ...................... 38 38
FiL ed income investments:
Short term investments............. ... .. ..., 1,242 1,242
Government securities. ...l 240 240
Corporate bonds ... 1,342 1,342
Mortgage/Asset-Backed securities.................. 422 422
Insurance contracts..................c i, 10 10
Investments in private funds:
Private funds...............c i 1,053 1,053
Hedge funds ....... ...t 77 77
Real estate funds ............ ... ... 214 214
Direct investments:
Direct private investments ......................... 167 167
Real estate properties ... 494 494
$12,181 $8,141 $2,035 $2,005
Non-U.S. Plans
December 31, 2011
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Common stock/preferred stock:
U.S. companies . ........oiiiiiii i $ 371 $249 $ 122 $
Non-U.S. companies................cooiiiiiiiia... 1,343 233 1,110
FiL ed income investments:
Short-term investments ............ ... ... 78 78
Government securities . .......... i 1,175 1,175
Corporate bonds. ... 463 463
Mortgage/Asset-backed securities .................... 5 5
Insurance contracts. ............. ... i, 197 197
Investments in private funds:
Private funds.......... ... . 112 112
Hedge funds ... ... 54 54
Real estate funds.............. . ... i L 160 160
$3,958 $560 $3,072 $326
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Non-U.S. Plans
December 31, 2010
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Common stock/preferred stock:
U.S. cCOMpanies .........coviuiiie i $ 338 $327 $ 11 $
Non-U.S. companies. ..., 1,556 336 1,220
Fi ed income investments:
Short-term investments ...l 176 176
Government securities ... i 915 915
Corporate bonds. ... 431 431
Mortgage/Asset-backed securities .................... 14 14
Insurance contracts........... ..., 196 196
Investments in private funds:
Private funds......... ... i 89 89
Hedge funds ........... i 55 55
Real estate funds................ ... ... . 169 169
$3,939 $839 $313

$2,787

The follo- ing tables summayi e changes in the fair value of Level 3 assets for the * ears ended

December 31, 2011 and 2010:

U.S. Plans
Direct
Private Private Hedge Real Estate Real Estate
Funds Investments Funds Funds Properties
Balance at December 31, 2009.............. $ 911 $149 $78 $132 $452
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at * ear-end. . 42 (9) 11 36 45
Relating to assets sold during the “ ear .. 29 1 1 10
Purchases, sales and settlements ........... 71 27 (13) 45 (13)
Balance at December 31, 2010.............. 1,053 167 77 214 494
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at * ear-end. . 9) 4 (7) 26 41
Relating to assets sold during the “ ear .. 8 4
Purchases, sales and settlements ........... (5) (18) (14) 16 18
Balance at December 31, 2011.............. $1,039 $161 $ 60 $256 $553
Non-U.S. Plans
Private Hedge Real Estate
Funds Funds Funds
Balance at December 31, 2009. .. ... $ 81 $51 $137
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at“ ear-end....................... 2 4 2
Relating to assets sold duringthe “ear....................... 3 5
Purchases, sales and settlements ................................ 3 _ 25
Balance at December 31, 2010..........coi it 89 55 169
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at“ ear-end....................... 2 (1) 7
Relating to assets sold during the“ear....................... 3 2
Purchases, sales and settlements ............ ... ... .o 18 (18)
Balance at December 31, 2011 . .. ... $112 $54 $160
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Our ‘U.S. pension assets at December 31, 2011 and 2010 include $976. and $834 million,
respectivef ;, .in notional derivative e posure primarif related to outstanding equit futures contracts.
The Compan’ enters into futures contracts to gain e posure to certain markets.

Common stocks, preferred stocks, real estate investment trusts, and short-term investments are
valued at the closing price reported in the active market in™ hich the individual securities are traded.
Corporate bonds, mortgages, asset-backed securities, and government securities are valued either b/
using pricing models, bids provided b brokers or dealers, quoted prices of securities ™ ith similar
characteristics or discounted cash flo- s and as such include adjustments for certain risks that ma not
be observable such as credit and liquidit risks. Certain securities are held in commingled funds™ hich
are valued using net asset values provided b’ the administrators of the funds. Investments in private
equit , debt, real estate .and hedge funds and direct private investments are valued at estimated fair
value based on quartert financial information received from the investment advisor and/or general
partner. Investments in real estate properties are valued on a quarterf basis using the income
approach. Valuation estimates are periodicall  supplemented b’ third part appraisals.

“Qur general.funding polic for qualified pension plans is to contribute amounts at least sufficient to
satisf regulator funding standards. In 2011, 2010 and 2009, = e " ere not required to make
contributions to our U.S. pension plans, hd- ever,”~ e made voluntar' contributions of $1,650, $1,000
and $740 million, respectivel , primarif to improve the funded status of our plans. These contributions
do not reflect benefits paid directt from Compan assets. In 2012,.- e e pect to make cash
contributions of $800 million to.$1 billion ($250 million™ as made in Januar 2012) to our global defined
benefit pension plans principall  to improve the funded status of our plans and also to satisf regulator
funding standards in our non-U.S. plans.

Benefit pa ments, including amounts to be paid from Compan assets, and reflecting e pected
future service, as appropriate, are e_pected to be paid as folld- s

U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

202, $1,025 $ 185
201 1,025 189
2014 1,051 193
200 1,101 197
20706, 1,084 203
2017-2021 .o 5,473 1,097

Other Postretirement Benefits

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modergi ation Act of 2003 (the Act) provides
subsidies for emplo ers that sponsor postretirement health care plans that provide prescription drug
coverage that is at least actuarialt equivalent to that offered b’ Medicare Part D. The March 2010
enactment of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, including modifications made in the
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 resulted in a one-time, non-cash charge of $13
million related to income ta es in the first quarter of 2010. The charge results from a change in the ta.
treatment of the Medicare Part D program.

December 31,

2011 2010
Assumed health care cost trend rate: ‘
Health care cost trend rate assumed.for ne t Y- | S, 7.50% 8.00%
Rate that the cost trend rate graduall declines to...................... 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the rate it is assumed to remain at.......... 2017 2017
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The assumed health care cost trend rate has a significant effect on the amounts reported. A one-
percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate - ould have the follo- ing effects:
1 percentage point
Increase  Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components ................ $ 5 $ (3)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation.......................... ... $126 $(80)

Benefit pa ments reflecting e pected future service, as appropriate, are e pected to be paid as
follo- s:

Without Impact of Net of
Medicare Subsidy Medicare Subsidy
2012 e $180 $167
201 168 156
2014 157 145
201 e 147 136
2018 . e 137 126
2017-2021 . .o 551 499

Employee Savings Plans

We sponsor emplo ee savings plans under ™~ hich =~ e match, in the form of our common stock,
savings plan contributions for certain eligible emplo’ ees. Shares issued under the stock match plans
" ere 2.6; 2.4, and 4.8 million at a cost of $138, $105 and $158 million in 2011, 2010, and 2009,
respectivel .
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Note 23—Segment Financial Data

We globall manage our business operations through four reportable operating segments serving
customers ™ orld~ ide™ ith aerospace products and services, control, sensing and securit technologies
for buildings, homes and industr , automotive products and chemicals. Segment information is
consistent ~ ith ho~ management revié- s the businesses, makes investing and resource allocation
decisions and assesses operating performance. Our four reportable segments are as follo- s:

e Aerospace includes Air Transport and Regional, Business and General Aviation and Defense

and Space and provides products and services ~ hich include au_iliar po- er units; propulsion
engines; environmental control s stems; electric po- er s stems, engine controls; repair and
overhaul services; flight safet , communications, navigation, radar and surveillance s stems;
aircraft lighting; management and technical services; logistic services; advanced s stems and
instruments; and aircraft = heels and brakes.

Automation and Control Solutions includes Energ , Safet & Securit (controls for heating,
cooling, indoor air qualit , ventilation, humidification, lighting and home automation; advanced

soft- are applications for home/building control and optini ation; sensors, s~ itches, control

s stems and instruments for measuring pressure, air flo~ , temperature and electrical current;
securit , fire and gas detection; personal protection equipment; access control; video
surveillance equipment; remote patient monitoring s stems; and automatic identification and
data collection); Process Solutions (provides a full range of automation and control solutions for
industrial plants, offering advanced soft- are and automation s stems that integrate, control and
monitor comple. processes in man t pes of industrial settings as "~ ell as equipment that
controls, measures and anal, es natural gas production and transportation); and Building
Solutions & Distribution (installs, distributes, maintains and upgrades s stems that keep
buildings safe, comfortable and productive).

Performance Materials and Technologies includes Advanced Materials (fluorocarbons, h' dro-
fluoroolefins, caprolactam, resins, ammonium sulfate for fertii er, specialt films, ™ a es,
additives, advanced fibers, custom)i ed research chemicals and intermediates, and electronic
materials and chemicals) and UOP (catal sts and adsorbents).

Transportation S stems includes turbochargers, thermal s stems, brake hard parts and other
friction materials.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1. Hone ™ ell's
senior management evaluates segment performance based on segment profit. Segment profit is
measured as business unit income (loss) before ta es e cluding general corporate unallocated
e pense, other income (e pense), interest and other financial charges, pension and other
postretirement benefits (e pense), stock compensation e pense, repositioning and other charges
and accounting changes.
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Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net Sales
Aerospace
Product. . ... .o $6494 $ 5868 $ 5,930
SBIVICE . .t 4,981 4,815 4,833
Total .o e 11,475 10,683 10,763
Automation and Control Solutions
Product. .. ..o 13,328 11,733 10,699
SBIVICE . . 2,207 2,016 1,912
Total .o e 15,535 13,749 12,611
Performance Materials and Technologies
Product. .. ..o e 5,064 4,449 3,895
SBIVICE . e e 595 277 249
Total e e 5,659 4,726 4,144
Transportation S’ stems
Product. . ... e 3,859 3,192 2,432
SBIVICE . . e e
Total .o e 3,859 3,192 2,432
Corporate
Product. ... ... e
SOIVICE . it 1 1
Total .o 1 1

$36,529 $32,350 $29,951

Depreciation and amot}i ation

ABIOSPACE . . . oottt ettt e $ 208 $ 224 $ 217
Automation and Control Solutions..............cccoiiiiiien.... 364 368 352
Performance Materials and Technologies....................... 216 222 209
Transportation S stems ... i 96 97 98
COrPOrate. . .ot 64 59 60

$ 948 $ 970 $ 936

Segment Profit

A BIOSPACE . . v vttt et e $ 2,023 $ 1,83 $ 1,893
Automation and Control Solutions.............................. 2,083 1,770 1,588
Performance Materials and Technologies....................... 1,042 749 605
Transportation S stems ... 485 353 61
(@70 0T} -1 (= (276) (222) (156)

$ 5357 $ 4,485 § 3,991

Capital e penditures

ABIOSPACE - .« v ottt e et e e e $ 174 $ 158 $ 184
Automation and Control Solutions....................ooiit. 153 131 114
Performance Materials and Technologies....................... 282 188 153
Transportation S stems ... i 133 78 66
LO7o T oo -1 (= N0 48 89 88

$ 790 $ 644 $ 605
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December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Total Assets
A OSPACE . .\ vttt ettt $ 9,109 $ 8,604 $ 8,386
Automation and Control Solutions............. ... ... 19,127 18,183 15,474
Performance Materials and Technologies....................... 5,402 4,938 4,657
Transportation S stems ..........cc i 1,991 1,806 1,680
(@70 o] -1 1= 4,179 4,303 5,796

$39,808 $37,834 $35,993

A reconciliation of segment profit to consolidated income from continuing operations before ta. es
are as follo- s:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Segment Profit. ......... ... $5,357 $4,485 $3,991
Other income/(e. pense)(1) ... 33 69 28
Interest and other financial charges.......................... (376) (386) (458)
Stock compensation e pense(2) .............o i (168) (163) (117)
Pension e pense-ongoing(2). .......coviiiiiii i (105) (185) (287)
Pension mark-to-market adjustment(2) ....................... (1,802) (471) (741)
Other postretirement income/(e_ pense)(2) .................... 86 (29) 15
Repositioning and other charges(2) ............. ...t (743) (598) (467)
Income from continuing operations before ta. es.............. $2282 $2,722 $1,964

(1) Equit income/(loss) of affiliated companies is included in Segment Profit.

(2) Amounts included in cost of products and services sold and selling, general and administrative
e penses.

Note 24—Geographic Areas—Financial Data

Net Sales(1) Long-lived Assets(2)
Years Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
United States .............. $21,005 $18,858 $18,000 $12,426 $12,267 $11,645
Europe ........... .. ... 9,604 8,367 7,594 3,991 3,973 3,798
Other International ......... 5,920 5,125 4,357 2,728 2,296 2,072

$36,529 $32,350 $29,951 $19,145 $18,536 $17,515

(1) Sales bet- een geographic areas appro.imate market and are not significant. Net sales are
classified according to their countr of origin. Included in United States net sales are e port sales
of $4,549, $3,629 and $3,548 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectivel .

(2) Long-lived assets are comprised of propert , plant and equipment, good- ill and other intangible
assets.
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2010
Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 Year
NetSales ...t $ 7536 $ 7,926 $ 8,139 §$ 8,749 $32,350
Gross Profit ............... e 1,869 1,959 1,969 1,832 7,629
Amounts attributable to Hone ™ ell
Income from continuing operations less
net income attributable to the
noncontrolling interest..................... 471 550 579 344 1,944
Income from discontinued operations ........ 18 16 19 25 78
Net Income attributable to Hone ™~ ell ........ 489 566 598 369 2,022
Earnings per share basic
Income from continuing operations. .......... 0.61 0.72 0.75 0.44 2.51
Income from discontinued operations ........ 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.10
Net Income attributable to Hone ™ ell ........ 0.63 0.74 0.77 0.47 2.61
Earnings per share assuming dilution
Income from continuing operations. .......... 0.61 0.71 0.74 0.44 2.49
Income from discontinued operations ........ 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.10
Net Income attributable to Hone ™ ell ........ 0.63 0.73 0.76 0.47 2.59
Dividends paid per share...................... 0.3025 0.3025 0.3025 0.3025 1.21
Market Price per share
High ..o 45.27 48.52 44.46 53.72 53.72
e R 36.87 39.03 38.53  43.61 36.87

(1) the’ ear ended December 31, 2011, Income from discontinued operations includes a $178 million,
net of ta gain, resulting from the sale of the CPG business ~ hich funded a portion of the 2011

repositioning actions.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To THE BoARD oF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.;

In our opinion, -the consolidated financial statements listed in the inde appearing under Item
15(a)(1) present fairf , in all material respects, the financial position of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and
its subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash
flo- s for each of the three ears in the period ended December 31, 2011 in conformit ~ ith accounting
principles generalf accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial
statement schedule listed in the inde. appearing under item 15(a)(2) presents fairf , in all material
respects, the information set forth therein " hen read in conjunction " ith the related consolidated
financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Compan’ maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued b the Committee of Sponsoring Orgagi ations of the
Tread-a& Commission (COSO). The Compan ’s management is responsible for these financial
statements and the financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in -Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting under Iltem 9A. Our
responsibilit is to & press opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule
and on the Compar' ’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance - ith the standards of the Public Compan’ Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that ~ e plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about - hether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and
"~ hether effective internal control over financial reporting "~ as maintained in all material respects. Our
audits of the financial statements included e amining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made b management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material -~ eakness e ists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as ~ e considered necessar in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A compan' ’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliabilit of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
e ternal purposes in accordance - ith generalf accepted accounting principles. A compan ’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accuratel and fairl reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the compan' ; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessar to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance - ith generalf
aceepted accounting principles, and that receipts and e penditures of the compan. are being made
onf in accordance ™ ith authagi ations of management and directors of the compar ; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timel detection of unauthqgi ed acquisition, use, or
disposition of the compan' ’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting ma not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of an’ evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls ma become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance - ith the policies or procedures ma deteriorate.

/s/ Price~ aterhouseCoopers LLP

Florham Park, N~ Jerse
Februar 17, 2012
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure

Not Applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Hone ™ ell management, including the Chief E_ ecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered b this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief E_ ecutive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures - ere effective
as of the end of the period covered b this Annual Report on Form 10-K to ensure information required
to be disclosed in the reports that Hone - ell files or submits under the E change Act is recorded,
processed, summayi ed, and reported ™ ithin the time periods specified in the Securities and E. change
Commission rules and forms and that it is accumulated and communicated to our management,
including-our Chief E_ecutive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and our Controller, as appropriate, to
allo~ timel decisions regarding required disclosure. There have been no changes that have materialf

affected, or are reasonabl likef to materialf affect, Hone' ™ ell's internal control over financial
reporting that have occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2011.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Hone - ell management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities E. change Act
of 1934. Hone ™ ell's internal control over .financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilit of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for e ternal purposes in accordance - ith generall accepted accounting principles.
Hone ™ ell’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accuratet and fairf reflect
the transactions and dispositions of Hone' " ell's assets;

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessar to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance ™ ith generall accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and. e penditures of the compan are being made onf in accordance ™ ith
authqgi ations of Hone - ell’'s management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timef detection of unauthqgi ed
acquisition, use or disposition of Hone ™ ell's assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting ma not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of an’ evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls ma& become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance - ith the policies or procedures ma deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of Hone ™ ell’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2011. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth b’ the
Committee of Sponsoring Orgagi ations of the Tread~ @ Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework.

Based on this assessment, management determined that Hone' ™~ ell maintained effective internal
control over financial reportinvg as of December 31, 2011.

The effectiveness of Hone ™ ell’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011
has been audited b’ Price~ aterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
as stated in their report ™ hich is included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementar Data’
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Item 9B. Other Information
Not Applicable

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information relating to the Directors of Hone ™ ell, as ™~ ell as information relating to compliance
"~ ith Section 16(a) of the Securities E. change Act of 1934, - ill be contained in our definitive Pro
Statement involving the election of the Directors, ~ hich - ill be filed ™~ ith the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A not later than 120 da s after December 31, 2011, and such information‘is incorporated
herein b reference. Certain other information relating to the E.ecutive Officers of Hone - ell appears
in Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading E. ecutive Officers of the Registranty

The members of the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors are: George Pg (Chair), Kevin
Burke, Scott Davis, Linnet Deil , and Judd Gregg. The Board has determined that Mr. Pa is the audit
committee financial e pertvas defined b’ applicable SEC rules and that Mr. Pa , Mr. Davis, and Ms.
Deif satisf the accounting or related financial management e pertise criteria established by the
NYSE. All members of the Audit Committee are independentyas that term is defined in applicable
SEC Rules and NYSE listing standards.

Hone - ell's Code of Business Conduct is available, free of charge, on our - ebsite under the
heading Investor Relationg™(see - Corporate Governance®), or b ™~ riting to Hone ™ ell,-101 Columbia
Road, Morris To~ nship, Neé~ Jerse 07962, c/o Vice President and Corporate Secretar . Hone ™~ ell’'s
Code of Business Conduct applies to all Hone ™ ell directors, officers (including the Chief E_ecutive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and.Controller) and emplo ees. Amendments to or ™~ aivers of the Code
of Business Conduct granted to ar'. of Hone ™ ell’s directors or e_ecutive officers ™ ill be published on
our - ebsite ™~ ithin five business da s of such amendment or - aiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information relating to e ecutive compensation is contained in the Pro.* Statement referred to
above in Item 10. Directors and E. ecutive Officers of the Registrantr and such information is
incorporated herein b reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
and Related Stockholder Matters

Information relating to securit o~ nership of. certain beneficial 6~ ners and management and
related stockholder matters is contained in the Pro_* Statement referred to above in Item.10. Directors
and E_ecutive Officers of the Registrant?vand such information is incorporated herein b reference.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS .
As of December 31, 2011 information about our equit compensation plans is as follo~ s:

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Number of Available for
Shares to be Weighted- Future Issuance
Issued Upon Average Under Equity
Exercise of Exercise Price Compensation
Outstanding  of Outstanding Plans (Excluding
Options, Options, Securities
Warrants and Warrants and Reflected in
Plan category Rights Rights Column (a))
e - - (a) (b) (c)
Equit compensation plans approved b’ securit
MOIIEIS . . . oo e .. 49,805073(1) $43.01(2)  42,195,484(3)
Equit compensation plans not approved b’ securit
ROIAEIS . . . oot 626,868(4) N/A(5) N/A(6)
Total 50,521,941 43.01 42,195,484




(1)

Equit compensation plans approved b ‘sharec- ners that are included in column (a) of the table
are the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and its Affiliates (the 2011 Stock
Incentive Plarty, the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and its Affiliates (the
2006 Stock Incentive Plarty, the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone - ell International Inc. and its
Affiliates (the 2003 Stock Incentive Plarty and the 1993 Stock Plan for Emplo ees of Hone ™ ell
International Inc. and its Affiliates (the 1993 Stock Plarry (38,562,720 shares of Common Stock to
be issued for options ™~ ith a™ eighted average term of 6.27 ‘ ears; 31,150 shares to be issued for
stock appreciation rights ( SARe; 9,746,433 RSUs subject to continued emplo ment; 130,891
performance shares subject to' continued emplo’ ment; and 1,092,879 deferred RSUs of earned
and vested a- ards™~ here deliver of shares has been deferred); and the 2006 Stock Plan for Non-
Emplo ee Directors of Hone ™ ell International Inc. (the ‘2006 Non-Emplo ee Director Plarty and
the 1994 Stock Plan for Non-Emplo ee Directors of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. (the 1994 Non-
Emplo ee Director Plarry (322,000 shares of Common Stock to be issued for options; and 9,000
RSUs subject to continued services). RSUs included in column (a) of the table represent the full
number of RSUs a- arded and outstanding™ hereas the number of shares of Common Stock to be
issued upon vesting - ill be o~ er than™ hat is reflected on the table due to the net share settlement
process used b the Compan’ (- hereas the value of shares required to meet emplo ee statutor

minimum ta. - ithholding requirements are not issued).

1,266,309 gro- th plan units -~ ere issued for the performance ¢ cle commencing on Januar 1,
2010 and ending December 31,2011 pursuant to the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. The ultimate
value of an’ gro‘" th plan a-ard ma be paid in cash or shares of Common Stock and, thus, gro‘" th
plan units are not included in the table above. The ultimate value of gro- th plan units depends
‘upon the achievement of pre-established performance goals during the t- o< ear performance
¢ cle. 50% of the pa ment related to these gro- th plan units - ill be paid in March 2012 and the
remaining 50% " ill be paid in March 2013, subject to active emplo’ ment on the pa ment dates.

Because the number of future shares that ma be distributed to emplo ees participating in the
Hone ™ ell Global Stock Plan is unkna- n, no shares attributable to that plan are included in column
(a) of the table above.

Column (b) relates to stock options and does not include an’ e ercise price for RSUs, performance
shares, or gro-th plan units granted to emplo ees or non-emplo ee directors under equit
compensation plans approved b shareo- ners. RSUs do not have an e ercise price because their
value is dependent upon attainment of certain performance goals or continued emplo ment or
service and the  are settled for shares of Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. Gro- th plan units
are denominated in cash units and the ultimate value of the a~ ard is dependent upon attainment of
certain performance goals. .

The number of shares that ma be issued under the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan as of December 31,
2011 is 39,582,132 hich includes the folld- ing additional shares under the 2011 Stock Incentive
Plan (or anf Prior Plan as defined in the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan) that ma again be available for
issuance: shares that are settled for cash, e pire, are canceled, are tendered in satisfaction of an
option e ercise price or ta " ithholding obligations, are reacquired ™~ ith cash tendered ‘in
satisfaction of an option e_ercise price or™ ith monies attributable to an’ ta deduction enjo ed bi
Hone ™ ell to the e_ercise of an option, and are'under ar  outstanding a~ ards assumed under ar’
equit compensation plan of an entit acquired b Hone ™ ell. No securities are available for future
issuance under the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, the 1993 Stock Plan,
or the 1994 Non-Emplo ee Director Plan.

The number of shares that ma be issued under the Hone ™ ell Global Stock Plan as of December
31, 2011 is 2,384,352. This plan is an umbrella plan for four plans maintained solef for eligible
emplo’ ees of participating non-U.S. countries. More than 50% of the shares distributed under the
Hone ™~ ell Global Stock Plan have been distributed to participants in-one sub-plan, the Global
Emplo ee Stock Purchase Plan. As of Januar 1, 2011, the Global Emplo’ ee Stock Purchase Plan
"~ as suspended, although compan’ matching shares a- arded to participants in 2008 vested in
November 2011.
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Another sub-plan of the Hone ™ ell Global Stock Plan, the UK Sharebuilder Plan, allo~ s an eligible
UK emplo ee to contribute a specified percentage of ta able earnings that is then invested in
shares. The compan’ matches those shares and dividends paid are used to purchase additional
shares. The compan’ increased the match share percentage from 50% to 62.50% effective March
1, 2011. Matched shares are subject to a three-+ ear vesting schedule. Shares taken out of the plan
before five * ears lose their ta -favored status. For the ' ear ending December 31, 2011, 105,015
shares - ere credited to participants’ accounts under the UK Sharebuilder Plan.

The remaining = 0 sub-plans of the Hone ™~ ell Global Stock Plan, the Hone ™ ell International
Technologies Emplo-ees Share J- nership Plan (Ireland) and the Hone ™~ ell Measure. (Ireland)
Limited Group Emplo ee Profit Sharing Scheme, allo~ eligible Irish emplo ees to contribute
specified percentages of base pa , bonus or performance pa that are then invested in shares.
Shares must be held in trust for-at least {~ o ears and lose their ta -favored status if the are
taken out of the plan before three * ears. For the * ear ending December 31, 2011, 23,881 shares

"~ ere credited to participants’ accounts under these t- o plans.

The remaining 229,000 shares included in column (c) are shares remaining for future grants under
the 2006 Non-Emplo' ee Director Plan.

Equit compensation plans not approved b shareo~ ners that are included in the table are ‘the
Supplemental Non-Qualified Savings Plan for Hight Compensated Emplo ees of Hone ™ ell
International Inc. and its Subsidiaries, and the AlliedSignal Incentive Compensation Plan for
E. ecutive Emplo ees of AlliedSignal Inc. and its Subsidiaries.

The Supplemental Non-Qualified Savings Plan for Hight Compensated Emplo ees of Hone ell
International Inc. and its Subsidiaries is an-unfunded, non-ta qualified plan that provides benefits
equal to the.emplo ee deferrals and compan’ matching allocations that™~ ould have been provided
under Hone' ™~ ell's U.S. ta -qualified savings plan if the ‘Internal Revenue Code limitations on
compensation and contributions did not appl . The compan’ matching contribution is credited to
participants’ accounts in the form of notional shares of Common.Stock. The notional shares are
distributed in the form of actual shares of Common Stock ™~ hen pa ments are made to participants
under the plan. The number of shares to be issued under this plan based on the value of the
notional shares as of December 31, 2011 is 592,957.

The AlliedSignal Incentive Compensation Plan for E_ ecutive Emplo’ ees of AlliedSignal Inc. and its
Subsidiaries ™~ as a cash incentive compensation plan maintained b AlliedSignal Inc. This plan has
e pired. Emplo ees ™~ ere permitted to defer receipt of a cash bonus pa able under the plan and
invest the deferred bonus in notional shares of Common Stock. The notional shares are distributed
in the form of actual shares of Common Stock ™ hen pa ments are made to participants under the
plan. No further deferrals can be made under this plan. The number of shares of Common Stock
that remain to be issued under this e pired plan as of December 31, 2011 is 33,911.

The Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Emplo ee Directors of Hone ™ ell International Inc.
provides .for mandator and elective deferral of certain pa ments to non-emplo ee directors.
Mandator deferrals are invested in notional shares of Common Stock. Directors ma also invest
an elective deferrals in notional shares of Common Stock. Because the notional shares are
distributed in the form of cash™ hen pa ments are made to directors under the plan, the are not
included in the table above.

Column (b) does -not include an' e ercise price for notional shares allocated to emplo’ ees under
Hone ™~ ell's.equit compensation plans not approved b’ shared- ners because all of these shares
are notionalf allocated as a matching contribution under the non-ta. qualified savings plans or as
a notional investment of deferred bonuses or fees under the cash incentive compensation and
directors’ plans as described in note 4 and are onf settled for shares of Common Stock on a one-
for-one basis.

No securities are available for future issuance under the AlliedSignal Incentive Compensation Plan
for E_ ecutive Emplo’ ees of AlliedSignal Inc. and its Subsidiaries and the Deferred Compensation
Plan for Non-Emplo ee Directors of Hone -~ ell International Inc. The cash incentive compensation
plan has e pired. All notional investments in shares of Common Stock are converted to cash™ hen
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pa ments are made under the directors’ plan. The amount of securities available for future
issuance under the Supplemental Non-Qualified Savings Plan for Hight Compensated Emplo’ ees
of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and its Subsidiaries is not determinable because the number - of
securities that ma be issued under this plan depends upon the amount deferred to the plan b
participants in future ‘ ears.

The table does not contain information for emplo’ ee benefit plans of Hone ™~ ell that are intended
to meet the requirements of Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code and a small number of
foreign emplo’ ee benefit plans that are similar to such Section 401(a) plans.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information relating to certain relationships and related transactions is contained in the Pro
Statement referred to above in Item 10. Directors and E. ecutive Officers of the Registrant#and such
information is incorporated herein b’ reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information relating to fees paid to and services performed b Price~ aterhouseCoopers LLP in
2011 and 2010 and our Audit Committee’s pre-approval policies and procedures - ith respect to non-
audit services are contained in the Pro ¢ Statement referred to above in Item 10. Directors and
E ecutive Officers of the Registrant?#and such information is incorporated herein b reference.

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Page Number

in Form 10-K
(a)(1.) Consolidated Financial Statements: :
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the ears ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009............ccviiiiiineninnn.. 56
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2011 and 2010....... 57
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flo- s for the * ears ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009...... e e e 58
Consolidated Statement of Sharec~ ners’ Equit for the * ears ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009...............ciiiiiiinnnnnn 59
Notes to Financial Statements ................ ... ... ... i 60
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm........... 112
Page Number
(a)(2.) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules: in Form 10-K
Schedule Il Valuation and Qualif ing Accounts .................... 125

All other financial statement schedules have been omitted because the are not applicable to us or
the required information is sha- n in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(8.) E hibits
See the E_hibit Inde. of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities E. change Act of 1934, the registrant has duf
caused this report to be signed on its behalf b’ the undersigned thereunto duf authqgi ed.

Date: Februar 17, 2012

HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.

B : /s/ Kathleen A. Winters

Kathleen A. Winters
Vice President and Controller
(on behalf of the Registrant
and as the Registrant’s
Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities E. change Act of 1934, this annual report has been
signed beld- b the follo~ ing persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date

indicated:
Name Name
David M. Cote Linnet F. Deil
Chairman of the Board, Director
Chief E_ ecutive Officer
and Director
Gordon M. Bethune Clive R. Hollick
Director Director
Kevin Burke George Pa
Director Director

*

*

Jaime Chico Pardo

Bradle® T. Sheares, Ph.D.

Director Director
D. Scott Davis Judd Gregg
Director Director

/s/ David J. Anderson

/s/ Kathleen A. Winters

David J. Anderson
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

B : /s/ David J. Anderson

(David J: Anderson
Attorne’ -in-fact)

Februar 17, 2012

Kathleen A. Winters
Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit No.

3())

3(ii)

4

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Hone' ™~ ell International Inc., as
amended April 26, 2010 (incorporated b’ reference to E. hibit 3(i) to Hone ™ ell’'s
.Form 8-K filed Apr|I 27, 2010)

B -la- s of Hone ™ ell International Inc as amended April 26, 2010 (mcorporated b
reference to E._ hibit 3(ii) to Hone *~.ell's Form 8-K filed April 27, 2010)

Hone ™ ell International Inc. is a part to several long-term debt instruments under
" hich, in each case, the total amount of securities authafj ed does not e ceed
10% of the total assets of Hone ™~ ell and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.
Pursuant to paragraph 4(iii)(A) of ltem 601(b) of Regulation S-K, Hone' ™~ ell agrees
to furnish a cop’ of such instruments to the Securities and E_ change Commission
upon request.

2003 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ell International Inc. and its Affiliates
(incorporated b’ reference to Hone - ell’s Pro.’ Statement, dated March 17,
2003, filed pursuant to Rule 14a-6 of the Securities and E change Act of 1934),
and amended b E hibit 10.1 to Hone - ell’s Form 8-K filed December 21, 2004,
E_hibit 10.1 to Hone'~ ell’'s Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2006 and
E_hibit 10.1 to Hone ™ ell’s Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2008

Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Emplo ee Directors of Hone ™~ ell International
Inc.; .as amended and restated (incorporated b reference to E_hibit- 10.2 to
Hone ™ ell's Form 10-Q for quarter ended June 30, 2003), and amended b’ E._ hibit
10.1 .to Hone - el’'s Form 8-K filed December 21, 2004 and E. hibit 10.2 to
Hone ™~ el's Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2005

Stock Plan for Non-Emplo' ee Directors of AlliedSignal Inc., as amended (incorpo-
rated b reference to E. hibit 10:3 to Hone ™~ ell’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2003), and amended b E_hibit 10.2 to Hone: ™~ el’'s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2007 and E_hibit 10.1 to Hone ™ ell's Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2008

Hone ™ ell International Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan for Eecutlve Emplo ees,
as amended and restated (incorporated b reference to Hone ™ ell's Pro -
Statement, dated March 10, 2011, filed pursuant to Rule 14a-6 of the Securities
and E.change Act of 1934)

Supplemental Non-Qualified Savings Plan for H|ghr Compensated EmpIo‘ ees of
Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and its Subsidiaries, as amended and restated
(incorporated b’ reference to E_ hibit 10.6 to Hone “ el’s Form 10-K for the * ear
ended December 31, 2008), and amended b’ E_hibit 10.5 to Hone ™~ ell’'s Form
10-K for the “ ear ended December 31, 2010

Hone ™ ell International Inc. Severance Plan for Senior E. ecutives, as amended and
restated (incorporated b’ reference to E. hibit 10.7 to Hone' ™~ ell's Form 10 K for
the * ear ended December 31, 2008), and amended b’ E_ hibit 10.7 to Hone ™~ ell’'s
Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2009

Salar and Incentive A~ ard Deferral Plan for Selected Emplo ees of Hone ell
International Inc., and its Affiliates, as amended and restated (incorporated b’
reference to E_hibit 10.8 to Hone ™~ ell’s Form 10-K for the * ear ended December
31, 2008)
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Exhibit No.

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

Description

1993 Stock Plan for Emplo: ees of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and its.Affiliates, as
amended (incorporated b reference to E. hibit A to Hone ™~ ell's Pro. Statement,
dated March 10, 1994, filed pursuant to Rule 14a-6 of the'Securities and E_ change
Act of 1934), and amended b E_ hibit .10.1 to Hone - ell's Form 8-K filed
December 21, 2004, E. hibit 10.9 to Hone ™~ ell's Form 10-K for the * ear ended
December 31, 2006, E._ hibit 10.3 to Hone '~ ell’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2007 and E hibit 10.9 to Hone' ™~ el’'s Form 10-K for the * ear ended
December 31, 2008

Hone ™ ell International Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan, as amended and restated
(incorporated b’ reference to E_ hibit 10.10 to Hone ™~ el's Form 10-K for the * ear
ended December 31, 2008), and amended b’ E_hibit 10.10 to Hone * ell’'s Form
10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2009

Hone ™ ell International Inc. Supplemental E. ecutive Retirement Plan for.E_ ecutives
in Career Band 6 and Above, as amended and restated (incorporated bl reference
to E_ hibit 10.12 to Hone ™~ ell's Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2008),
and amended b E hibit 10.12 to Hone - el's Form 10-K for the ‘ ear ended
December 31, 2009

Hone ™ ell Supplemental Defined Benefit Retirement:Plan, as amended and restated
(incorporated b’ reference to E_ hibit 10.13 to Hone ™~ ell's Form 10-K for the  ear
ended December 31, 2008), and amended b E_hibit 10.13 to Hone ~ ell's Form
10-K for the © ear ended December 31, 2009

Letter bet- een David J. Anderson and Hone ™ ell International Inc. dated June 12,
2003 (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.26 to Hone ™~ ell’'s Form. 10 Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2003), and amended b’ E_ hibit 10.14 to Hone ™ ell’s Form
10- K for the * ear ended December 31, 2008

Hone ™~ ell " International Inc. Severance Plan for Corporate Staff Emplo ees
(Involuntar Termination Folld- ing a Change in Control) as amended and restated
(incorporated b’ reference to E_ hibit 10.16 to Hone - ell's Form 10-K for the  ear
ended December 31, 2008)

Emplo ment Agreement dated .as of Februar 18, 2002 bet- een Hone ~ell and
David M. Cote (incorporated b’ reference to E._ hibit 10.24 to Hone ™~ ell’s Form 8-K
filed March 4, 2002), and amended b E_ hibit 10.3 to Hone' ™~ ell’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter-ended September 30, 2008 and E. hibit 10.17 to Hone - ell’'s Form
10-K for the “ ear ended December 31, 2008

2003 Stock Incentive Plan for Emplo ees of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and its
Affiliates A-ard Agreement (incorporated b reference to E hibit 10.1 to
Hone - ell’s Form 8-K filed Februar. 7, 2005)

2003 Stock Incentive Plan for Emplo ees of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and its
Affiliates Restricted Unit Agreement (incorporated b’ reference to E hibit 10.21 to
Hone - el’'s Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2005)

Stock Plan For Non-Emplo.ee Directors of Hone ™ ell International Inc. Option
Agreement (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed April 29,
2005)

Deferred Compensation Agreement dated August 4, 2006 bet~ een Hone ell and
David M. Cote (incorporated b’ reference to E._ hibit 10.22 to Hone - ell’s Form 10-
K for. the * ear ended December 31, 2006) and amended b E_hibit 10.22 to
Hone - ell's Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2009 .

Letter Agreement dated Jul 27, 2001 bet- een Hone.™ ell and Larr E. Kittelberger
(incorporated b’ reference to E_ hibit 10.23 to Hone *~ ell's Form 10-K for the * ear
ended December 31, 2006), and amended b’ E._hibit 10.23 to Hone - ell’s Form
10-K for the “ ear ended December 31, 2008
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Exhibit No.

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*

10.27*

10.28*

10.29*

10.30"

10.31*

10.32*

10.33"

10.34*

10.35*

Description

Hone ™~ ell. Supplemental Retirement Plan (incorporated b reference to E_ hibit 10.24
to ‘Hone * ell’s Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2006)

Pitt- @ Corporation Supplemental E_ecutive Retirement Plan (mcorporated b
reference to E_ hibit 10.25 to Hone ™ ell’s Form 10-K for. the * ear ended
December 31, 2006) and amended b’ E_hibit 10.25 to Hone - ell’s Form 10-K
for the * ear ended December 31, 2008 and E. hibit 10.25 to Hone  ell's 10-K for
the * ear ended December 31, 2009

2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and lts Affiliates, as
amended and restated (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.26to Hone ™ ell’'s
Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2008), and amended b’ E_ hibit 10.1
to Hone -~ ell's 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011

2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and lts Affiliates Form of
Option A~ ard Agreement (incorporated b’ reference to E. hibit 10.2 to Hone ™ ell’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009)

2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and lts Affiliates Form of
Restricted Unit Agreement (incorporated b’ reference to E hibit 10.1 to
Hone - el’'s Form 10-Q for the-quarter ended March 31, 2009)

2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and lts Affiliates Form of
Gro- th Plan Agreement (incorporated b’ reference to E_hibit 10.1 to Hone ™~ ell’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010)

2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and Its Affiliates Form of
Performance Share Agreement (incorporated b reference to E hibit 10.30 to
Hone - el’'s Form 10-K for the  ear ended December.31, 2006)

2006 Stock Plan for Non-Emplo ee Directors of Hone ™ ell International Inc., as
amended and restated (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.31 to Hone ™ ell’'s
Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2008) and amended b’ the attached
amendment (filed here- ith) -

2006 Stock Plan for Non- Emplo ee Directors of Hone ell International Inc: . Form
of Option Agreement (incorporated b reference to E hibit 10.7 to Hone ™~ ell’'s
Form10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006)

2006 Stock Plan for Non-Emplo ee Directors of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. Form
of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated b’ reference to E hibit 10.8 to
Hone ™~ el’'s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June.30, 2006)

2006 Stock Plan for Non-Emplo ee Directors of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. Form
of Restricted Unit Agreement . (incorporated b’ reference to E_hibit 10.34 to
Hone ™ ell’s Form 10-K for the.” ear ended December 31, 2008) .

2007 ‘Hone ™ ell Global Emplo ee Stock Plan (incorporated b reference to
Hone ™ el’'s Pro.’ Statement, dated March 12, 2007, filed pursuant to
Rule 14a-6 of the Securities and E. change Act of 1934)

Letter Agreement dated Juf 20, 2007 bet- een Hone - ell and Roger Fradin
(incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.1 to Hone' ™~ ell's Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2007) and amended b E. hibit 10.36 to Hone * ell’'s Form
10-K for the  ear ended December 31, 2009

Consulting Agreement dated March 24, 2010 bet- een Hone ell and Larr
Kittelberger (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.2 to Hone' - ell’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2010)

Letter Agreement dated October 6, 2010 bet- een Hone ell and Roger Fradin
(incorporated b’ reference to E_ hibit 10.34 to Hone *~ ell's Form 10-K for the  ear
ended December 31, 2010))

Emplo’ ee Non-Competition Agreement dated October.26, 2010 for Andreas Kramvis
(incorporated b’ reference to E_ hibit 10.35 to Hone ™~ ell's Form 10-K for the * ear
ended December 31, 2010)
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Exhibit No.

10.36*

10.37*

10.38*

10.39*

10.40*

10.41*

10.42*

10.43*

10.44*

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

Description

2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and its Affiliates Form of
Restricted Unit Agreement, Form 2 (incorporated by reference to E hibit 10.2 to
Hone ™~ el’'s Form 10-Q for the-quarter ended June 30, 2010)

2006 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™~ ell International.Inc. and lts Affiliates Form of
Optlon A- ard Agreement, Form 2 (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.37 to
Hone ™~ el’'s Form 10-K for the * ear ended December 31, 2010) ,

Letter Agreement dated  September 3, 2009 bet- een Hone ell and Tlmoth
Mahone (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.38 to Hone ™~ ell’s Form 10-K for
the * ear ended December 31, 2010)

Form of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. Noncompete Agreement for Senior E_ecutives
(incorporated b’ reference to E. hibit 10.39 to Hone * ell's Form 10-K for the * ear
ended December 31, 2010))

2011 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and its Affiliates
(incorporated b reference to Hone' ™ ell's Pro.’ Statement, dated March 10,
2011, filed pursuant to Rule 14a:6 of the Securities and E. change Act of 1934)

2011 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and its Affiliates Form of
Restricted Unit Agreement (incorporated b" reference to E hibit 10.2 to
Hone ™~ el's Form 10-Q for the-quarter ended June 30, 2011)

2011 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™~ ell International Inc. and lts Affiliates Form of
Option A~ ard Agreement (filed- here~ ith)

2011 Stock Incentive Plan of Hone ™ ell International Inc. and Its Affiliates Form of
Gro- th Plan Agreement (filed here- ith) .

Letter Agreement dated August 4, 2011 bet- een Hone ™ ell Internatlonal Inc. and
David M. Cote (incorporated b reference to E_ hibit 10.1 to Hone - ell's Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2011) ,

Five Year Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2011 b and among Hone ell
International Inc., the banks, financial institutions and other institutional lenders
parties thereto, Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent, Citibank International PLC,
as s~ ing line agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as s ndication agent, Bank of
America, N.A., Barcla s Bank PLC, Deutsche Bank AG Ne- York Branch,
Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Morgan Stanle MUFG Loan Partners, LLC and The
Ro al Bank of Scotland PLC, as documentation agents, and Citigroup Global
Markets Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as joint lead arrangers and co- book
managers (incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.1 to Hone ™~ ell’s 8-K filed April
4, 2011) v

Purchase and Sale Agreement bet- een Catal sts, Adsorbents and Process
S stems, Inc., and .Hone - ell Specialt Materials, LLC, dated September 30,
2005 (incorporated b’ reference to E. hibit 10.23 to Hone' < el’s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September-30, 2005) .

Stock Purchase Agreement b’ and bet- een Hone ™ ell International Inc. and M&F
World- ide Corp. (incorporated b reference to E._ hibit 2.1 to Hone' ™~ ell's Form 8-K
filed November 1, 2005)

Stock Purchase Agreement dated April 3, 2008 b and among Hone ~ell
International Inc., Safet Products Holdings, Inc., the selling shareholders part
thereto, and Od sse Investment Services, L.L.C. (incorporated b’ reference to
E_ hibit 10.1 to Hone ™ ell’s Form 8-K filed April 7, 2008)

Stock  and Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 9, 2008, b - .and bef- een
Hone ™ ell International Inc. and BE Aerospace, Inc. (incorporated b reference to
E._hibit 10.1 to Hone -~ ell's Form 8-K filed June 11, 2008)
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Exhibit No.

10.50

10.51

12
21
23
24
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Description

Tender .Offer Agreement dated M& 19,2010 b’ and among Sperian Protection S.A,,
Hone -~ ell International Inc. and .Hone ™~ ell Holding France SAS (incorporated b
reference to E_ hibit 10.1 to Hone ™~ ell's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2010) - -

Stock -and Asset Purchase Agreement dated Januar 27, 2011 b and among
Hone ™ ell International Inc., Rank Group Limited and Autoparts Holdings Limited,
(incorporated b reference to E. hibit 10.1 to Hone' - ell’s Form 8-K filed Januar
31, 2011)

Statement re: Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fi ed Charges (filed here- ith)

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed heré- ith)

Consent of Price~.aterhouseCoopers LLP (filed here- ith)

Po- ers of Attorne (filed heré- ith)

Certification of Principal E_ ecutive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
O le Act of 2002 (filed here- ith)

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Q. le Act of 2002 (filed here- ith)

Certification of Principal E._ecutive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-O le Act of 2002 (filed
here- ith)

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-O.le Act of 2002 (filed
here- ith)

XBRL Instance Document (furnished here- ith)

XBRL Ta onom E tension Schema (furnished here- ith)

XBRL Ta onomi E. tension Calculation Linkbase (furnished here- ith)

XBRL Ta onom E.tension Definition Linkbase (furnished here- ith)

XBRL Ta onom E. tension Label Linkbase (furnished here- ith)

XBRL Ta onom E._tension Presentation Linkbase (furnished here- ith)

The E hibits identified above - ith an asterisk (*) are management contracts or compensator
plans or arrangements.
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HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Three Years Ended December 31, 2011
(Dollars in millions)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:

Balance December 31, 2008

Provision charged 10 iINnCOmMe . ... ... . e
Deductions frOM FESEIVES. . . ...ttt et e e e e e e e e

Acquisitions . ...........

Balance December 31, 2009

Provision charged to iInCome . . ... .. ..
Deductions frOM FESEIVES. . . ..ot e e e e

Acquisitions . ...........

Balance December 31, 2010

Provision charged 1o iInCome . . ... ... e
Deductions frOm rESEIVES. .. ... ot e e e e e

Acquisitions ............

Balance December 31, 2011

Deferred Tax Assets—Valuation Allowance

Balance December 31, 2008

Additions charged to inCOme ta. € PENSE ...ttt i
Reductions credited to income ta. @ pense. ...... ...
Reductions charged to deferred ta. assets due to e piring NOLs"......................
Reductions charged to deferred ta. assets due to capital loss carr for-ards ...........
Additions charged to equit . ............oii

Balance December 31, 2009

Additions charged to income ta. € PENSE ... ..ottt
Reductions credited to income ta. @ pense. ...... ...
Reductions charged to deferred ta asset due to e pired NOL ........................
Reductions charged to deferred ta. assets due to capital loss carr for-ards ...........
Additions charged to equit .. ...
Additions charged t0 good™ il .............out i

Balance December 31, 2010

Additions charged to income ta. € PENSE ...ttt
Reductions credited to income ta. @ pense. ...... ...
Reductions charged to deferred ta. asset due to e pired NOL ........................
Reductions charged to deferred ta. assets due to capital loss carr for-ards ...........
Additions charged to equUIt . ... ... ..
Additions charged t0 good= il ... .......... it

Balance December 31, 2011
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$ 445
142
(30)

(9)
27

578
129
(90)

(1)
(17)
44

636
109
(152)

(8)

(5)
(13)

24

$ 591
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LEADERSHIP TEAM AND
CORPORATE OFFICERS

DAVID M. COTE
Chairman and
Chief E_ ecutive Officer

ROGER FRADIN
President and

Chief E_ecutive Officer
Automation and Control
Solutions

ALEXANDRE ISMAIL
President and Chief

E ecutive Officer
Transportation S’ stems

ANDREAS KRAMVIS
President and

Chief E_ecutive Officer
Performance Materials
and Technologies

TIMOTHY O. MAHONEY
President and

Chief E_ecutive Officer
Aerospace

DAVID J. ANDERSON

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

MARK R. JAMES
Senior Vice President
Human Resources and
Communications

KRISHNA MIKKILINENI
Senior Vice President
Engineering and
Operations

KATHERINE L. ADAMS

Senior Vice President and

General Counsel

RHONDA GERMANY
Corporate Vice President
Chief Strateg and
Marketing Officer

SHANE TEDJARATI
President
High Gro- th Regions

HARSH BANSAL
Vice President
Investments

THOMAS L. BUCKMASTER
Vice President
Communications and
President

Hone * ell Hometo~ n
Solutions

MICHAEL E. LANG
Vice President and
Chief Information Officer

THOMAS F. LARKINS
Vice President
Corporate Secretar and
Deput General Counsel

SEAN O’HOLLAREN
Senior Vice President
Global Government
Relations

JOHN J. TUS
Vice President and
Treasurer

KATHLEEN A. WINTERS
Vice President and
Controller

SHAREOWNER
INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Sharec- ners ™ ill be held at 10:30
a.m. on Monda , April 23, 2012, at Hone - ell's corporate
headquarters, 101 Columbia Road, Morrista~ n, N&~
Jerse' , 07962.

DIVIDENDS/SHAREOWNERS MATTERS

Hone ™ ell's Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase
Plan provides for automatic reinvestment of common stock
dividends at market price. Participants also ma add cash
for the purchase of additional shares of common stock

"~ ithout pa ment of an’ brokerage commission or service
charge. Hone ™ ell offers Direct Registration, or paperless
stock G- nership. This means that instead of getting a
paper stock certificate to represent * our shares, * our- .
shares are held in “ our name and tracked electronicalf in
our records.

The compan’ has established a Direct Deposit of
Dividends service enabling registered shared- ners to -
have their quarterf dividend pa ments sent electronicalt
to their bank accounts on the pa ment date.

For more information on these services or for ans- ers to
questions about dividend checks, stock transfers, or other
sharec- ner matters, please contact Hone ™ ell's transfer
agent and registrar:

AMERICAN STOCK TRANSFER & TRUST COMPANY, LLC
6201 15th Avenue

Brookf n, NY 11219

1-800-647-7147

http://~"-"- .amstock.com

E-mail: info@amstock.com

HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC.
Corporate Publications

P.O. Ba 2245

Morrista~ n, NJ 07962-2245
1-973-455-5402

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTINGS

Hone -~ ell’'s Common Stock is listed-on the Né~ York and
Chicago stock e changes under the s mbol HON. It is
also listed on the London Stock E_change. Sharec- ners
of record as of December 31, 2011, totaled 58,965.

GENERAL INQUIRIES

For -additional shared~ ner inquiries, please contact
Hone ™ ell’'s Shared~ ner Services at 1-800-647-7147 or
Hone ™ ell Investor Relations at 1-973-455-2222.





